
1  

 

        
            

 
  

 
   

 
 

 

 

The Town encourages the public to provide comments prior to its Town Council meeting. Residents wishing to address the 
Council will be limited to three (3) minutes and must sign in to speak. Comments may also be sent ahead of the meeting by 
emailing to: info@jamesislandsc.us, mail to P.O. Box 12240, Charleston, SC 29422, or placed inside the drop box outside of 
Town Hall at 1122 Dills Bluff Rd. 

 
1) Opening Exercises 

2) Presentation by Jen Tyrell, President, Charleston Natural History Society, and Engagement Manager, Audubon 

Society SC re: Coyote and Wildlife Management 
 

3) Recognition of Garrett Milliken, Former Town Councilmember 

4) Public Hearing: Ordinances #2023-09, 2023-10, and 2023-11: Amendments to the Town Building Regulations, 

Flood Damage Prevention, and Zoning and Land Development Regulations Ordinances 
 

5) Public Comment: 

6) Consent Agenda: 

a) Minutes: November 16, 2023, Regular Town Council Meeting 

b) 2024 Town Meeting Schedule  

c) 2024 Town Holiday Schedule 

d) Pinckney Park Pavilion Facility Use Request: Youth Group (Monday nights February 2024-May 2024) 

e) Council Chambers Facility Use Request: Coastal Carolina Camila Society (2024 Monthly on 3rd Sunday, 

2:30-4:00) 

 

7) Information Reports: 

a) Finance Report 

Notice of this meeting was published and posted in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act and the requirements 
of the Town of James Island. 

  Town  of  James  Island,  Regular  Town  Council  Meeting
December 21,  2023;  7:00  PM;  1122  Dills  Bluff  Road,  James  Island,  SC  29412

IN-PERSON  MEETING
REVISED PACKET ORDER

**NEW**  Watch Live  and Meeting Recordings:  https://www.jamesislandsc.us/livestream-town-meetings 
Watch  Archived  Recordings on the Town’s YouTube Channel:  https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCm9sFR-

ivmaAT3wvHdAYZqw/

https://www.jamesislandsc.us/livestream-town-meetings
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCm9sFR-ivmaAT3wvHdAYZqw/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCm9sFR-ivmaAT3wvHdAYZqw/
mailto:info@jamesislandsc.us
fsimmons
Highlight

fsimmons
Highlight



2  

b) Town Administrator’s Report 

c) Island Sheriff’s Patrol Report 

 

8) Requests for Consideration by Staff: 

a) Request to Accept Bids for JIACC Phase 2 Projects (Roof Coating, Exterior Wall Coating and Facia 

Replacement, $198,082)  

b) Thomas & Hutton Construction Phase Assistance Extension for Oceanview/Stone Post Drainage Project 

($6,800) 

9) Requests for Consideration by Council: 

a) Direction of Council in Consideration of Amendments to the Zoning and Land Development Regulations 

Ordinance Regarding Short-Term Rentals and Accessory Dwelling Units  

10) Committee Reports 

a) Land Use Committee 

b) Environment and Beautification Committee 

c) Children’s Committee 

d) Public Safety Committee 

e) History Committee 

f) Rethink Folly Road 

g) Drainage Committee 

h) Business Development Committee 

i) Trees Advisory Committee 

j) James Island Intergovernmental Council 

k) Accommodations Tax Committee 

 

11) Proclamations and Resolutions: 

 

a) Interfaith Harmony Month  

 

b) Resolution #2023-10: Poet Laureate for Town of James Island 

 

c) Resolution #2023-11: Amending Composition of Committees of Council  

 

12) Ordinances up for First Reading: 

a) Summary of Amendments to the Building, Flood and Zoning Ordinances 

b) First Reading: Ordinance # 2023-09: Amendments to the Zoning and Land Development Regulations 
Ordinance 

 
c) First Reading: Ordinance #2023-10: Amendments to the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance 

 



3  

d) First Reading: Ordinance #2023-11: Amendment to the Town Building Regulations Ordinance   
 

13) Ordinances up for Second/Final Reading: 

14) Old Business: 

 

15) New Business: 

 

16) Executive Session: The Town Council may enter into an Executive Session in accordance with 30-4-70(a) 

Code of Laws of South Carolina to discuss personnel and/or contractual matters concerning the Town 

Attorney and contractual matters concerning real estate. Upon returning to open session the Council may 

act on matters discussed in the Executive Session. 

 

17) Return to Regular Session 

 

18) Announcements/Closing Comments 

 

 

 

` 



Dear James Island Mayor and Town Council- 
 
I would like to introduce myself first and express gratitude for listening to the community.  
I have lived on James Island since 2016 and prior to that lived on Folly Beach for 17 
years.  I have grown to love our small community and embrace the diversity of both the 
people and habitat! 
 
As far as the coyote situation stands, I would like to caution us to not necessarily be 
reactive, but first educate ourselves on proper Coyote management and learn from what 
has worked in other communities.  
 
First, the snare traps are not recommended. They are completely inhumane and as you 
will read can cause collateral damage as other animals are often the unintended 
victims.   
 
Second, deterrence and hazing seem to be the most effective measures at keeping 
coyotes at bay while ensuring the safety of other furry creatures and our community.  
Learning to coexist with nature, including all wild critters is something that will become 
more and more necessary as we continue to develop and expand the human footprint.   
 
Third, allow me to give you analogy. As both a lover and caretaker of community cats, 
formerly and frequently referred to as feral, I’ve experienced the same ‘reaction’ from 
folks regarding their existence.  They don’t want them around-- not near nor on their 
property.  That attitude has drastically diminished as people learn that community cats 
are going to exist; the best thing to do is TNVR (trap/neuter/vaccinate/release) and keep 
the population controlled.   
 
We now find ourselves in the same boat with coyotes and many believe that eliminating 
or attempting to eliminate them will solve the problem.  NOPE!  Just as we have learned 
with community/feral cats, you remove the colony and you will soon find more cats 
replace it.   
 
I hope that we, as a community on James Island, can find some common ground and 
work towards a HUMANE and effective way to manage the coyote population around 
us.  
 
Please take time to follow the links and read the highlighted information below.   
 
Respectfully, 
Heidi Hartwig 
James Island 
 
https://www.humanesociety.org/resources/what-do-about-coyotes#away 
 
https://humanepro.org/page/coyote-conflict-resolution 

https://www.humanesociety.org/resources/what-do-about-coyotes#away
https://humanepro.org/page/coyote-conflict-resolution


Should I trap, relocate or kill coyotes? 

No. Trapping, relocating or killing coyotes is inhumane and ineffective for the following 
reasons: 

1. Traps/snares are cruel and can cause collateral damage: The most common 
devices used to capture coyotes are leg-hold traps and neck snares. Both can 
cause severe injuries, pain and suffering. Pets become unintended victims of 
traps set for coyotes.  

An informal search of media reports suggests thousands of unintended incidents 
have occurred, causing heartbreak for the families affected. Non-target wild 
animals are also caught in traps, and many sustain injuries so severe that they 
die or must be euthanized. 

2. Coyote removal is difficult and potentially costly: It’s extremely difficult to ensure 
that the problem-causing coyote is the one that’s located and killed. Coyotes are 
intelligent animals and are difficult to catch. Even a skilled trapper or 
sharpshooter, at a hefty price tag, will need many hours to catch a targeted 
coyote. 

3. Relocating a coyote is very costly and often a death sentence: Relocating a 
coyote is most often a death sentence for that animal; coyotes are very territorial 
and occupy large home ranges of up to 40 square miles. If relocated, they will do 
almost anything to get back home, and unfamiliar with their new terrain, they are 
often killed by cars or killed during territorial disputes with coyotes already 
established in the new area. 

4. Coyote populations bounce back quickly: Despite bounties and large-scale 
efforts to kill coyotes over the last 100 years, coyotes have expanded their range 
throughout the U.S. and Canada. One study found that killing 75% of a coyote 
population every year for 50 years would still not exterminate the population.  

Research suggests that when aggressively controlled, coyotes can increase their 
reproductive rate by breeding at an earlier age and having larger litters, with a 
higher survival rate among the young. This allows coyote populations to quickly 
bounce back, even when as much as 70% of their numbers are removed. 

5. When one coyote is removed, another moves in: Coyotes removed from an area 
will quickly be replaced by others. Coyote pairs hold territories, which leaves 
single coyotes ("floaters") constantly looking for new places to call home. Kill one 
or both members of the alpha pair (A)—the only pair who normally reproduces—
and other pairs will form and reproduce. At the same time, lone coyotes will move 
in to mate, young coyotes will start having offspring sooner, and litter sizes will 
grow. 





1 

 

Staff Summary of Amendments to the Building, Flood, and Zoning Ordinances 

December 21, 2023 

 

Background: The Town has an Intergovernmental Agreement with Charleston County where 

they provide building and floodplain management-related services (among other services) on 

behalf of the Town of James Island.  The Town has been actively working to create its own 

Building Services Department where these services will be provided internally, which includes 

many facets that are necessary to have solid ordinances in place from the beginning, making 

any necessary updates to ordinances, to ensure that the ordinances that are affected by this 

change are consistent throughout the Town’s Code of Ordinances.  

In order for the Town to take over these duties beginning January 1, 2024, three ordinances 

need to be amended; the Zoning and Land Development Regulations Ordinance (Chapter 153), 

the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance (Chapter 151), and the Town Building Regulations 

Ordinance (Chapter 150).  A summary of the ordinance amendments are as follows. 

Building Ordinance (Chapter 150) 

• General clerical corrections throughout; including changing references from “county” to 

“Town”, removing references to Charleston County ordinances and replacing with Town 

ordinances (as needed). 

• Adding “short term rental” as an occupancy type that may trigger a “change in 

occupancy” review process. 

• Change reference from Building Inspection Services (the name of the Charleston County 

Department) to “Department of Building Services”. 

• Granting the Mayor or her designee as the appointing authority for the position of 

Building Official, etc. 

• Referrals made throughout to the online permit system, electronic copies and reduction 

of the quantity of required paper submittals. 

• Reference to approvals made by Charleston County, on behalf of the Town, will remain in 

effect until the completion of the projects.  After 180 days, a new application will be 

required but additional fees will be waived.  This will only stay in place for the first 6 

months, from January 2024 through June 2024. 

• Removal of required Contractor Licensing provisions (throughout), and replacement with 

less stringent “Contractor License Verification/Registration”.  Instead of a required 

annual renewal that is done at the county, the Town will just verify upon application 

submittal that contractors are licensed by the SC Labor, Licensing, and Registration (LLR) 

for the type of work they are due to perform, and are in good standing with the State.  A 

nominal fee is required; either $10 or $50 for contractor’s not holding a state license 

(under Charleston County a new license cost is $100 and a renewal is $50). 



2 

 

• Fees: an updated and simplified fee scheduled based on what all of area municipalities 

charge, based on the valuation of the work to be performed. 

• Updates to, and removal of non-applicable definitions, as needed. 

• Changes made throughout designating the Town’s authorized agent and Board that will 

hear appeals or adjustments to the Building Ordinance and appeals of administrative 

decisions of the Building Official from the Charleston County Construction Board of 

Adjustment and Appeals to the Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals.  This includes removal 

of all language regarding the requirements/qualifications of the members of the 

Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals.  Because these duties are re-assigned to 

the Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals, this criteria is no longer applicable and will fall 

under the Zoning ordinance where this Board originates. 

Flood Ordinance (Chapter 151) 

• NOTE: All substantive amendments proposed were passed by Charleston County Council 

and implemented/enforced on the Town’s behalf over the last couple of years.  These 

were presented as smaller groups of amendments and were not shared with the Town 

so that corresponding amendments could be made to the Town’s ordinance.  These 

differences were discovered while looking through the language to see where clerical 

changes needed to be made. 

• Appeals and variances to the floodplain management ordinance will be heard by the 

Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals instead of the Charleston County Construction Board of 

Adjustment and Appeals. 

• Additional references and definitions have been added to be in compliance with FEMA 

regulations. 

• Defining “Existing Construction” or “Pre-FIRM” as the date of the first Flood Insurance 

Rate Map (FIRM) for our community in Nov. 1973.  The date previously provided was 

based on Charleston County’s first flood ordinance. 

• Describes how the Building Official is designated. 

• Updates to how applications are submitted and reviewed (electronic). 

• Clarifications to the referenced manuals for stormwater, SCDOT, etc. 

• Removal of an allowance to construct stem-wall foundations in the Coastal A Zones.  This 

was previously removed by Charleston County’s ordinance and gives the Town better 

standards for this type of construction. 



3 

 

(example of a stem-wall foundation; similar construction 

to an “elevated slab” where it appears to look like a crawl 

space is being constructed but after the form is made it is 

backfilled with dirt and the new slab is constructed on 

top) 

 

 

 

• Appeals and Variances to the floodplain management ordinance are redirected from the 

Charleston County Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals to the Town’s Board 

of Zoning Appeals. 

• Redirecting provisions for inspections from Charleston County to Town Building Official. 

• Clarifying that non-conforming uses are those as described by the zoning ordinance. 

 

Zoning Ordinance (Chapter 153) 

• Add to the decision-making authority of the Board of Zoning Appeals to hear: 

o Variances as allowed in the Flood ordinance 

o Adjustments as allowed in the Building ordinance 

o Appeals of administrative decisions in floodplain regulations (Ch. 151) and 

building regulations (Ch. 150) 





























2024 Town of James Island Meeting Schedule 

 

2024 Town Council Meetings: Date/Time To Be Determined  

 

2024 Planning Commission Meetings@ 5:00 p.m. 

Thursday, January 11    Thursday, July 11 

Thursday, February 8    Thursday, August 8 

Thursday, March 14    Thursday, September 12 

Thursday, April 11    Thursday, October 10 

Thursday, May 9    Thursday, November 14 

Thursday, June 13    Thursday, December 12 

 

2024 Board of Zoning Appeals Meetings @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tuesday, January 16    Tuesday, July 16 

Tuesday, February 20    Tuesday, August 20 

Tuesday, March 19    Tuesday, September 17 

Tuesday, April 16    Tuesday, October 15 

Tuesday, May 21    Tuesday, November 19 

Tuesday, June 18    Tuesday, December 17 

 





% FY Complete 42%

      Monthly Budget Report
       Fiscal Year 2015/2016 Fiscal Year 2023-24

July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

GENERAL FUND REVENUE

Accommodations Tax 15098.16 15,098           

Brokers & Insurance Tax 95,339          27,445          122,784         801,600          

Building Permit  Fees 2,301            1,879            4,181             327,812          

Business Licenses 3,270           25,493          13,114          5,586            24,216          71,679           360,000          

Contributions/Donations-Park -                     

Grant Reimbursement -                     11,000            

Filing Fees 1,780            1,780             760                 

Franchise Fees 146,037       1,899            32,139          Comcast 3rd Qtr 180,075         309,000          

Interest Income 348               350               338               349               384               1,770             1,500              

Alcohol Licenses -LOP -                     10,000            

Local Assessment Fees -                     2,500              

Local Option Sales Tax  (PTCF) 113,975        112,015        106,160        332,150         1,284,000       

Local Option Sales Tax (rev) 48,584          46,872          46,031          141,487         547,000          

Miscellaneous 54                 54                  

Planning & Zoning Fees 913               1,646            1,592            923               1,384            6,458             15,000            

State Aid to Subdivisions 71,491          71,491           272,350          

Telecommunications -                     17,000            

Homestead Exemption Tax Receipts -                     50,000            

Facility Rentals 452               152               1,216            760               754               3,334             6,000              

Stormwater Fees 700               800               1,000            900               700               4,100             8,200              

151,720       193,354        271,486        278,522        61,358          -                                       -                  -                    -                   956,439         4,023,722       

24%

Town of James Island

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

ADMINISTRATION 

Salaries 25,388         25,312          25,234          25,201          37,849          138,983         343,261          

Benefits, Taxes & Fees 10,756         10,865          10,940          10,958          16,433          59,952           142,724          

Copier 254               254               300               259               1,066             4,500              

Supplies 39                 529               320               428               303               1,619             5,200              

Postage 214               200               414               828                6,800              

Information Services 1,123           5,790            619               6,390            24,190          $23500 GoGov annual 38,113           95,000            

Equipment/Software/Maintenance -                     

MASC Membership -                     5,800              

Insurance 18,974         2,093            22,584          Worker's Comp  annual 43,651           54,500            

Legal & Professional Services 2,000           1,128            4,000            2,000            9,128             80,000            

Election Expenses 8,500              

Town Codification 109               109                1,000              

Advertising -                     3,500              

Audit -                     12,500            

Mileage Reimbursement 44                 44                  800                 

Employee Screening 76                 76                  

Employee Training & Wellness 270               270               270               2,195            405               3,410             5,800              

Dues and Subcriptions 60                 60                 120                1,500              

Training & Travel 500               15                 515                2,000              

Grant Writing Services -                     8,400              

Employee Appreciation 300               245               545                800                 

Mobile Devices 114               114               114               114               114               570                1,500              

Credit card (Square) 107               221               173               215               87                 802                2,000              

Bank Charges (Payroll Expenses) 489               455               502               558               511               2,515             6,000              

59,819         45,150          45,140          49,034          102,903        -                                       -                  -                    -                   302,046         792,085          

38%

ELECTED OFFICIALS

Salaries 3,769           3,769            3,769            3,769            6,462            21,538           61,250            

Benefit, Taxes & Fees 5,027           5,046            4,956            5,028            7,807            27,864           70,528            

Mayor Expense 50                 42                 243               335                1,000              

Council Expense 477               477                2,000              

Mobile Devices -                     

8,846           8,857            8,725            8,798            14,989          -                                       -                  -                    -                   50,215           134,778          

37%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

GENERAL OPERATIONS

Salaries 32,378         32,378          36,824          37,609          56,447          3 Pay 195,636         547,102          

Benefits, Taxes & Fees 12,393         12,555          14,676          15,024          22,537          77,186           252,641          

272,823         799,743          

34%

PLANNING

Supplies 37                 37                  500                 

Advertising 92                 92                  1,500              

Mileage Reimbursement -                     200                 

Dues and Subcriptions -                     715                 

Training & Travel 431               431                1,000              

Mobile Devices -                     

Equipment/Software 199               199               199               199               797                5,500              

Uniform / PPE -                     500                 

Planning Commission 150               200               662               1,012             4,000              

Board of Zoning Appeals 200               200                4,000              

-                    549               436               1,384            199               -                                       -                  -                    -                   2,569             17,915            

14%

BUILDING SERVICES

County Contract Building Permit Tech 17,128          17,128           

Mobile Devices -                     600                 

Dues and Subscriptions -                     1,000              

 , Equipment/Software -                     1,500              

Mileage Reibursement -                     500                 

Supplies 49                 21                 114               36                 219                600                 

Travel and Training 100               100                1,400              

Uniform/PPE -                     250                 

Community Outreach -                     250                 

-                    49                 17,148          114               136               -                                       -                  -                    -                   17,447           6,100              

286%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

PUBLIC WORKS

Mileage Reimbursement -                     300                 

Training & Travel -                     2,500              

Public Outreach -                     250                 

Projects 142               349               1,630            8,638            1473 Camp Road 10,759           50,000            

Signage 939               939                4,000              

Mobile Devices -                     1,100              

Uniform / PPE -                     900                 

Supplies 358               215               1,190            176               877               2,816             8,000              

Emergency Management 891               1,153            4,158            888               888               7,978             26,000            

Dues and Subscriptions -                     725                 

Asset Management 25,039         39                 39                 39                 39                 25,194           45,000            

Tree Maintenance and Care -                     10,000            

Groundskeeping 305               5,233            4,855            5,146            5,309            20,848           70,000            

26,594         6,782            11,529          7,878            15,751          -                                       -                  -                    -                   68,533           218,775          

31%

CODES & SAFETY

Mileage Reimbursement -                     100                 

Equipment 960               AED 960                1,960              

Radio Contract 798               798                3,200              

Training -                     500                 

Supplies 26                 26                  250                 

Uniform / PPE -                     250                 

Unsafe Buildings Demolition -                     10,000            

Overgrown Lot Clearing 725               Kentwood & Winward 725                2,000              

Animal Control -                     3,000              

Crime Watch Materials -                     250                 

Mobile Devices -                     700                 

Membership/Dues -                     250                 

-                    798               26                 -                    1,685            -                                       -                  -                    -                   2,509             22,460            

11%

ISLAND SHERIFF'S PATROL

ISP Dedicated Officer Annual Expense 19,947          19,947           147,900$        

ISP Programs & Supplies 59                 74                 74                 163               74                 444                17,250$          

ISP Salaries 14,430         16,590          15,821          14,445          23,856          3 Pay 85,142           186,814$        

Benefits, Taxes & Fees-ISP 4,137           4,812            4,366            4,173            6,892            24,381           52,102$          

18,626         21,477          20,261          38,729          30,822          -                                       -                  -                    -                   129,914         404,066$        

32%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

PARKS & RECREATION 

JIRC Contribution -                     

Park Maintenance 171               528               1,534            1,031            528               3,792             12,500            

Special Events 70                 1,607            1,677             5,000              

Youth Sports Program 1,766            1,766             16,000            

171               528               1,534            1,101            3,901            -                                       -                  -                    -                   7,235             33,500            

22%

FACILITIES & EQUIPMENT

Utilities 1,513            2,266            2,363            2,105            8,247             35,000            

Security Monitoring 76                 76                 76                 76                 304                1,500              

Janitorial 1,350            1,350            1,350            1,350            5,400             12,000            

Equipment / Furniture 480               480                5,000              

Facilities Maintenance 1,750            75                 165               121               2,111             19,800            

Vehicle Maintenance Expense 1,018            1,298            636               532 fuel  Eqx service 2,951             12,000            

Fees and Taxes -                     

Generator Maintenance 408               408                2,000              

Street Lights 12,663          12,663          12,663          12,663          50,652           155,000          

76                 18,370          17,318          17,839          16,951          -                                       -                  -                    -                   70,554           242,300          

29%

COMMUNITY SERVICES 

Repair Care Program -                     35,000             

Drainage Council -                     500                 

History Council 296               296                5,000              

Neighborhood Council 18                 455               10                 484                3,000              

Business Development Council -                     500                 

James Island Pride 47                 188               235                3,500              

Helping Hands 19                 50                 69                  500                 

Tree Council 215               215                3,500              

Community Tutoring Programs 12,500            

Community Service Contributions 31,100          31,100           55,000            

18                 474               57                 483               31,365          -                                       -                  -                    -                   32,399           119,000          

27%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

CAPITAL PROJECTS

INFRASTRUCTURE -                     

Dills Bluff Sidewalk Phase III-Seaside to Winborn 459 3600 4,059             

Dills Bluff Sidewalk, Phase IV-Winborn to HBVR -                     250,000          

Regatta Road Sidewalk -                     9,000              

Camp and Riverland Sidewalk (match)

Town Hall 2nd Floor -                     45,000            

1129 Hillman -                     

Hillman Street Property -                     

Capital Improvement Projects -                     

Secessionville to Ft. Johnson Sidewalk Connector -                     

Honey Hill Road Paving

Nabors Phase I -                     

Underground Power Lines -                     

Traffic Calming Projects 2016 66 2366 8566 Seaside Lane 13,013           75,000            

Septic Tank Testing 600 1150 1200 2,950             110,000          

James Island Creek Septic and Sewer Projects -                     444,000          

Total  Infrastructure 3075 66 3516 13366 20,022           933,000         

OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS

Audio Visual Upgrades 47415 8700 56,115           68,699            

ISP Dedicated Officer Initial Expenses -                     66,300            

Public Works Equipment -                     10,000            

Dock Street Park 11025 Stantec 11,025           59,000            

Pinckney Park -                     

Park Projects -                     

Total Other Capital Projects 0 0 0 47415 19725 0 0 0 0 67,140           203,999         

DRAINAGE PROJECTS

Greenhill/Honey Hill Drainage Phase I-II 236200 236,200         280,000          

Oceanview Stonepost Drainage Basin -I-II 1465 37053 72783 72040 183,340         808,000          

Drainage Outflow Valve Devices -                     

Drainage Improvement Projects 6320 6085 12,405           25,000            

James Island Creek Basin Drainage Improvements -                     

Woodhaven Drainage Improvements -                     700,000          

Quail Run Drainage Improvements 18335 166389 139453 324,177         735,000          

Total Drainage Projects 0 7,785 61,473 239,171 447,694 0 0 0 0 756,123         2,548,000      

10,860 61,538 290,102 480,785 843,285         3,684,999       

23%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

HOSPITALITY TAX

Hospitality Tax Revenue 65,547          76,681          66,256          208,484         680,000          

Hospitality Tax Transfer In -                     

TOTAL 208,484         680,000          

31%

GENERAL

The Town Market 191               191                2,000              

Rethink Folly Phase I-III, Staff Cost-Sharing -                     20,000            

Santee Street Public Parking Lot 15,600         15,600           34,400            

James Island Arts & Cultural Center Ops 9,288           12,581          11,671          13,839          18,533          65,912           150,000          

JIACC Projects & Events 87                 474               484               675               1,720             15,000            

Promotional Grants 250               10,000           Oct. Coun. Approval 10,250           10,000            

Public Safety of Tourism Areas 6,209           7,154            6,753            12,910          10,274          43,300           134,688          

Camp and Folly Landscaping Maintenance 350               350               350               350               1,400             10,000            

Entrepreneur and Small Business Support -                     

Guide to Historic James Island 5,000              

Brantley Park OPS 150               150               150               150               600                2,400              

Community Events 2,000            1,570            1,467            569               5,606             5,000              

Total Non-Capital Expense 31,288         22,323          20,968          29,450          40,550          -                                       -                  -                    -                   144,579         388,488         

PROJECTS

Camp/Folly Bus Shelter -                     25,000            

Rethink Folly Road Phase 1 -                     400,000          

Wayfinding Signage -                     35,000            

Folly Road Beautification 2,500            2,500             10,000            

Brantley Park 4,250            4,250             100,000          

James Island Arts & Cultural Center 3,429            169               3,598             150,000          

Historic Ft. Johnson-MUSC NOA -                     100,000          

Holiday Decorations -                     2,000              

Park Projects -                     

ISP Dedicated Officer Initial Expense 22,100            

Folly Road Multi Use Path Wilton-Ft. Johnson -                     42,000            

Other Tourism-Related Projects -                     50,000            

Total Projects -                    3,429            2,669            4,250            -                    -                                       -                  -                    -                   10,348           936,100         

31,288         25,752          23,637          33,700          40,550          154,927         1,324,588        

-                                       -                  -                    -                   12%



July August September October November December January February March TOTAL BUDGET

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter

ACCOMMODATIONS TAX FUND

Atax Revenue 0 52000

Transfer out to General Fund 0

Advertising and Promotions 0

Tourism Related Expenditures 0

TREE MITIGATION FUND

Tree Mitigation revenue 96,488           500                 

Tree Mitigation expense 23,200          Camp Rd/Natural Direct. (23,200)          1,200              

-                    -                    -                    -                    23,200          -                  -                    -                   73,288           

JIPSD FIRE & SOLID WASTE SERVICES

JIPSD Tax Relief 107,000       107,000        107,000        107,000        107,000        535,000         1,284,000       

Auditor Expense -                     1,000              

535,000         1,285,000       

42%

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN

Beginning Balance 7/1/2023 2650915 2650915 2640055 2578517 2288415 1807630 0 0

10860 61538 290102 480785

2650915 2640055 2578517 2288415 1807630 1807630 0



ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT  
ADMIN NOTES CODE ENFORCEMENT PUBLIC WORKS NOTES

TOTAL CASES (since 2013) 998
ABATED 943

ACTIVE 55

RANK VEGETATION / SOLID WASTE    256275

INOPERABLE VEHICLE   154

TREE CASES   66

NUISANCE PROPERTY   80

*11 new cases in November

Nov-23

ACCESSORY STRUCTURE 2                 
CLEARING & GRUBBING -

1                 

-

FIREWORK STAND 1                 

HOME OCCUPATION 1                 

JAMES ISLAND ARTS & CULTURAL CENTER -

NON-EXEMPT PLAT 1                 

PD/ PD AMENDMENT (REZONING) -

RESIDENTIAL ZONING 7                 

-

-

-

SITE PLAN REVIEW -

-

SPECIAL EXCEPTION 1                 

TEMPORARY ZONING 2                 

2                 

-

-

-

18TOTAL

LIMITED SITE PLAN REVIEW

Continuing Classes : knitting group, watercolor group, area artist 

exhibits, children's art lessons, private art tutoring, History Council 

meetings, Historic Pathway meetings, Palmetto Youth Choir practices 

(including Primo Choir, Intermezzo Choir, and Palmetto Peace Choir), 

adult watercolor classes, adult acrylic classes, children's yoga, kid's clay 

classes. 

November/December Programs & Events: Shapers, A Sculptural Clay 

Exhibition  (through Jan. 11), Audubon Society Program (Nov. 8 and Dec. 

13 6-8 pm), Independent Women Network (Nov. 9 6-8 pm), Princess 

Party (Nov. 11 1-3 pm), Pastel Society Workshop (Nov. 17, 18), The 

Ballad of Winter - A Poet Fashion Show with Rolf and Friends  (Dec. 9 6-8 

pm), Dec. 13 6-8 pm Audubon Society Program

REZONING

SPR

SIGN PERMIT

SPECIAL EVENT

TREE REMOVAL 

TREE TRIMMING

VARIANCE

ZONING PERMIT

Nov-23

  1) Town offices will be closed for the upcoming holidays beginning 

on Friday, Dec. 22 (in observance of Christmas Eve), Monday, Dec. 25, 

and Tuesday, Dec. 26.  We will reopen Wednesday-Friday following 

Christmas.  We will also be closed on Monday Jan. 1 in observance of 

New Year's Day. 

2) The Greenhill-Honey Hill drainage project is finalized!      

3) Staff attended the first Camp Road Middle School Career Fair.  It 

was a fun time connecting with students and also getting information 

out about different career opportunities that may be available to the 

students in the future.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

1)  Staff repaired a driveway culvert and replaced the apron.

2)  Staff participated in the fall meeting of the Ashley Cooper Stormwater Education 

Consortium (Clemson Extension) at the Fort Johnson DNR/ACE Basin facility.

3) Quail Run Drainage Project contractor, IPW Construction, started construction of 

the new ERCP outfall at the end of Chuka Court.

4)  Staff monitored the Oceanview-Stonepost drainage project which continued to 

move upstream from Cecil Circle.

5) Staff continued to monitor and plan around the coyote issues in our 

neighborhoods.

6) Staff attended the BCDCOG initial meeting for septic tank maintenance in the 

region.

7) Septic Tank Inspections: There were 3 septic tank inspections in November.  87 

inspected with 13 failed.  We have 127 inspections remaining.  

8) Staff installed 7 street name signs and repaired 6 potholes in November.  Staff cut 

vegetation at 4 intersections and in 2 ditches.  Staff repaired a culvert and replaced 

a driveway apron.

PERMIT TYPE

DEMOLITION PERMIT

EXEMPT PLATS

BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED
NOVEMBER 2023:  100

 -

 20

 40

 60

 80

 100

 120

 140

PERMITS - 13 MONTH HISTORY

Building Permit ZONING PERMIT



1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

Date Submitted: 11/16/2023

Proposal #: 25-SC-231046

Garland/DBS, Inc.

3800 East 91
st

 Street

Cleveland, OH 44105

Phone:  (800) 762-8225

Fax: (216) 883-2055

ROOFING MATERIAL AND SERVICES PROPOSAL

Town of James Island 

Art Center: Base Bid - LiquiTec 

1248 Camp Rd

Charleston, SC 29412

If the roof surface becomes contaminated with dirt, dust or other particles at any time during 

the application of the LiquiTec system, cleaning measures must be taken to restore the 

surface to a suitable condition.

MICPA # PW1925

STATE General Contractor #: CLG.116405 CG

Scope of Work: Base Bid - LiquiTec 

Carefully power wash all roof surfaces with greater than 2,000 psi pressure to remove debris, 

rust, scale, dirt, dust, chalking, peeling or flaking coatings, etc. Do not force water into the roof 

system or damage roof surfaces 

Wearing personal protective clothing and equipment, remove algae, mildew or fungus with 

Garland D7 or Simple Green®Oxy Solve and scrubbing with a push broom scrub brush. Rinse 

at least twice to be sure all cleaning agents or contaminants are completely removed to 

prevent adhesion issues.

Purchase orders to be made out to: Garland/DBS, Inc.

Please Note:  The following budget/estimate is being provided according to the pricing established 

under the Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement (MICPA) with Racine County, 

WI and OMNIA Partners, Public Sector (U.S. Communities). Garland/DBS, Inc. administered an informal 

competitive process for obtaining quotes for the project with the hopes of providing a lower market-

adjusted price whenever possible.

Ensure roof is dry prior to application

Prime existing flashings and install one ply of Stressply Plus FR Mineral set in Greenlock 

Flashing Adhesive at 2.5gal per square. Install new termination bar. For cold applied flashing, 

all seams shall be three coursed using Greenlock Flashing Adhesive and mesh and granules 

shall be broadcasted. Install new termination bar and properly three course.

Make any repairs to the field as needed and remove any wet spots noted on the moisture 

scan. Replace insulation to proper height (Mechanically attached). Contractor to utilize 

Flexbase 80 and Stressply Plus FR Mineral set in Greenlock Plus Membrane Adhesive  at 2.5-

3gal per square.

Contractor shall install all new one way vents where existing vents are installed. Flash in using 

Flexbase 80 and Stressply Plus FR Mineral set in Greenlock Plus Adhesive at 3gal per 

Install all new 040 aluminum surface mounted counter flashing using Garland Flat Stock.

Where silicone is present, contractor is to mechanically fasten one ply of HPR Tribase 

Premium over the previously coated areas. Contractor shall then install one ply of Stressply 

Where Silicone is present on the vertical flashings, contractor can remove the flashings and 

install new if preferred.

Contractor is to remove the drain ring off of each drain and grind the drain bowl. Prime the 

drain bowl and flange with metal primer and allow to dry. Run Liquitec and Grip Polyester into 

Page 1 of 3



12.

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

Base Bid - LiquiTec Proposal Price Based Upon Market Experience: 159,671$   

Team Craft Roofing 

Eskola Roofing 

Roofing Professionals, Inc. 

Team Craft Roofing 

Team Craft Roofing 

Eskola Roofing 

Team Craft Roofing 

Team Craft Roofing 

Eskola Roofing 

Team Craft Roofing 

2023 Pricing - Base Bid 

2024 Pricing - Base Bid 

163,295$   

179,510$   

231,583$   

Eskola Roofing 

Team Craft Roofing 

Alternate: 30 Year Warranty System
2023 Pricing - Two Ply Cold 

$   208,326
$   266,073
$   281,149

2024 Pricing - Two Ply Cold 

$   215,700
$   274,338
$   289,583

159,671$   

176,482$   

228,133$   

Contractor is to install Garla_Block at a rate of .5gal per square over all newly installed 

membrane.

Contractor is to store Liquitec in a temperature controlled area above 50 degrees and below 

80 degrees

Contractor shall install a tent on the roof and store daily material under the tent. Contractor 

shall mix the two components for 2 minutes under the tent.

Always mix the two components together in the full amounts, do not break down into smaller 

quantities.

Mixed pot life if 25-35 minutes, depending on ambient temperature and humidity levels. 
Three course all vertical seams using Grip Polyester Soft 6” and Liquitec and allow to dry.

Apply Liquitec Base Coat and Top Coat on the vertical flashings at rate of 2gal per square 

each coating

Install base coat of Liquitec on the field of the roof at 4gal per square. Use a ¼” notched 

squeegee to spread the coating and a roller for uniform coverage rates.

Immediately embed 40” wide Grip Polyester soft reinforcement into the wet coating by rolling 

over the fabric surface to fully saturate and encapsulate, ensuring there are no wrinkles.

Lap adjacent rolls of reinforcement 3” on side and end laps. Ensure the roller is fully saturated 

with coating when back rolling over the reinforcement surface to wet it out completely. Allow to 

Apply a top coating of Liquitec over the reinforced base coat at a rate of 2gal per square. 
Contractor to issue 3 Year Warranty.

Garland to issue 15 Year Warranty + 2 Additional Years through OMNIA.

Page 2 of 3



Additional Roof Removal per Ln. Ft.

Additional Insulation Replacement per Sq. Ft.

Decking Replacement per Sq. Ft.

Clarifications/Exclusions:

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Respectfully Submitted,

John Petersen

Garland/DBS, Inc.

216-302-3777

5.13$                 

26.22$               

Please Note – The construction industry is experiencing unprecedented global pricing and

availability pressures for many key building components. Specifically, the roofing industry is

currently experiencing long lead times and significant price increases with roofing insulation and

roofing fasteners. Therefore, this proposal can only be held for 30 days. DBS greatly values your

business, and we are working diligently with our long-term suppliers to minimize price increases

and project delays which could effect your project. Thank you for your understanding and

cooperation.

Team Craft - Unforeseen Site Conditions:

If you have any questions regarding this proposal, please do not hesitate to call me at my number listed 

below.

John Petersen

Any work not exclusively described in the above proposal scope of work is excluded. 

Permits are excluded.  If permits are required this will be addressed via change order.

Plumbing, Mechanical, Electrical work is excluded.

Masonry work is excluded.

Interior Temporary protection is excluded.

Potential issues that could arise during the construction phase of the project will be addressed via unit 

pricing for additional work beyond the scope of the specifications.  This could range anywhere from wet 

insulation, to the replacement of deteriorated wood nailers. 

5.70$                 

Page 3 of 3



1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Date Submitted: 11/16/2023

Proposal #: 25-SC-231046

Garland/DBS, Inc.

3800 East 91
st

 Street

Cleveland, OH 44105

Phone:  (800) 762-8225

Fax: (216) 883-2055

ROOFING MATERIAL AND SERVICES PROPOSAL

Town of James Island

Art Center - Exterior 

1248 Camp Rd

Charleston, SC 29412 

Defective mortar or stucco areas should be repaired using a cement-based patching 

compound. The contractor must sound out the wall section prior to painting. Deteriorated, 

damaged, or delaminating stucco must be marked for approval.

Apply Tuff-Coat to secure a total minimum coverage of 1 gallon per 100 square feet (total 

wet film thickness 16 mils per coat). Product shall be applied by phenolic core roller at a 

rate of 100-200 sq. ft. per gallon depending on the porosity and roughness of the surface 

with a minimum 2 coat process.

MICPA # PW1925

STATE General Contractor #:CLG.116405GC

Scope of Work: 

Contractor to prepare walls for Tuff Coat application by thoroughly pressure cleaning the 

surface. Contractor to repair all cracks larger than 1/8” using an approved elastomeric 

stucco patch repair product. Refer to Specs.

Allow sufficient curing time for all sealants to dry thoroughly before proceeding with the 

highly emulsified coating application.

Purchase orders to be made out to: Garland/DBS, Inc.

Please Note:  The following budget/estimate is being provided according to the pricing established 

under the Master Intergovernmental Cooperative Purchasing Agreement (MICPA) with Racine 

County, WI and OMNIA Partners, Public Sector (U.S. Communities). Garland/DBS, Inc. administered 

an informal competitive process for obtaining quotes for the project with the hopes of providing a 

lower market-adjusted price whenever possible.

Repair stucco per specifications and details using approved products

Page 1 of 3



1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

Proposal Price Based Upon Market Experience: 38,411$       

Water Tight Systems, Inc. 

Eskola Roofing

Water Tight Systems, Inc. 

Eskola Roofing

Potential issues that could arise during the construction phase of the project will be addressed via 

unit pricing for additional work beyond the scope of the specifications.  This could range anywhere 

from wet insulation, to the replacement of deteriorated wood nailers. 

Please Note – The construction industry is experiencing unprecedented global pricing and

availability pressures for many key building components. Specifically, the roofing industry is

currently experiencing long lead times and significant price increases with roofing insulation and

roofing fasteners. Therefore, this proposal can only be held for 30 days. DBS greatly values your

business, and we are working diligently with our long-term suppliers to minimize price increases

and project delays which could effect your project. Thank you for your understanding and

cooperation.

2023 Pricing - Exterior 

2024 Pricing - Exterior 

38,911$           

68,832$           

38,411$           

68,406$           

Verify that substrate surfaces and joint openings are ready to receive work.

Verify that joint backing and release tapes are compatible with sealant.

Contractor to provide a 2 year labor warranty.

Garland to provide 10 year material warranty.

Install joint backing to achieve a neck dimension no greater than 1/3 of the joint width.

Apply generally with caulking gun of proper nozzle size to fit joints and apply with sufficient

pressure to fill joint from backing to surface.

For joints in flat surfaces, neatly tool compound slightly concave with proper tools and

execute finishing of caulking around frames with coving tool.

Remove existing sealant by cutting, grinding or tooling out joint as necessary to achieve

proper adhesion.

Measure joint dimensions and size materials to achieve required width/depth ratios.

Prepare, clean and prime joint per instructions listed on Garland Greenlock XL Data Sheet.

Joints:

Page 2 of 3



Clarifications/Exclusions:

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Respectfully Submitted,

John Petersen

Garland/DBS, Inc.

216-302-3777

Any work not exclusively described in the above proposal scope of work is excluded. 

Permits are excluded.  If permits are required this will be addressed via change order.

Plumbing, Mechanical, Electrical work is excluded.

Masonry work is excluded.

Interior Temporary protection is excluded.

If you have any questions regarding this proposal, please do not hesitate to call me at my number 

listed below.

John Petersen

Page 3 of 3



 

_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS  

 

_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 

 

November 20, 2023 

 

Ms. Niki Grimball 

Town Administrator 

Town of James Island  

1122 Dills Bluff Road 

James Island, SC 29412 

Re: Stone Post / Ocean View Roads  

Drainage Improvements  

Town of James Island, South Carolina 

T&H J-28073.0000 

Letter Agreement for Additional Services 

Construction Phase 

Dear Ms. Grimball: 

 

      Pursuant to our recent email communications and other conversations, and due to the 

extension of the Contractor’s Contract Time, Thomas & Hutton is requesting the following 

changes: Additional Construction Phase Assistance. The Contract Time was extended by 90 

days to a completion date of March 14, 2024. 

 

Thomas & Hutton would continue to provide the services as indicated in our original 

scope. Our fee to perform the described additional services is: 

                    Fee or Time & 

Phase Fee Structure Expense Budget 

 

General Consulting: Time & Expense $ 1,000.00 

Construction: Time & Expense $ 5,500.00 
Reimbursable Expenses: Time & Expense $  300.00 

 

 

     If acceptable, please indicate your authorization to proceed with this additional work by 

signing and initialing where designated below and returning a copy to us for our files.  This 

proposal will be open for acceptance until December 31, 2023 unless changed by us in writing.  

Please note that no work will be performed without prior written authorization to proceed.  This 

extra work is subject to the terms and conditions of the contract executed for this project dated 

August 22, 2019. 

 

 This proposal between the Town of James Island (“Owner”) and Thomas & Hutton 

Engineering Co. (“Consultant”), consisting of this letter and the Consulting Services on a Time & 

Expense Basis Rate Sheet represent the entire understanding between you and us with respect 

to the scope change.  This agreement may only be modified in writing if signed by both of us. 



 

 

Ms. Niki Grimball 

Town of James Island 

Letter Agreement for Services 

July 25, 2022 

Page 1 

 
 

_______ CLIENT’S INITIALS  

 

_______ CONSULTANT’S INITIALS 

 

We appreciate this opportunity to be of service to you on this project.  Should you have any 

questions or need further information, please do not hesitate to call on us. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

THOMAS & HUTTON ENGINEERING CO. 
 

 

 

       By         

    

           Richard Karkowski, PE 

       Project Manager / Principal 

     

 

        

       

RPK/ala 

 

Enclosures:   Rate Sheet 

  Fees Summary Sheet 

 

TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND 

 

 

ACCEPTED: _________________________, 2023 

 

By _______________________________________ 

 

   ________________________________________  

TITLE



____________
 C

LIE
N

T´
S
 IN

ITIA
LS 

____________
 C

O
N

S
U

LTA
N

T´
S
 IN

ITIA
LS 

 

 
 

 2023 CONSULTING SERVICES RATE SHEET 
 

 
WWW .THOMASANDHUTTON .COM  

 

Revised November 1, 2022 

Thomas & Hutton provides services on a time and expense basis as follows: 

1. This basis includes allowance for direct salary expenses and for direct non–salary expenses.  It also provides for services we may subcontract to others. 

2. Direct salary expenses are generally based upon our payroll costs.  The payroll costs include the cost of salaries and wages (including sick leave, vacation, and holiday pay) 

for time directly chargeable to the project; plus, unemployment, excise, payroll taxes, and contributions for social security, employment compensation insurance, retirement 

benefits, and medical and insurance benefits. 

 The current hourly rate charges for each skill position for 2023 are as follows: 
 

Hourly 
Rate 

Engineer Survey Landscape GIS Quality Control 
Business/ 

Administrative 
       

$ 280.00 Consultant Consultant Consultant Consultant Consultant  

$ 255.00 Senior Manager 
Senior Manager  

Survey Party (3–Men) 
Senior Manager Senior Manager Senior Manager Senior Manager 

$ 230.00 
Project Manager V 
Project Engineer V 

Survey Manager V 
Project Surveyor V 

Landscape Architect V 
LA Project Manager V 

GIS Manager V   

$ 210.00 
Project Manager IV 
Project Engineer IV 

Survey Manager IV 
Project Surveyor IV 

Landscape Architect IV 
LA Project Manager IV 

GIS Manager IV  
Senior Application Developer IV, 
Software/Computer Consultant IV 

$ 200.00 
Project Manager III 
Project Engineer III 

Survey Manager III 
Project Surveyor III 

Landscape Architect III 
LA Project Manager III 

GIS Manager III  
Senior Application Developer III, 
Software/Computer Consultant III 

$ 185.00 
Project Manager II 
Project Engineer II 

Survey Manager II 
Project Surveyor II 

Survey Party (2–Men) 

Landscape Architect II 
LA Project Manager II 

GIS Manager II Construction Administrator II 
Senior Application Developer II, 
Software/Computer Consultant II 

$ 170.00 
Project Manager I 
Project Engineer I 

Survey Manager I 
Project Surveyor I 

Landscape Architect I 
LA Project Manager I 

GIS Manager I Construction Administrator I 
Grant Administrator, Senior 

Application Developer I, 
Software/Computer Consultant I 

$ 160.00 
Designer IV 

Engineering Technician IV 
Staff Surveyor V 

Survey Field Supervisor 
Landscape Designer IV GIS Analyst IV Field Representative V Application Developer IV 

$ 150.00 
Designer III 

Engineering Technician III 
Staff Surveyor IV Landscape Designer III GIS Analyst III Field Representative IV Application Developer III 

$ 135.00 
Designer II 

Engineering Technician II 
Staff Surveyor III 

Survey Party (1–Man) 
Landscape Designer II GIS Analyst II  

Permit Coordinator III 
Application Developer II 

$ 125.00 
Designer I 

Engineering Technician I 
Staff Surveyor II Landscape Designer I GIS Analyst I Field Representative III 

Application Developer I, 
Permit Coordinator II, Admin IV 

$ 110.00 CADD Technician III 
Staff Surveyor I 

Survey Technician III  
Landscape Technician III GIS Technician III Field Representative II Permit Coordinator I 

$ 100.00 CADD Technician II Survey Technician II Landscape Technician II GIS Technician II   

$ 95.00 CADD Technician I Survey Technician I Landscape Technician I GIS Technician I Field Representative I Admin III 

$ 90.00      Admin II 

$ 85.00      Admin I 

$ 425.00 Expert Witness      

3. When warranted, overtime will be charged for any non–salary employees.  Overtime hours will be billed at 1.5 times the individual’s charge rate. 

4. Direct non–salary (reimbursable) expenses, including printing, reproduction, air travel, lodging, and meals are billed at cost.  Travel in company or private vehicles will be 

billed at the IRS Standard Mileage Rate and may be revised based on fuel pricing.  Outside consultant fees will be billed at 1.15 times the cost. 

5. All rates and charges are effective through December 31st, 2023, including printing, reproductions, materials, and travel and are subject to change at that time.  New rates 

and costs will become immediately effective to contracts in effect at the time of rate changes. 

 



Fee Summary Sheet

Phase Fee Type Original Total Contract Fee Additional Fees New Total Fee

General Consulting T&E 3,500.00$                                   1,000.00$            4,500.00$          

Bid Process T&E 6,500.00$                                   6,500.00$          

Construction Observation T&E 19,500.00$                                 5,500.00$            25,000.00$        

Project Close-Out T&E 3,500.00$                                   3,500.00$          

Reimbursable Expense T&E 500.00$                                      300.00$               800.00$             

33,500.00$                                6,800.00$           40,300.00$       Total Amounts







RESOLUTION # 2023-10 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION TO CREATE AN HONORARY DESIGNATION OF POET LAUREATE FOR THE 

TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Town of James Island recognizes the long, diverse and rich history of the arts an as 

important element of our community; and 

 

 

WHEREAS, Eugene Platt, a renowned poet in the Town of James Island served in this capacity under the 

Clark Administration in 2002; and 

 

 

WHEREAS, The Town wish to enhance the presence of the literacy arts to all sectors of the community;  

encourage the pursuit of literary activities; encourage the reading of existing and new poetry at Town 

sponsored events and special occasions;  

 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council of the Town of James Island that Eugene 

Platt serve in the voluntary capacity as Poet Laureate for the Town of James Island. 

 

This Resolution shall become effective upon adoption by Town Council. 

 

 

Done this 21st day of December, 2023 

 

 

___________________________ 

Brook Lyon 

Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST 

 

__________________________ 

Frances Simmons 

Town Clerk  

 



RESOLUTION 2023-11 

 

 

 

A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE COMPOSITION OF EXISTING COMMITTEES OF 

TOWN COUNCIL AND CITIZEN COMMITTEES FOR THE TOWN OF JAMES 

ISLAND, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

WHEREAS, it is important that the Governing Board of the Town of James Island be organized 

to provide a forum for detailed analysis and exploration of Town wide issues and that Town 

citizens have an opportunity to provide community input and participate in service projects; and, 

 

WHEREAS, over time, some issues may be resolved and new issues or areas of concern may 

require attention of new or revised compositions of the Committees of Council; and  

 

WHEREAS, The Town of James Island recently elected a new Mayor and Councilmember who 

are able to provide an abundance of experience and expertise that may further the goals of the 

Committees of Council Staff have developed proposals and policies regarding the formation and 

implementation of committees of Town Council and citizen committees; and, 

 

WHEREAS, at a special workshop of Council, the members reviewed and discussed these 

changes as detailed in “Exhibit A” and attached herein; and 

 

WHEREAS, implementation of these modifications will assist the Town in delivering public 

services that are responsive to community goals and needs; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF JAMES ISLAND, 

SOUTH CAROLINA THAT: 

 

Section 1.  “Exhibit B” entitled “Committees of Council and Liaison Assignments” is hereby 

adopted and approved, with an expiration date of December 31, 2027, after the next municipal 

election, however, it may be revised after the 2025 election to add two new Councilmembers. 

 

Section 2.  This resolution to become effective upon its adoption and approval. 

 

Enacted this the 21st Day of December, 2023. 
 
 

_____________________ 

Mayor 

 

 

____________________ 

Town Clerk 



Exhibit A 
Council Committees Workshop Dec. 6, 2023 

Land Use Committee – Liaison to Planning Commission and Board of Zoning Appeals – BROOK, staff 

assignment(s): Kristen/Flannery 

Environment & Beautification Committee (to combine with Trees Advisory Committee) – Liaison to 

Trees Advisory Council – BROOK, staff assignment(s): Kristen/Flannery 

Public Safety Committee – Liaison to Neighborhood Council and Emergency Management activities – 

TROY, staff assignment(s): Mark/James 

Drainage Committee – Special committee of neighboring jurisdictions – DAN, staff assignment(s): 

Mark/Brian 

Business Development Committee – Liaison to *new* Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee –

LEWIS, staff assignment(s): Niki/Merrell 

*New* Outreach Committee – Liaison to JI Pride (formerly Environment & Beatification Committee), 

citizen assistance, JICHS programs – CYNTHIA, staff assignment(s): Melissa/Robin 

*New* Cultural Affairs Committee – (to combined History Committee/Council, Children’s 

Committee/Council, and Arts Council) – CYNTHIA, staff assignment(s): Caroline/JIACC staff 

 

Priorities 

Troy Brook Lewis Cynthia Dan 

(Public Safety) 
Neighborhood  
 

Land Use Business Dev Land Use Public Safety/ 
Neighborhood 

Drainage  
 

Enviro/Beau Land Use Outreach Drainage 

Business Dev 
 

Outreach Public Safety 
(Emer Man) 

(Cultural Affairs)  
Childrens 

 

Cultural Affairs 
 

Public Safety Enviro/Beau   

Outreach Drainage Drainage   

Land Use 
 

Business Dev Outreach   

Enviro/Beau 
 

Cultural Affairs Cultural Affairs   

 

 



Exhibit B 
Town of James Island 

Committees of Council and Liaison Assignments 
(Effective December 21, 2023) 

1. Land Use Committee – Mayor Brook Lyon 

• Staff assignment(s): Kristen/Flannery 

• Liaison to Planning Commission and Board of Zoning Appeals 
 

2. Environment, Beautification, and Trees Advisory Committee – Mayor Brook Lyon 

• Staff assignment(s): Kristen/Flannery 

• Liaison to Trees Advisory Council 
 

3. Public Safety Committee – Councilman Troy Mullinax 

• Staff assignment(s): Mark/James 

• Liaison to Neighborhood Council 
 

4. Drainage Committee – Councilman Dan Boles 

• Staff assignment(s): Mark/Brian 

• Liaison to Drainage Committee 
 

5. Business Development Committee – Councilman Lewis Dodson 

• Staff assignment(s): Niki/Merrell 

• Liaison to *new* Accommodations Tax Advisory Committee 
 

6. *New* Outreach Committee – Councilwoman Cynthia Mignano 

• Staff assignments: Melissa/Robin 

• Liaison to JI Pride (formerly under the umbrella of Environment & Beatification Committee), citizen assistance, JICHS 
programs 
 

7. *New* Cultural Affairs Committee – Councilwoman Cynthia Mignano 

• Staff assignment(s): Caroline/JIACC staff  

• This new committee is intended to combine History Committee, Arts Committee and Childrens Committee) 

• Liaison to History Council, Arts Council, and Childrens Council  



1 

 

Staff Summary of Amendments to the Building, Flood, and Zoning Ordinances 

December 21, 2023 

 

Background: The Town has an Intergovernmental Agreement with Charleston County where 

they provide building and floodplain management-related services (among other services) on 

behalf of the Town of James Island.  The Town has been actively working to create its own 

Building Services Department where these services will be provided internally, which includes 

many facets that are necessary to have solid ordinances in place from the beginning, making 

any necessary updates to ordinances, to ensure that the ordinances that are affected by this 

change are consistent throughout the Town’s Code of Ordinances.  

In order for the Town to take over these duties beginning January 1, 2024, three ordinances 

need to be amended; the Zoning and Land Development Regulations Ordinance (Chapter 153), 

the Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance (Chapter 151), and the Town Building Regulations 

Ordinance (Chapter 150).  A summary of the ordinance amendments are as follows. 

Building Ordinance (Chapter 150) 

• General clerical corrections throughout; including changing references from “county” to 

“Town”, removing references to Charleston County ordinances and replacing with Town 

ordinances (as needed). 

• Adding “short term rental” as an occupancy type that may trigger a “change in 

occupancy” review process. 

• Change reference from Building Inspection Services (the name of the Charleston County 

Department) to “Department of Building Services”. 

• Granting the Mayor or her designee as the appointing authority for the position of 

Building Official, etc. 

• Referrals made throughout to the online permit system, electronic copies and reduction 

of the quantity of required paper submittals. 

• Reference to approvals made by Charleston County, on behalf of the Town, will remain in 

effect until the completion of the projects.  After 180 days, a new application will be 

required but additional fees will be waived.  This will only stay in place for the first 6 

months, from January 2024 through June 2024. 

• Removal of required Contractor Licensing provisions (throughout), and replacement with 

less stringent “Contractor License Verification/Registration”.  Instead of a required 

annual renewal that is done at the county, the Town will just verify upon application 

submittal that contractors are licensed by the SC Labor, Licensing, and Registration (LLR) 

for the type of work they are due to perform, and are in good standing with the State.  A 

nominal fee is required; either $10 or $50 for contractor’s not holding a state license 

(under Charleston County a new license cost is $100 and a renewal is $50). 



2 

 

• Fees: an updated and simplified fee scheduled based on what all of area municipalities 

charge, based on the valuation of the work to be performed. 

• Updates to, and removal of non-applicable definitions, as needed. 

• Changes made throughout designating the Town’s authorized agent and Board that will 

hear appeals or adjustments to the Building Ordinance and appeals of administrative 

decisions of the Building Official from the Charleston County Construction Board of 

Adjustment and Appeals to the Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals.  This includes removal 

of all language regarding the requirements/qualifications of the members of the 

Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals.  Because these duties are re-assigned to 

the Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals, this criteria is no longer applicable and will fall 

under the Zoning ordinance where this Board originates. 

Flood Ordinance (Chapter 151) 

• NOTE: All substantive amendments proposed were passed by Charleston County Council 

and implemented/enforced on the Town’s behalf over the last couple of years.  These 

were presented as smaller groups of amendments and were not shared with the Town 

so that corresponding amendments could be made to the Town’s ordinance.  These 

differences were discovered while looking through the language to see where clerical 

changes needed to be made. 

• Appeals and variances to the floodplain management ordinance will be heard by the 

Town’s Board of Zoning Appeals instead of the Charleston County Construction Board of 

Adjustment and Appeals. 

• Additional references and definitions have been added to be in compliance with FEMA 

regulations. 

• Defining “Existing Construction” or “Pre-FIRM” as the date of the first Flood Insurance 

Rate Map (FIRM) for our community in Nov. 1973.  The date previously provided was 

based on Charleston County’s first flood ordinance. 

• Describes how the Building Official is designated. 

• Updates to how applications are submitted and reviewed (electronic). 

• Clarifications to the referenced manuals for stormwater, SCDOT, etc. 

• Removal of an allowance to construct stem-wall foundations in the Coastal A Zones.  This 

was previously removed by Charleston County’s ordinance and gives the Town better 

standards for this type of construction. 



3 

 

(example of a stem-wall foundation; similar construction 

to an “elevated slab” where it appears to look like a crawl 

space is being constructed but after the form is made it is 

backfilled with dirt and the new slab is constructed on 

top) 

 

 

 

• Appeals and Variances to the floodplain management ordinance are redirected from the 

Charleston County Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals to the Town’s Board 

of Zoning Appeals. 

• Redirecting provisions for inspections from Charleston County to Town Building Official. 

• Clarifying that non-conforming uses are those as described by the zoning ordinance. 

 

Zoning Ordinance (Chapter 153) 

• Add to the decision-making authority of the Board of Zoning Appeals to hear: 

o Variances as allowed in the Flood ordinance 

o Adjustments as allowed in the Building ordinance 

o Appeals of administrative decisions in floodplain regulations (Ch. 151) and 

building regulations (Ch. 150) 



1 
 

ORDINANCE 2023-09 
 

AN ORDINANCE 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND ZONING AND LAND 

DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS ORDINANCE, NUMBER 2013-07: GENERAL 

PROVISIONS, BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, SECTION 153.027 (B) AND (C) 

(EXHIBIT A): 

 

WHEREAS, the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning 

Enabling Act of 1994, Sections 6-29-310, et seq., 6-29-510 et seq., 6-29-710 et seq. and 

6-29-110 et seq., of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, authorizes 

the Town of James Island to enact or amend its zoning and land development regulations 

to guide development in accordance with existing and future needs and in order to protect, 

promote and improve the public health, safety, and general welfare; and 

WHEREAS, the Town of James Island Planning Commission has reviewed the 

proposed text of the Town of James Island Zoning and Land Development Regulations 

Ordinance (ZLDR) in accordance with the procedures established in State law and the 

ZLDR, and has recommended that the Town of James Island Council adopt the proposed 

text amendments of the ZLDR as set forth in Sections 153.027 herein; and 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of the recommendation of the Planning Commission, 

Town Council held at least one (1) public hearing and after close of the public hearing, 

Town Council approves the proposed text amendments based on the Approval Criteria 

of Section 153.042 (F) of the ZLDR; 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined the proposed text amendments 

meet the following criteria: 

 
(1).  The proposed amendment corrects an error or inconsistency or meets the 



2 
 

challenge of a changing condition; and 

(B).  The proposed amendment is consistent with the adopted Town of James 

Island Comprehensive Plan and goals as stated in Section 153.005; and 

(C).  The proposed amendment is to further the public welfare in any other regard 

specified by Town Council. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, be ordained it, by the Town of James Island Council in 

meeting duly assembled, as follows: 

SECTION I. FINDINGS INCORPORATED 
 

The above recitals and findings are incorporated herein by reference and made a 

part of this Ordinance. 

SECTION II.  TEXT AMENDMENT OF THE ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS ORDINANCE  

 
The Town of James Island Zoning and Land Development Regulations Ordinance 

is hereby amended to include the text amendments of Sections 153.027, is attached 

hereto as “Exhibit A”, and made a part of this Ordinance by reference. 

SECTION III. SEVERABILITY 

 If, for any reason, any part of this Ordinance is invalidated by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the remaining portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION IV.  EFFECTIVE DATE 

 This Ordinance shall become effective immediately following second reading by 

the Town Council. 

 

 



3 
 

ADOPTED and APPROVED in meeting duly assembled this 18th day of January 2024. 

 

 TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND COUNCIL 
 

 
                                                                 By: __________________________________  
                                                                       Brook Lyon 
                                                                       Mayor of the Town of James Island 
ATTEST: 
 

 
By: ____________________________ 
 Frances Simmons 
 Town Clerk of the Town of James Island 
 
 
Public Hearing: December 21, 2023 
First Reading: December 21, 2023 
Second Reading: January 18, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 



 ORDINANCE 2023-09, EXHIBIT A 

CHAPTER 153: ZONING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

General Provisions 

§ 153.027 BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS. 

(A) Review authority. The Board of Zoning Appeals does not act in a review or 
recommending capacity. 

(B) Decision-making authority. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall have final decision- 
making authority on the following matters: 

(1) Special exceptions; 

(2) Variances, including those described in Section 151.55 of the Flood 
Damage Prevention Ordinance; and 

 (3) Adjustments as described in Section 150.14 of the Town Building 
Regulations Ordinance; and 

(43) Appeals of administrative decisions on: 

(a) Zzoning-related matters as described in this Chapter;. 

(b) Floodplain regulations-related matters, as described in Chapter 151 of the 
Code of Ordinances; and 

(a) Building regulations-related matters, as described in Chapter 150 of the Code 
of Ordinances. 

(C) Officers, rules, meetings, and minutes. Pursuant to S.C. Code § 6-29-790360, the 
Board of Zoning Appeals shall elect one of its members as chair who shall serve for one 
year or until re-election or a successor is elected and qualified. The Board of Zoning 
Appeals shall adopt rules and procedures in accordance with the provisions of this chapter 
not inconsistent with the provisions of S.C. Code Title 6, Chapter 29, as amended. The Board 
of Zoning Appeals shall appoint a secretary. The secretary may be an employee of the town. 
Meetings of the Board shall be at the call of the chair and at such other times as the Board 
of Zoning Appeals may determine. Public notice of all meetings of the Board of Zoning 
Appeals shall be provided by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the town. 
The Board of Zoning Appeals shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of 
each member upon each question or if absent or failing to vote. The Board of Zoning 
Appeals shall maintain records of its examinations and official actions, all of which, upon 
approval, shall be filed immediately in the office of the Zoning Administrator. Such records 
shall be available for public review and inspection during normal business hours. 

(D) Composition. The Board of Zoning Appeals shall consist of five members appointed 
by the Town Council for terms of four years each; provided, however, that, of the initial 
members of the Board of Zoning Appeals, three members shall be appointed for four-year 
terms and two members shall be appointed for two-year terms. Members shall serve until 
their successors are appointed and qualified. Any vacancy which may occur on the Board of 



 ORDINANCE 2023-09, EXHIBIT A 

Zoning Appeals shall be filled by the Town Council appointing a successor to serve out the 
un-expired term of the vacancy. In appointing members to the Board of Zoning Appeals, the 
Town Council shall consider their professional expertise, knowledge of the community, and 
concern for the future welfare of the total community and its citizens. All members of the 
Board of Zoning Appeals shall reside within the municipal jurisdiction of the town. No 
member of the Board of Zoning Appeals may hold an elected public office. 

(Ord. 2012-06, § 2.3, passed 10-18-2012; Ord. 2012-21, passed 12-20-2012; Ord. 2014-01, 
passed 2-20-2014) 



ORDINANCE #2023-11 

 

AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 150: TOWN BUILDING REGULATIONS ORDINANCE OF 

THE TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the Town of James Island to have an updated 

ordinance for administering the State of South Carolina adopted building codes in the Town; and 

WHEREAS, in order to better serve the residents and property owners in the Town of James Island, the 

Town will no longer request these services be provided by Charleston County Building Inspection 

Services and will instead administer its own building services program; and 

WHEREAS, in recognition of this change, it is essential that the Town takes the time to review and 

update its Town Building Regulations Ordinance, including its schedule of fees, as needed prior to 

beginning to offer these services on January 1, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, the James Island Town Council finds it in the best interest and benefit to the general health, 

safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town of James Island to adopt the amendments to the Town 

Building Regulations Ordinance attached herein as “EXHIBIT A”. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by majority vote of Town Council, in meeting duly 

assembled January 18, 2024, that Chapter 150 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of James Island, 

South Carolina is hereby amended. 

Effective this 18th Day of January, 2024. 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Brook Lyon, Mayor 

 

ATTEST 

 

____________________________________ 

Frances Simmons, Town Clerk 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

1 
 

CHAPTER 150: TOWN BUILDING REGULATIONS 

Section 

   150.01   General provisions 

   150.02   Applicability 

   150.03   Department of Building Inspection Services 

   150.04   Duties and powers of Building Official 

   150.05   Permits 

   150.06   Construction documents 

   150.07   Temporary structures and uses 

   150.08   Fees 

   150.09   Inspections 

   150.10   Certificate of occupancy 

   150.11   Service utilities 

   150.12   Licensing and registration 

   150.13   Unsafe dwellings and equipment 

   150.14   Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals 

   150.15   Violations 

  

   150.99   Penalty 

Editor’s note: 

   The regulations set forth in this chapter are those of Charleston County Ordinance 1839, 
adopted by the county on January 20, 2015, which was adopted by the Town’s Ordinance 
2016-14 on January 19, 2017, as amended. 

 

§ 150.01 GENERAL PROVISIONS. 

   (A)   Title. These regulations shall be known as the Building Code of the Town of James 
Island, hereinafter referred to as “this chapter.” 

   (B)   Scope. The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the construction, alteration, 
movement, enlargement, replacement, repair, equipment, use and occupancy, location, 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

2 
 

maintenance, removal and demolition of every building or structure or any appurtenances 
connected or attached to such buildings or structures. 

   (C)   Appendices. Provisions in the appendices shall not apply unless specifically adopted. 

   (D)   Intent. The purpose of this chapter is to regulate the provisions found in S.C. Code §§ 
6-9-5 et seq. and S.C. Code of Regulations 8-100 et seq. that establish the minimum 
requirements to safeguard the public health, safety and general welfare through structural 
strength, means of egress facilities, stability, sanitation, adequate light and ventilation, 
energy conservation, and safety to life and property from fire and other hazards attributed 
to the built environment and to provide safety to fire fighters and emergency responders 
during emergency operations. 

   (E)   Referenced codes. The provisions in divisions (E)(1) through (E)(8) below and 
referenced elsewhere in this chapter shall be considered part of the requirements of this 
chapter to the prescribed extent of each such reference. 

      (1)   Building.  

         (a)   The provisions of the International Building Code as adopted by the S. C. Building 
Codes Council shall apply to the construction of buildings and structures. 

         (b)   Exception: Detached one- and two-family dwellings and multiple single-family 
dwellings (townhouses) not more than three stories above grade plane in height with a 
separate means of egress and their accessory structures shall comply with the 
International Residential Code as adopted by the S.C. Building Code Council. 

      (2)   Electrical. The provisions of the National Electrical Code as adopted by the S.C. 
Building Codes Council shall apply to the installation of electrical systems, including 
alterations, repairs, replacement, equipment, appliances, fixtures, fittings and 
appurtenances thereto. 

      (3)   Gas. The provisions of the International Fuel Gas Code as adopted by the S.C. 
Building Codes Council shall apply to the installation of gas piping from the point of 
delivery, gas appliances and related accessories as covered in this chapter. These 
requirements apply to gas piping systems extending from the point of delivery to the inlet 
connections of appliances and the installation and operation of residential and commercial 
gas appliances and related accessories. 

      (4)   Mechanical. The provisions of the International Mechanical Code as adopted by the 
S.C. Building Codes Council shall apply to the installation, alterations, repairs and 
replacement of mechanical systems, including equipment, appliances, fixtures, fittings 
and/or appurtenances, including ventilation, heating, cooling, air-conditioning and 
refrigeration systems, incinerators and other energy-related systems. 

      (5)   Plumbing. The provisions of the International Plumbing Code as adopted by the S.C. 
Building Codes Council shall apply to the installation, alteration, repair and replacement of 
plumbing systems, including equipment, appliances, fixtures, fittings and appurtenances, 
and where connected to a water or sewage system and all aspects of a medical gas system. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

3 
 

      (6)   Fire prevention. The provisions of the International Fire Code as adopted by the S.C. 
Building Codes Council shall apply to matters affecting or relating to structures, processes 
and premises from the hazard of fire and explosion arising from the storage, handling or 
use of structures, materials or devices, from conditions hazardous to life, property or public 
welfare in the occupancy of structures or premises; and from the construction, extension, 
repair, alteration or removal of fire suppression and alarm systems or fire hazards in the 
structure or on the premises from occupancy or operation. 

      (7)   Energy. The provisions of the International Energy Conservation Code as adopted 
by the State of South Carolina shall apply to all matters governing the design and 
construction of buildings for energy efficiency. 

      (8)   Unsafe buildings and equipment. (See § 150.13). 

   (F)   Definitions. References throughout this chapter are defined as follows:  

      CODE OFFICIAL. Shall mean “Building Official.” 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 150.02 APPLICABILITY. 

   (A)   Area of applicability. This chapter shall affect all unincorporated areas of the Town, 
unless this chapter is adopted by an incorporated area, excluding any parcels of land 
owned by the state or the federal government, and any buildings and installations thereon 
unless duly requested or required by law. 

   (B)   General. Where, in any specific case, different sections of this chapter specify 
different materials, methods of construction or other requirements, the most restrictive 
shall govern. Where there is a conflict between a general requirement and a specific 
requirement, the specific requirement shall be applicable. 

   (C)   Other laws. The provisions of this chapter shall not be deemed to nullify any 
provisions of local, state, or federal law. 

   (D)   Application of references. References to chapter or section numbers, or to provisions 
not specifically identified by number, shall be construed to refer to such chapter, section, or 
provision of this chapter. 

   (E)   Referenced codes and standards.  

      (1)   The codes and standards referenced in this chapter shall be considered part of the 
requirements of this chapter to the prescribed extent of each such reference. Where 
differences occur between provisions of this chapter and referenced codes and standards, 
the provisions of this chapter shall apply. 

      (2)   Exception: Where enforcement of a code provision would violate the conditions of 
the listing of the equipment or appliance, the conditions of the listing and manufacturer’s 
instructions shall apply. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

4 
 

   (F)   Partial invalidity. In the event that any part or provision of this chapter is held to be 
illegal or void, this shall not have the effect of making void or illegal any of the other parts 
or provisions. 

   (G)   Existing structures.  

      (1)   The legal occupancy of any structure existing on the date of adoption of this chapter 
shall be permitted to continue without change, except as is specifically covered in this 
chapter or as is deemed necessary by the Building Official for the general safety and 
welfare of the occupants and the public. 

      (2)   Existing installations. Building systems lawfully in existence at the time of the 
adoption of this chapter shall be permitted to have their use and maintenance continued if 
the use, maintenance or repair is in accordance with the original design and no hazard to 
life, health or property is created by such system. 

   (H)   Maintenance. All building systems, materials, and appurtenances, both existing and 
new, and all parts thereof, shall be maintained in proper operating condition in accordance 
with the original design in a safe and sanitary condition. All devices or safeguards required 
by this chapter shall be maintained in compliance with the code edition under which they 
were installed. 

      (1)   Maintenance of safeguards. Whenever or wherever any device, equipment, system, 
condition, arrangement, level of protection, or any other feature is required for compliance 
with the provisions of this chapter or otherwise installed, such device, equipment, system, 
condition, arrangement, level of protection, or other feature shall thereafter be 
continuously maintained in accordance with the chapter and applicable referenced 
standards, in effect on the date permitted or if done without permits at the time of 
installation. 

      (2)   Testing and operation. Equipment requiring periodic testing or operation to ensure 
maintenance shall be tested or operated as specified in this chapter. 

         (a)   Test and inspection records. Required test and inspection records shall be 
available to the Building Official at all times. 

         (b)   Reinspection and testing. Where any work or installation does not pass an initial 
test or inspection, the necessary corrections shall be made so as to achieve compliance with 
this chapter. 

      (3)   Supervision. Maintenance and testing shall be under the supervision of a 
responsible person who shall ensure that such maintenance and testing are conducted at 
specified intervals in accordance with this chapter. 

      (4)   Rendering equipment inoperable. Portable or fixed fire-extinguishing systems or 
devices and fire-warning systems shall not be rendered inoperative or inaccessible except 
as necessary during emergencies, maintenance, repairs, alterations, drills or prescribed 
testing. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

5 
 

      (5)   Owner/occupant responsibility. Correction and abatement of violations of this 
chapter shall be the responsibility of the owner. If an occupant creates, or allows to be 
created, hazardous conditions in violation of this chapter, the occupant shall be held 
responsible for the abatement of such hazardous conditions. 

      (6)   Overcrowding. Overcrowding or admittance of any person beyond the approved 
capacity of a building or a portion thereof shall not be allowed. The Building Official, upon 
finding any overcrowding conditions or obstructions in aisles, passageways, or other 
means of egress, or upon finding any condition which constitutes a life safety hazard, shall 
be authorized to cause the event to be stopped until such condition or obstruction is 
corrected. 

   (I)   Additions, alterations, or repairs. Additions, alterations, or repairs to any structure or 
building systems shall conform to that required for a new structure without requiring the 
existing structure to comply with all of the requirements of this chapter, unless otherwise 
stated. Additions, alterations, or repairs shall not cause an existing structure to become 
unsafe or adversely affect the performance of the building. See division (L) of this section 
concerning substantial improvements. 

   (J)   Historic buildings.  

      (1)   The provisions of this chapter relating to the construction, alteration, repair, 
enlargement restoration, relocation or moving of buildings or structures shall not be 
mandatory for existing buildings or structures identified and/or classified by the federal, 
state or town as historic buildings when such buildings or structures are judged by the 
Building Official to be safe and in the public interest of health, safety and welfare regarding 
any proposed construction, alteration, repair, enlargement, restoration, relocation, change 
of occupancy, or moving of buildings. 

      (2)   HISTORIC BUILDINGS are defined as: 

         (a)   Listed or preliminarily determined to be eligible for listing in the National 
Register of Historic Places; 

         (b)   Determined by the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Interior as contributing to 
the historical significance of a registered historic district, or a district preliminarily 
determined to qualify as an historic district; 

         (c)   Designated as historic under a state or local historic preservation program that is 
approved by the Department of Interior; or 

         (d)   Individually listed on a local inventory of historical places that has been certified 
by the South Carolina Department of Archives and History. 

   (K)   Moved buildings. Buildings and/or structures and their components moved into or 
within the Town shall comply with the provisions of this chapter for new installations. 

   (L)   Substantially improved or substantially damaged existing buildings and structures. 
The Building Official shall examine or cause to be examined the construction documents for 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of existing buildings or 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

6 
 

structures, and shall prepare a finding with regard to the value of the proposed work. For 
buildings that have sustained damage of any origin and/or improvement to a building or 
structure, the value of the proposed work shall include the cost to repair the building or 
structure to its pre-damaged condition and/or cost of any improvements. If the Building 
Official finds that the value of proposed work equals or exceeds 50% of the fair market 
value of the building or structure, the entire building or structure shall be brought into 
compliance with all applicable codes. 

   (M)   Change in occupancy (including use as Short Term Rental). It shall be unlawful to 
make a change in the occupancy of any structure which will subject the structure to any 
special provision of this chapter applicable to the new occupancy without approval. The 
Building Official shall certify that such structure meets the intent of the provisions of law 
governing building construction for the proposed new occupancy and that such change of 
occupancy does not result in any hazard to the public health, safety, or welfare. 

   (N)   Requirements not covered by this chapter. Requirements necessary for the strength, 
stability, or proper operation of an existing or proposed building or structure and its 
components, or for the public safety, health and general welfare, not specifically covered by 
this chapter, shall be determined by the Building Official. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.03 DEPARTMENT OF BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES. 

   (A)   Creation of enforcement agency. The Department of Building  Inspection Services is 
hereby created and the official in charge thereof shall be known as the Building Official. 

   (B)   Appointment. The Building Official shall be appointed by the appointing 
authorityMayor, or his/her designee, of the Town of James Island. 

   (C)   Deputies. In accordance with the prescribed procedures of this Town and with the 
concurrence of the appointing authority, the Town Administrator Building Official shall 
have the authority to appointassign a Deputy Building Official, the related technical officers, 
inspectors, plan examiners, code enforcement officers, and other employees. Such 
employees shall have powers as delegated by the Building Official upon approval of the 
Town Administrator. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 150.04 DUTIES AND POWERS OF BUILDING OFFICIAL. 

   (A)   General. The Building Official is hereby authorized and directed to enforce the 
provisions of this chapter. The Building Official shall have the authority to render 
interpretations of this chapter and to adopt policies and procedures in order to clarify the 
application of its provisions. Such interpretations, policies and procedures shall be in 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

7 
 

compliance with the intent and purpose of this chapter. Such policies and procedures shall 
not have the effect of waiving requirements specifically provided for in this chapter. 

   (B)   Applications and permits. The Building Official shall receive applications, review 
construction documents and issue permits for the erection, and alteration, demolition and 
moving of buildings and structures, inspect the premises for which such permits have been 
issued and enforce compliance with the provisions of this chapter. 

   (C)   Notices and orders. The Building Official shall issue all necessary notices or orders to 
ensure compliance with this chapter. 

   (D)   Inspections. The Building Official shall make all of the required inspections, or the 
Building Official shall have the authority to accept reports of inspection by approved 
agencies or individuals. Reports of such inspections shall be in writing and be certified by a 
responsible officer of such approved agency or by the responsible individual. 

   (E)   Identification. The Building Official shall carry proper identification when inspecting 
structures or premises in the performance of duties under this chapter. 

   (F)   Right of entry. Where it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce the provisions 
of this chapter, or where the Building Official has reasonable cause to believe that there 
exists in a structure or upon a premises a condition which is contrary to or in violation of 
this chapter which makes the structure or premises unsafe, dangerous or hazardous, the 
Building Official is authorized to enter the structure or premises at reasonable times to 
inspect or to perform the duties imposed by this chapter, provided that if such structure or 
premises be occupied that credentials be presented to the occupant and entry requested. If 
such structure or premises is unoccupied, the Building Official shall first make a reasonable 
effort to locate the owner or other person having charge or control of the structure or 
premises and request entry. If entry is refused, the Building Official shall have recourse to 
the remedies provided by law to secure entry. 

   (G)   Department records. The Building Official shall keep official records of applications 
received, permits and certificates issued, fees collected, reports of inspections, and notices 
and orders issued. Such records shall be retained in the official records for the period 
required for retention of public records. 

   (H)   Liability. The Building Official, member of the board designated to review appeals, 
Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals or employee charged with the enforcement 
of this chapter, while acting for the Town in good faith and without malice in the discharge 
of the duties required by this chapter or other pertinent law or ordinance, shall not thereby 
be rendered liable personally and is hereby relieved from personal liability for any damage 
accruing to persons or property as a result of any act or by reason of an act or omission in 
the discharge of official duties. Any suit instituted against an officer or employee because of 
an act performed by that officer or employee in the lawful discharge of duties and under 
the provisions of this chapter shall be defended by legal representative of the Town until 
the final termination of the proceedings. The Building Official or any subordinate shall not 
be liable for cost in any action, suit or proceeding that is instituted in pursuance of the 
provisions of this chapter. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

8 
 

   (I)   Approved materials and equipment. 

      (1)   Materials, equipment, and devices approved by the Building Official shall be 
constructed and installed in accordance with such approval. 

      (2)   Used materials and equipment. The use of used materials which meet the 
requirements of this chapter for new materials is permitted. Used equipment and devices 
shall not be reused unless approved by the Building Official. 

   (J)   Modifications. Wherever there are practical difficulties involved in carrying out the 
provisions of this chapter, the Building Official shall have the authority to grant 
modifications for individual cases, upon application of the owner or owner’s 
representative, provided the Building Official shall first find that special individual reason 
makes the strict letter of this chapter impractical and the modification is in compliance 
with the intent and purpose of this chapter and that such modification does not lessen 
health, accessibility, life and fire safety, or structural requirements. The details of the action 
granting modifications shall be recorded and entered in the files of the Department of 
Building Services. 

   (K)   Alternative materials, design and methods of construction and equipment. The 
provisions of this chapter are not intended to prevent the installation of any material or to 
prohibit any design or method of construction not specifically prescribed by this chapter, 
provided that any such alternative has been approved. An alternative material, design or 
method of construction shall be approved where the Building Official finds that the 
proposed design is satisfactory and complies with the intent of the provisions of this 
chapter, and that the material, method or work offered is, for the purpose intended, at least 
the equivalent of that prescribed in this chapter in quality, strength, effectiveness, fire 
resistance, durability, and safety. 

      (1)   Research reports. Supporting data, where necessary to assist in the approval of 
materials or assemblies not specifically provided for in this chapter, shall consist of valid 
research reports from approved sources. 

      (2)   Tests. Whenever there is insufficient evidence of compliance with the provisions of 
this chapter, or evidence that a material or method does not conform to the requirements 
of this chapter, or in order to substantiate claims for alternative materials or methods, the 
Building Official shall have the authority to require tests as evidence of compliance to be 
made at no expense to the Town. Test methods shall be as specified in this chapter or by 
other recognized test standards. In the absence of recognized and accepted test methods, 
the Building Official shall approve the testing procedures. Tests shall be performed by an 
approved agency. Reports of such tests shall be retained by the Building Official for the 
period required for retention of public records. 

   (L)   Evacuation. The Building Official and/or the Fire Department Official in charge of an 
incident shall be authorized to order the immediate evacuation of any occupied building 
deemed unsafe when such building has hazardous conditions that present imminent 
danger to building occupants. Persons so notified shall immediately leave the structure or 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

9 
 

premises and shall not enter or re-enter until authorized to do so by the Building Official 
and/or the Fire Department Official in charge of the incident. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.05 PERMITS. 

   (A)   Required permits.  

      (1)   Any owner or authorized agent who intends to construct, enlarge, alter, repair, 
move, demolish, or change the occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, install, 
enlarge, alter, repair, remove, convert or replace any electrical, gas, mechanical or 
plumbing system, the installation of which is regulated by this chapter, or to cause any such 
work to be done, shall first make application; to the Building Official and obtain the 
required permit. 

      (2) Additional required permits. The Building Official is authorized to issue permits for 
work as set forth in divisions (A)(2)(a) through (A)(2)(c) of this section. 

         (a)   Automatic fire-extinguishing systems. A permit is required for installation of or 
modification to an automatic fire-extinguishing system. Maintenance performed in 
accordance with this chapter is not considered a modification and does not require a 
permit. 

         (b)   Fire alarm and detection systems and related equipment.  

            1.   A permit is required for installation of or modification to fire alarm and detection 
systems and related equipment. Maintenance performed in accordance with this chapter is 
not considered a modification and does not require a permit. 

            2.   Exception: Residential type smoke detectors installed individually or wired in 
series in single-family residences. 

         (c)   Fire pumps and related equipment. A permit is required for installation of or 
modification to fire pumps and related fuel tanks, jockey pumps, controllers, and 
generators. Maintenance performed in accordance with this chapter is not considered a 
modification and does not require a permit. 

         (d)   Hazardous materials. A permit is required to install, repair damage to, abandon, 
remove, place temporarily out of service, or close or substantially modify a storage facility 
or other area regulated by Chapter 27 of the International Fire Code. 

         (e)   Private fire hydrants. A permit is required for the installation or modification of 
private fire hydrants and their systems. 

         (f)   Standpipe systems. A permit is required for the installation, modification, or 
removal from service of a standpipe system. Maintenance performed in accordance with 
this chapter is not considered a modification and does not require a permit. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

10 
 

         (g)   Special permits. In addition to the required permits, the following permits are 
required for the following installation and/or repairs; vinyl siding, insulation, roofing, floor 
covering/carpet, masonry, drywall, carpentry, stucco, paint/wallpaper, low voltage 
electrical, and elevators., landscape/site development. 

   (B)   Work exempt from permit.  

      (1)   Exemptions from permit requirements of this chapter shall not be deemed to grant 
authorization for any work to be done in any manner in violation of the provisions of this 
chapter or any other laws or ordinances of this Town. Permits shall not be required for the 
following: 

         (a)   Building. 

            1.   One-story detached accessory structures used as tool and storage sheds, 
playhouses and similar uses, provided the floor area does not exceed 120 square feet (11 
m2). 

            2.   Fences not over six feet (1829 mm) high. 

            3.   Water tanks supported directly on grade if the capacity does not exceed 5,000 
gallons (18,925 L) and the ratio of height to diameter or width does not exceed 2:1. 

            4.   Retaining walls that are not over four feet (1219 mm) in height measured from 
the bottom of the footing to the top of the wall, unless supporting a surcharge or 
impounding Class I, II, or IIIA liquids. 

            5.   Sidewalks and driveways not more than 30 inches (762 mm) above adjacent 
grade, and not over any basement or story below and are not part of an accessible route. 

            6.   Temporary motion picture, television and theater stage sets and scenery. 

            7.   Prefabricated swimming pools accessory to a Group R-3 occupancy that are less 
than 24 inches (610 mm) deep, do not exceed 5,000 gallons (19,000 L) and are installed 
entirely above ground. 

            8.   Shade cloth structures constructed for nursery or agricultural purposes, and not 
including service systems. 

            9.   Swings and other playground equipment. 

            10.   Nonfixed and movable fixtures, cases, racks, counters, and partitions not over 
five feet nine inches (1753 mm) in height. 

            11.   Window awnings supported by an exterior wall that do not project more than 
54 inches (1372 mm) from the exterior wall and do not require additional support. 

         (b)   Electrical. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

11 
 

            1.   Repairs and maintenance. Minor repair work, including the replacement of lamps 
or the connection of approved portable electrical equipment to approved permanently 
installed receptacles. 

            2.   Radio and television transmitting stations. The provisions of this chapter shall not 
apply to electrical equipment used for radio and television transmissions but do apply to 
equipment and wiring for a power supply and the installation of towers and antennas. 

            3.   Temporary testing systems. A permit shall not be required for the installation of 
any temporary system required for the testing or servicing of electrical equipment or 
apparatus. 

         (c)   Gas. 

            1.   Portable gas equipment of all types that is not connected to a fixed fuel piping 
system. 

            2.   Replacement of any minor part that does not alter approval of equipment or make 
such equipment unsafe. 

            3.   Portable fuel cell appliances that are not connected to a fixed piping system and 
are not interconnected to a power grid. 

         (d)   Mechanical. 

            1.   Portable heating appliance. 

            2.   Portable ventilation equipment. 

            3.   Portable cooling unit. 

            4.   Steam, hot or chilled water piping within any heating or cooling equipment 
regulated by this chapter. 

            5.   Replacement of any part that does not alter its approval or make it unsafe. 

            6.   Portable evaporative cooler. 

            7.   Self-contained refrigeration system containing ten pounds (five kg) or less of 
refrigerant and actuated by motors of one horsepower (746 W) or less. 

            8.    Portable-fuel-cell appliances that are not connected to a fixed piping system and 
are not interconnected to a power grid. 

         (e)   Plumbing. 

            1.   The stopping of leaks in drains, water, soil, waste or vent pipe, provided, however, 
that if any concealed trap, drain pipe, water, soil, waste or vent pipe becomes defective and 
it becomes necessary to remove and replace the same with new material, such work shall 
be considered as new work and a permit shall be obtained and inspection made as 
provided in this chapter. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

12 
 

            2.   The clearing of stoppages or the repairing of leaks in pipes, valves or fixtures and 
the removal and reinstallation of water closets, provided such repairs do not involve or 
require the replacement or rearrangement of valves, pipes, or fixtures. 

         (f)   Energy. The following need not comply provided the energy use of the building is 
not increased: 

            1.   Storm windows installed over existing fenestration. 

            2.   Glass only replacements in an existing sash and frame. 

            3.   Construction where the existing roof, wall or floor cavity is not exposed. 

      (2)   Emergency repairs. Where equipment replacements and repairs must be 
performed in an emergency situation, the permit application shall be submitted within the 
next working business day to the Building Official. 

      (3)   Repairs. Application or notice to the Building Official is not required for ordinary 
repairs to structures, replacement of lamps or the connection of approved portable 
electrical equipment to approved permanently installed receptacles. Such repairs shall not 
include the cutting away of any wall, partition or portion thereof, the removal or cutting of 
any structural beam or load-bearing support, or the removal or change of any required 
means of egress, or rearrangement of parts of a structure affecting the egress 
requirements; nor shall ordinary repairs include addition to, alteration of, replacement or 
relocation of any standpipe, water supply, sewer, drainage, drain leader, gas, soil, waste, 
vent or similar piping, electric wiring or mechanical or other work affecting public health 
or general safety. 

      (4)   Public service agencies. A permit shall not be required for the installation, 
alteration, or repair of generation; transmission, distribution or metering or other related 
equipment that is under the ownership and control of public service agencies by 
established right. 

   (C)   Application for permit.  

      (1)   Filing of application. To obtain a permit, the applicant shall first file an application 
therefore in writing on a form furnished by the Department of Building Services for that 
purpose. Such application shall: 

         (a)   Identify and describe the work to be covered by the permit for which application 
is made; 

         (b)   Describe the land on which the proposed work is to be done by address and tax 
map number (TMS) or property identification number (PID); 

         (c)   Indicate the use and occupancy for which the proposed work is intended; 

         (d)   Be accompanied by construction documents and other information as required in 
§ 150.06. 

         (e)   State the valuation of the proposed work. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

13 
 

         (f)   Be signed by the applicant, or the applicant’s authorized agent. 

         (g)   Submit such other data and information as required by the Building Official. 

      (2)   Action on application. The Building Official shall examine or cause to be examined 
applications for permits and amendments thereto within a reasonable time after filing. If 
the application or the construction documents do not conform to the requirements of 
pertinent laws, the Building Official shall reject such application in writing, stating the 
reasons, therefore. If the Building Official is satisfied that the proposed work conforms to 
the requirements of this chapter and laws and ordinances applicable thereto, the Building 
Official shall issue a permit therefore as soon as practicable. 

      (3)   Time limitation of application. An application for a permit for any proposed work 
shall be deemed to have been abandoned 180 days after the date of filing, unless such 
application has been pursued in good faith or a permit has been issued; except that the 
Building Official is authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for additional 
periods not exceeding 90 days each. The extension shall be requested in writing and 
justifiable cause demonstrated. 

   (D)   Validity of permit. The issuance or granting of a permit shall not be construed to be a 

permit for, or an approval of, any violation of any of the provisions of this chapter or of any 

other ordinance of the Town. Permits presuming to give authority to violate or cancel the 

provisions of this chapter or other ordinances of the Town shall not be valid. The issuance 

of a permit based on construction documents and other data shall not prevent the Building 

Official from requiring the correction of errors in the construction documents and other 

data. The Building Official is also authorized to prevent occupancy or use of a structure 

where in violation of this chapter or of any other ordinances of this Town. 

   (E)   Expiration. Every permit issued shall become invalid unless the work on the site 
authorized by such permit is commenced within 180 days after its issuance, or if the work 
authorized on the site by such permit is suspended or abandoned for a period of 180 days 
after the time the work is commenced. The Building Official is authorized to grant, in 
writing, one or more extensions of time, for periods not more than 180 days each. The 
extensions shall be requested in writing and justifiable cause demonstrated. 

   (F)   Suspension or revocation. The Building Official is authorized to suspend or revoke a 
permit issued under the provisions of this chapter wherever the permit is issued in error or 
on the basis of incorrect, inaccurate, or incomplete information, or in violation of any 
ordinance or regulation or any of the provisions of this chapter. 

   (G)   Placement of permit. The building permit or copy shall be kept on the site for the 
work until the completion of the project at an accessible and visible location. 

   (H)   Responsibility. It shall be the duty of every person who performs work for the 
installation or repair of building systems, for which this chapter is applicable, to comply 
with this chapter. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

14 
 

   (I)   Manufactured housing permits. In order for a permit to be issued to install a 
manufactured home in the Town, a copy of the current license of the installer or contractor, 
issued by the South Carolina Manufactured Housing Board, must be submitted with the 
application for the permit. If a retail dealer is installing the home, a current copy of the 
retail dealer’s license, issued by the South Carolina Manufactured Housing Board, must be 
submitted with the application for the permit. The installer, contractor, or dealer may 
submit an electronic copy of the license, in an acceptable format such as JPEG or PDF, by 
email, or through the online submittal system in place of a copy. 

   (J)   Unauthorized tampering. Signs, tags, or seals posted or affixed by the Building Official 
shall not be mutilated, destroyed, or tampered with or removed without authorization 
from the Building Official. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.06 CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS. 

   (A)   Submittal documents.  

      (1)   Submission of documents. 

         (a)   One paper set of construction documents, statement of special inspections and 
other data, and one electronic set of these documents, shall be submitted in two or more 
sets with each permit application. The construction documents shall be prepared by a 
registered design professional where required by the statutes of the Town in which the 
project is to be constructed. Where special conditions exist, the Building Official is 
authorized to require additional construction documents to be prepared by a registered 
design professional. 

         (b)   Exception: The Building Official is authorized to waive the submission of 
construction documents and other data not required to be prepared by a registered design 
professional if it is found that the nature of the work applied for is such that review of 
construction documents is not necessary to obtain compliance with this chapter. 

      (2)   Information on construction documents. Construction documents shall be 
dimensioned and drawn upon suitable material. Electronic media documents are permitted 
to be submitted when approved by the Building Official. Construction documents shall be of 
sufficient clarity to indicate the location, nature and extent of the work proposed and show 
in detail that it will conform to the provisions of this chapter and relevant laws, ordinances, 
rules, and regulations, as determined by the Building Official. 

         (a)   Fire protection system shop drawings. Shop drawings for the fire protection 
system(s) shall be submitted to indicate conformance with this chapter and the 
construction documents and shall be approved prior to the start of system installation. 
Shop drawings shall contain all information as required by the referenced installation 
standards in Chapter 9 of the IBC. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

15 
 

         (b)   Manufacturer’s installation instructions. The manufacturer’s installation 
instructions, as required by this chapter, shall be available on the job site at the time of 
inspection. 

      (3)   Means of egress. The construction documents shall show in sufficient detail the 
location, construction, size, and character of all portions of the means of egress in 
compliance with the provisions of this chapter. In other than occupancies in groups R-2, R-
3, and 1-1, the construction documents shall designate the number of occupants to be 
accommodated on every floor, and in all rooms and spaces. 

      (4)   Exterior wall envelope.  

         (a)   Construction documents for all buildings shall describe the exterior wall envelope 
in sufficient detail to determine compliance with this chapter. The construction documents 
shall provide details of the exterior wall envelope as required, including flashing, 
intersections with dissimilar materials, corners, end details, control joints, intersections at 
roof, eaves, or parapets, means of drainage, water-resistive membrane, details around 
openings and wind-borne debris protection systems. 

         (b)   The construction documents shall include manufacturer’s installation instructions 
that provide supporting documentation that the proposed penetration and opening details 
described in the construction documents maintain the weather resistance of the exterior 
wall envelope. The supporting documentation shall fully describe the exterior wall system, 
which was tested, where applicable, as well as the test procedure used. 

      (5)   Energy requirements. Details shall include, but are not limited to, insulation 
materials and their R-values; fenestration U-factors and SHGCs; system and equipment 
efficiencies, types, sizes, and controls; duct sealing, insulation and location; and air sealing 
details. 

   (B)   Site plan. The construction documents submitted with the application for permit 
shall be accompanied by a site plan showing, to an engineer’s scale, the size and location of 
new construction and existing structures on the site, distances from lot lines, the 
established street grades and the proposed finished grades and, as applicable, flood hazard 
areas, floodways, and design flood elevations; and it shall be drawn in accordance with an 
accurate boundary line survey. In the case of demolition, the site plan shall show 
construction to be demolished and the location and size of existing structures and 
construction that are to remain on the site or plot. The Building Official is authorized to 
waive or modify the requirement for a site plan when the application for permit is for 
alteration or repair or when otherwise warranted. 

   (C)   Examination of documents. The Building Official shall examine or cause to be 
examined the accompanying construction documents and shall ascertain by such 
examinations whether the construction indicated and described is in accordance with the 
requirements of this chapter and other pertinent laws or ordinances. 

      (1)   Approval of construction documents. When the Building Official issues a permit, the 
construction documents shall be approved, in writing or by stamp, as “Reviewed for Code 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

16 
 

Compliance.” One electronic set of construction documents so reviewed shall be retained 
by the Building Official. The Building Official may request that an approved paper set of 
construction documents be kept at the site of work until a Certificate of Occupancy has 
been issued. 

      (2)   Previous approvals. This chapter shall not require changes in the construction 
documents, construction, or designated occupancy of a structure for which a lawful permit 
has been heretofore issued or otherwise lawfully authorized, and the construction of which 
has been pursued in good faith within 180 days after the effective date of this chapter and 
has not been abandoned.  Approvals made by Charleston County, on behalf of the Town of 
James Island, shall be completed by Charleston County Building Inspection Services.  After 
180 days from issuance of approval by Charleston County, the Building Official may require 
a new application be made to the Town of James Island, and may waive any additional fees, 
in order to issue approval from the Town instead of Charleston County.  This provision 
shall be in effect only during the initial 180-day period after the County is no longer issuing 
reviews and approvals on the Town’s behalf.  After this period, all previous approvals shall 
be submitted as a new application. 

      (3)   Phased approval. The Building Official is authorized to issue a permit for the 
construction of foundations or any other part of a building or structure before the 
construction documents for the whole building or structure have been submitted, provided 
that adequate information and detailed statements have been filed complying with 
pertinent requirements of this chapter. The holder of such permit for the foundation or 
other parts of a building or structure shall proceed at the holder’s own risk with the 
building operation and without assurance that a permit for the entire structure will be 
granted. 

      (4)   Design professional in responsible charge. 

         (a)   General.  

            1.   When it is required that documents be prepared by a registered design 
professional, the Building Official shall be authorized to require the owner to engage and 
designate on the building permit application a registered design professional who shall act 
as the registered design professional in responsible charge. If the circumstances require, 
the owner shall designate a substitute registered design professional in responsible charge 
who shall perform the duties required of the original registered design professional in 
responsible charge. The Building Official shall be notified in writing by the owner if the 
registered design professional in responsible charge is changed or is unable to continue to 
perform the duties. 

            2.   The registered design professional in responsible charge shall be responsible for 
reviewing and coordinating submittal documents prepared by others, including phased and 
deferred submittal items, for compatibility with the design of the building. 

            3.   Where structural observation is required by the IBC, the statement of special 
inspections shall name the individual or firms who are to perform structural observation 
and describe the stages of construction at which structural observation is to occur. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

17 
 

         (b)   Deferred submittals.  

            1.   For the purposes of this section, deferred submittals are defined as those portions 
of the design that are not submitted at the time of the application and that are to be 
submitted to the Building Official within a specified period. 

            2.   Deferral of any submittal items shall have the prior approval of the Building 
Official. The registered design professional in responsible charge shall list the deferred 
submittals on the construction documents for review by the Building Official. 

            3.   Documents for deferred submittal items shall be submitted to the registered 
design professional in responsible charge who shall review them and forward them to the 
Building Official with a notation indicating that the deferred submittal documents have 
been reviewed and been found to be in general conformance to the design of the building. 
The deferred submittal items shall not be installed until the design and submittal 
documents have been approved by the Building Official. 

   (D)   Amend construction documents. Work shall be installed in accordance with the 
approved construction documents, and any changes made during construction that are not 
in compliance with the approved construction documents shall be resubmitted for 
approval as an amended set of construction documents. 

   (E)   Retention of construction documents. One set of approved construction documents 
shall be retained by the Building Official for a period of not less than 180 days from date of 
completion of the permitted work, as required by state, local laws or in accordance with the 
Town records retention schedule. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.07 TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AND USES. 

   (A)   General. The Building Official is authorized to issue a permit for temporary 
structures and temporary occupancy/uses. Such permits shall be limited as to time of 
service but shall not be permitted for more than 180 days. The Building Official is 
authorized to grant extensions for demonstrated cause. 

   (B)   Conformance. Temporary structures and uses shall conform to the structural 
strength, fire safety, means of egress, accessibility, light, ventilation, and sanitary 
requirements of this code as necessary to ensure public health, safety, and general welfare. 

   (C)   Temporary power. The Building Official is authorized to give permission to 
temporarily supply and use power in part of an electric installation before such installation 
has been fully completed and the final certificate of completion has been issued. The part 
covered by the temporary certificate shall comply with the requirements specified for 
temporary lighting, heat, or power in the National Electrical Code. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

18 
 

   (D)   Termination of approval. The Building Official is authorized to terminate such permit 
for a temporary structure or use and to order the temporary structure or use to be 
discontinued. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.08 FEES. 

(A) Payment of fees. A permit shall not be valid until the permit, contractor 
licenselicense verification/registration (if applicable),  and/or business license, and 
other fees as prescribed by law have been paid, nor shall an amendment to a permit 
be released until the additional fees, if any, have been paid. 

 (B)   Contractor LLR License Verification/Registration. Any permit application requiring a 
South Carolina contractor’s license (as prescribed by the South Carolina Labor, Licensing, 
and Registration) shall pay a fee which covers the research required to review the 
licensee's current registration status prior to permit issuance. 

 [1] LLR License Verification/Registration Fee: $10.00 

 [2] Non-LLR Licensed Contractors Verification/Registration Fee: $50.00 

   (CB)   Schedule of permit fees. On buildings, structures, electrical, gas, mechanical, and 
plumbing systems or alterations requiring a permit, a fee for each permit shall be paid as 
required, in accordance with the schedule as established by the governing authority. 

   (DC)   Building permit valuations. The applicant for a permit shall provide an estimated 
permit value at the time of application. Permit valuations shall include total value of work, 
including materials and labor, for which the permit is being issued, such as electrical, gas, 
mechanical, plumbing equipment, and permanent systems. If, in the opinion of the Building 
Official, the valuation is underestimated on the application, the permit shall be denied, 
unless the applicant can show detailed estimates to meet the approval of the Building 
Official. The final building permit valuation shall be set by the Building Official. 

   (D)   Work commencing before permit issuance. Any person who commences any work on 
a building or structure before obtaining the necessary permits shall be subject to a double 
fee. 

   (E)   Related fees. The payment of the fee for the construction, alteration, removal, or 
demolition for work done in connection to or concurrently with the work authorized by a 
permit shall not relieve the applicant or holder of the permit from the payment of other 
fees that are prescribed by law. 

   (F)   Refunds.  

      (1)   There shall be no refund unless it is due to a Town mistake. All refunds caused by a 
Town mistake are to be referred to the Building OfficialTown Administrator for processing. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

19 
 

      (2)   Exceptions: Requests for refunds by the applicant’s mistake may be made up to 
financial close of books (3:304:00 pm) on the day the funds are paid. 

   (G)   Permit fees. Fees shall be as established by the Town of James Island, as set forth 
below in this section. 

Total Valuation Fee 

Total Valuation Fee 

$1,000.00 and less No fee, unless an inspection is required, in which case a permit is 
required and a $75.00$50.00 fee shall be charged 

$1,000.00 to 
$2,000.00 

$75.00$50.00 

$2,001.00 to 
$50,000.00 

$75.00 $50.00 for the first $2,000.00 + $4.50$4.00 per $1,000.00 

$50,001.00 to 
$100,000.00 

$291.00$242.00 for the first $50,000.00 + $4.50$3.75 per 
$1,000.00 

$100,001.00 to 
$300,000.00 

$516.00$429.50 for the first $100,000.00 +$4.00$3.50 per 
$1,000.00 

$300,001.00 to 
$500,000.00 

$1,316.00$1,129.50 for the first $300,000.00 +$3.75$3.35 per 
$1,000.00 

$500,001.00 and up $2,066.00$1,799.50 for the first $500,000.00 + $3.50$3.00 per 
$1,000.00 

  

  

         (b)   Working without permits: Double fee. 

      (3)   Other permit fees. 

  

Permit fee when the contractor is working as a subcontractor for the following activities: 
painting/wallpaper; floor covering, drywall (unless part of fire related assembly), trim, 
cabinets, shelving, countertops, closet systems, and shower glassdoor, and vinyl siding.  

$25.00 

   Exceptions: 

  

   (a)   When permits are issued for work being done as the prime contractor, the fees shall 
be based on construction value as in division (G)(2) above, valuation chart, for the 
appropriate type of work being performed. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

20 
 

   (b)   Prime contractors permitted and performing subcontractor work utilizing their full-
time regular hourly employees will be required to notify the Building Official of what work 
they are self-performing. be issued trade permits with no fee. 

  

      (4)   Manufactured housing permit fees. 

  

For setup on a new or existing site 

$250.00$100.00 

Note: Fees for modular construction as defined by the South Carolina Modular Construction 
Act shall be based upon the fee schedule for permits based on construction valuations. 

  

      (5)   Inspection fees. 

  

(a) Reinspection When a reinspection fee is required, an additional fee 
of $75.00$50.00 will be charged for each inspection. 

(b) Minimum permit or 
inspection fee 

$75.00$50.00 

(c) Floodplain management 
compliance inspection 

$100.00$75.00 

(d) Hazardous occupant 
permits 

$100.00 

(e) Fireworks stand permits $75.00$50.00 

(f) Structural moving permit 
fee 

$100.00 

(g) Demolition permit fee $75.00$50.00 

  

      (6)   Other fees. 

(a) 

Plan review fees:  

One-half permit fee based on construction valuations. 

(b) 

Construction in flood zones/filing fee:  



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

21 
 

$25.00$20.00 

  

Note: If a prime contractor has paid a flood zone filing fee, the subcontractor working for 
the prime contractor will not be charged an additional filing fee. 

(c) 

Fees for replacement of placards shall be 

$25.00 

(d) 

Variance/appeal application fee 

$100.00 

  

Note: Application fees for appeals successfully granted by the Construction Board of 
Adjustment and Appealsthe designated board shall be applied to the required permit or 
plan review fees associated with the appealed project, or if all fees have been paid, the fees 
shall be refunded  reimbursed to the applicant. 

(e) 

Vehicle decal fee 

$6.00/vehicle/set 

(f) 

Annual vehicle 

$3.00 

  

      (7)   Penalties. Where work for which a permit is required by this chapter is started or 
proceeded prior to obtaining said permit, the fees herein specific shall be doubled, but the 
payment of such double fee shall not relieve any persons from fully complying with the 
requirements of this chapter in the execution of work, nor from any other penalties 
prescribed herein. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

Editor’s Note: 

   The specific fees set forth in this section are those of Charleston County Ordinance 1840, 
adopted by the county on January 20, 2015, which was adopted by the town’s Ordinance 
2016-14 on January 19, 2017 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

22 
 

 

§ 150.09 INSPECTIONS. 

   (A)   General. Construction or work for which a permit is required, including safety 

inspections, shall be subject to inspection by the Building Official and such construction or 

work shall remain accessible and exposed for inspection purposes until approved. 

Approval as a result of an inspection shall not be construed to be an approval of a violation 

of the provisions of this chapter or of other ordinances of the Town. Inspections presuming 

to give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of this chapter or of other ordinances of 

the Town shall not be valid. It shall be the duty of the permit applicant to cause the work to 

remain accessible and exposed for inspection purposes. Neither the Building Official nor 

the Town shall be liable for the expense entailed in the removal or replacement of any 

material required to allow inspection. 

   (B)   Preliminary inspection. Before issuing a permit, the Building Official is authorized to 
examine or cause to be examined building, structures, and sites for which an application 
has been filed. 

   (C)   Required inspections. The Building Official, upon notification, shall make the 
inspections set forth in divisions (C)(1) through (C)(12) below. 

      (1)   Footing and foundation inspection. Footing and foundation inspections shall be 
made after excavations for footings are complete and any required reinforcing steel is in 
place. For concrete foundations, any required forms shall be in place prior to inspection. 
Materials for the foundation shall be on the job, except where concrete is ready mixed in 
accordance with ASTM C 94, the concrete need not be on the job. 

      (2)   Concrete slab and under-floor inspection. Concrete slab and under-floor 
inspections shall be made after in-slab or under-floor reinforcing steel and building service 
equipment, conduit, piping accessories and other ancillary equipment items are in place, 
but before any concrete is placed or floor sheathing installed, including the sub floor. 

      (3)   Lowest floor elevation. In flood hazard areas, upon placement of the lowest floor 
including the basement, and prior to further vertical construction, an elevation certificate 
as required in Chapter 151, Town Regulations Concerning Flood Damage Prevention, shall 
be submitted to the Building Official. 

      (4)   Plumbing, mechanical, gas and electrical systems inspection.  

         (a)   Rough inspection of plumbing, mechanical, gas and electrical systems shall be 
made prior to covering or concealment, before fixtures or appliances are set or installed, 
and prior to framing inspection. 

         (b)   Exception: Back-filling of ground-source heat pump loop systems tested in 
accordance with the International Mechanical Code prior to inspection shall be permitted. 

      (5)   Frame and masonry inspection. Framing inspections shall be made after the roof 
deck or sheathing, all framing, fire blocking, bracing and masonry are in place and pipes, 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

23 
 

chimneys, and vents to be concealed are complete and the rough electrical, plumbing, 
heating wires, pipes and ducts are approved. 

      (6) Fire-resistance-rated construction inspection. Where fire-resistance-rated 
construction is required between dwelling units or due to location on property, the 
Building Official shall require an inspection of such construction after all lathing and/or 
wallboard is in place, but before any plaster is applied, or before wall-board joints and 
fasteners are taped and finished. 

      (7)   Reinforced masonry, insulating concrete form (ICF) and conventionally formed 
concrete wall inspection. Reinforced masonry walls, insulating concrete form (ICF) walls 
and conventionally formed concrete walls shall be inspected after plumbing, mechanical, 
and electrical systems are embedded within the walls, reinforcing steel is in place and prior 
to placement of grout or concrete. Inspection shall verify the correct size, location, spacing, 
and lapping of reinforcing. For masonry walls, inspection shall also verify that the location 
of grout cleanouts and size of grout spaces comply with the requirements of this chapter. 

      (8)   Fire-resistant penetrations. Protection of joints and penetrations in fire-resistance-
rated assemblies shall not be concealed from view until inspected and approved. 

      (9)   Energy efficiency inspections. Inspections shall be made to determine compliance 
with the International Energy Conservation Code and shall include, but not be limited to 
inspections for: envelope insulation R and U values, fenestration U value, duct system R 
value, and HVAC and water-heating equipment efficiency. 

      (10)   Other inspections. In addition to the inspections specified above, the Building 
Official is authorized to make or require other inspections of any construction work to 
ascertain compliance with the provisions of this chapter and other laws that are enforced 
by the Building Official. 

      (11)   Special inspections. Special inspections shall be in compliance with the applicable 
provisions of this chapter. 

      (12)   Final inspection. The final inspection shall be made after all work required by the 
applicable permits are completed. 

   (D)   Inspection agencies. The Building Official is authorized to accept reports of approved 
inspection agencies, provided such agencies satisfy the requirements as to qualifications 
and reliability. 

   (E)   Inspection requests. It shall be the duty of the holder of the building permit or their 
duly authorized agent to notify the Building Official when work is ready for inspection. It 
shall be the duty of the permit holder to provide access to and means for inspection of such 
work that are required by this chapter. 

   (F)   Approval required. Work shall not be done beyond the point indicated in each 
successive inspection without first obtaining the approval of the Building Official. The 
Building Official, upon notification, shall make the requested inspections and shall either 
indicate the portion of the construction that is satisfactory as completed, or notify the 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

24 
 

permit holder or his or her agent wherein the same fails to comply with this chapter. Any 
portions that do not comply shall be corrected and such portion shall not be covered or 
concealed until authorized by the Building Official. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.10 CERTIFICATE OF OCCUPANCY. 

   (A)   Use and occupancy.  

      (1)   No building or structure shall be used or occupied, and no change in the existing 
occupancy classification of a building or structure or portion thereof shall be made until the 
Building Official has issued a certificate of occupancy therefore as provided herein. 
Issuance of a certificate of occupancy shall not be construed as an approval of a violation of 
the provisions of this code or of other ordinances of the Town. Certificates presuming to 
give authority to violate or cancel the provisions of this chapter or other ordinances of the 
Town shall not be valid. 

      (2)   Exception: Certificates of occupancy are not required for work exempt from 
permits. 

   (B)   Change in use. Changes in the character or use of an existing structure shall not be 
made except in compliance with this chapter. 

   (C)   Certificate issued. After the Building Official Inspects the building or structure and 
finds no violations of the provisions of this chapter or other laws that are enforced by the 
Department of Building Services, the Building Official shall issue a certificate of occupancy 
or certificate of completion that contains the following: 

      (1)   The permit number. 

      (2)   Permit issue date. 

      (3)   The address and tax map (TMS) number or property identification description 
(PID) of the structure. 

      (4)   The name of the contractor or permit holder. 

      (5)   A statement that describes the structure or portion thereof has been inspected for 
compliance with the requirements of this chapter. 

      (6)   The name of the Building Official. 

      (7)   The type of construction if applicable. 

      (8)   The design occupant load if applicable. 

      (9)   Flood zone information. 

      (10)   Any special stipulations and conditions of the building permit. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

25 
 

   (D)   Temporary occupancy. The Building Official is authorized to issue a temporary 
certificate of occupancy before the completion of the entire work covered by the permit, 
provided that such portion or portions shall be occupied safely. The Building Official shall 
set a time period during which the temporary certificate of occupancy is valid. 

   (E)   Revocation. The Building Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a 
certificate of occupancy or completion issued under the provisions of this chapter 
wherever the certificate is issued in error, or on the basis of incorrect information supplied, 
or where it is determined that the building or structure or portion thereof is in violation of 
any ordinance or regulation or any of the provisions of this chapter. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.11 SERVICE UTILITIES. 

   (A)   Connection of service utilities. No person shall make connections from a utility, 
source of energy, fuel or power to any building or system that is regulated by this chapter 
for which a permit is required, until released by the Building Official. 

   (B)   Temporary connection. The Building Official shall have the authority to authorize the 
temporary connection of the building or system to the utility source of energy, fuel or 
power. 

   (C)   Authority to disconnect service utilities. The Building Official shall have the authority 
to authorize disconnection of utility service to the building, structure or system regulated 
by this chapter and the codes referenced herein in case of emergency where necessary to 
eliminate an immediate hazard to life or property. The Building Official shall notify the 
serving utility, and wherever possible the owner and occupant of the building, structure, or 
service system of the decision to disconnect prior to taking such action. If not notified prior 
to disconnecting, the owner or occupant of the building, structure or service system shall 
be notified in writing, as soon as practical thereafter. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, § 150.99 

 

§ 150.12 LICENSING AND REGISTRATION. 

   (A)   Definitions. For the purpose of this section, the following definitions shall apply 
unless the context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning. 

      BURGLAR ALARM SYSTEM. The installation service, maintenance or alteration of a 
system that detects intrusion, burglary, and breaking or entering but does not include 
home health care signaling devices. 

      EMPLOYEE. A regularly employed, qualified tradespersons on the premises owned or 
operated by the applicant for a permit. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

26 
 

      FIRE ALARM SYSTEM. A system or portion of a combination system consisting of 
components and circuits arranged to monitor and announce the status of fire alarm or 
supervisory signal-initiating devices and to initiate the appropriate response to those 
signals. 

      FIRE SPRINKLER SYSTEM. A system of overhead or underground piping, or both, to 
protect the interior or exterior of a building or structure from fire where the primary 
extinguishing agent is water and designed in accordance with fire protection engineering 
standards. Fire protection sprinkler systems include the following types: water based or 
wet-pipe systems, water foam systems, dry-pipe systems, preaction systems, residential 
systems, deluge systems, combined dry-pipe and preaction systems, non-freeze systems, 
and circulating closed loop systems. 

      LOW VOLTAGE. A system consisting of an isolating power supply, the low-voltage 
luminaries, and associated equipment that are all identified for the use. The output circuits 
of the power supply are rated for not more than 25 amperes and operate at 30 volts (42.4 
volts peak) or less under all load conditions. 

      OWNER. The property owner, owner’s parents, sisters and brothers, children of the 
owner and owner’s sisters and brothers, and those married to these family members; 
however, when actual hardship is caused by these limitations, the Building Official may 
waive these requirements. 

      SIGN OR OUTDOOR ADVERTISING SIGN. Any outdoor sign, display, device, figure, 
painting, drawing, message, plaque, poster, billboard, or other thing which is designed, 
intended or used to advertise or inform, any part of the advertising or informative contents 
of which is visible from any place on the main traveled way of any road, street or highway 
for the purpose of this chapter. 

      SITE CONSTRUCTION WORK. Work is considered the act or process or altering the 
natural cover or topography and alters the quality or quantity of stormwater runoff. 

      SWIMMING POOLS. Any structure intended for swimming, recreational bathing or 
wading that contains water over 24 inches (610 mm) deep. This includes in-ground, above-
ground and on-ground pools; hot tubs; spas and fixed-in-place wading pools. 

      TOWN CONTRACTOR'S LICENSELICENSE VERIFICATION. Duty of permit issuer to verify 
aAuthorization for a holder of a South Carolina license or registration issued by the South 
Carolina Contractors' Licensing Board, the South Carolina Residential Builders 
Commission, or the South Carolina Manufactured Housing Board, or an individual or 
company that installs, alters or repairs signs, low-volt electrical systems, or elevators to 
contract and/or perform construction work in the Town within the limits prescribed by the 
South Carolina Code of Laws or as established by Town ordinance. 

      TOWN CONTRACTOR'S REGISTRATION. Authorization for a holder of a South Carolina 
registration issued by the South Carolina Residential Builders Commission or an individual 
or company that installs, alters or repairs swimming pools, signs, low-volt electrical 
systems, elevators or landscaping/site development, to contract and/or perform 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

27 
 

construction work in the tTown within the limits prescribed by the South Carolina Code of 
Laws or as established by the town ordinance. 

   (B)   Town license or registration requiredLicense verification required. Before any 
person shall engage in the business of construction, alteration or repairs in any building or 
structure in the Town, he or she must obtain a license or registration from the Ttown as 
requiredappropriate entity as required by law. It shall be the duty of every contractor or 
builder who shall make contracts for erection or construction or repair of a building for 
which a permit is required in the Town, and every contractor or builder making such 
contracts and subletting the same or any part thereof, to secure a license or registration as 
provided herein. 

      (1)   Anyone required to be licensed or registered by the Town as South Carolina LLR 
shall present a copy of his or her state license or registration, if required by state statutes. If 
the application is satisfactory, a Ttown license or registration shall be issued to the 
applicant within the limitations of the state license or registration is required by state 
statutes, or as established by the Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeal and upon 
payment of the required license and registration fee. 

      (2)   Plumbing and electrical journeymen are limited to working only under a licensed 
plumber or licensed electrician and shall not be issued permits. 

   (C)   Grounds for revocation; procedure for filing charges. The Construction Board of 
Adjustment and AppealsLicensing Official for the Town may revoke the license or 
registrationpermits of any building contractor who is found guilty of fraud or deceit in 
obtaining a license or registration, or gross negligence, incompetence, or misconduct in 
conducting his business as a contractor. Any person, who prefers charges of gross 
negligence, incompetence, or misconduct against any contractor licensed or registered 
under the provisions of this division, shall submit such charges in affidavit form and file 
same with the Licensing OfficialSecretary of the Construction Board of Adjustment and 
Appeals. 

   (D)   License identification. All holders of a license or registration in the town shall display 
a current license or registration identification decal issued by the Building Official. This 
decal shall be displayed on the left and right sides of work vehicle(s). 

   (E)   Limitations of work by owner. The performance of any kind of construction, 
alteration, or repair upon any property by the owner thereof shall be contingent on 
verification by the owner of his or her working knowledge of the kind of construction to be 
done prior to issuing a permit, such verification to be accomplished by such means as 
deemed sufficient by the Building Official. In the event the owner does not qualify as to the 
knowledge required to perform the work, the owner must then have a licensed or 
registered contractor secure a permit and do the work. 

   (F)   Residential work by owner. Pursuant to S.C. Code, § 40-59-260 as amended, the 
following provisions shall apply to homeowners obtaining permits to perform 
construction-related work on their own homes: 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

28 
 

      (1)   The owner shall do the construction-related work himself, with his own employees, 
or with licensed or registered contractors or individuals; 

      (2)   The structure, group of structures, or appurtenances, including the improvements, 
shall be intended for the owner's sole occupancy or occupancy by the owner's family, and 
shall not be intended for sale or rent for a minimum of two years after completion or 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy; 

      (3)   The term “sale” or “rent” includes an arrangement by which an owner received 
compensation in money, provisions, chattel, or labor from the occupancy, or the transfer of 
the property or the structures on the property; 

      (4)   The general public shall not have access to this structure;  

      (5)   This section does not exempt a person who is employed by the owner and who acts 
in the capacity of a builder of any kind; 

      (6)   The homeowner shall personally appear and sign the building permit application 
and shall provide the Town of James Island with a disclosure statement provided by the 
Building Official or his designee; and 

      (7)   The owner shall promptly file as a matter of public record a notice with the Register 
of Deeds, indexed under the owner’s name in the grantor’s index, stating that the 
residential building or structure was constructed by the owner as an unlicensed builder. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.13 UNSAFE DWELLINGS AND EQUIPMENT. 

   (A)   Authority. The provisions of this section are adopted pursuant to “Building Code” by 
S.C. Code § 31-15-310 for municipalities in counties and S.C. Code § 6-9-10. 

   (B)   General. Structures or existing equipment that are or hereafter become unsafe, 
unsanitary or deficient because of inadequate means of egress facilities, inadequate light 
and ventilation or which constitute a fire hazard or are otherwise dangerous to human life 
or the public welfare, or that involve illegal or improper occupancy or inadequate 
maintenance, shall be deemed an unsafe condition. Unsafe structures shall be taken down 
and removed or made safe, as the Building Official deems necessary and as provided for in 
this section. 

      (1)   Investigation and filing of a complaint. Whenever it appears to the Building Official 
(on his own motion) that any dwelling is unfit for human habitation, the Building Official 
shall, if his preliminary investigation discloses a basis for such charges, issue and cause to 
be served upon the owner of and all parties in interest in such dwelling a complaint stating 
the charges in that respect and containing a notice that a hearing will be held before the 
Building Official or his designated agent at a place therein fixed not less than ten days nor 
more than 30 days after the serving of such complaint; that the owner and parties in 
interest shall be given the right to file an answer to the complaint and to appear in person 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

29 
 

or otherwise and give testimony at the place and time fixed in the complaint; and that the 
rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law or equity shall not be controlling in hearings 
before the Building Official; 

      (2)   Powers of the Building Official. The Building Official may exercise such powers as 
may be necessary or convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of 
this section, including the following powers in addition to others herein granted: 

         (a)   To investigate the dwelling conditions in the Town in order to determine which 
dwellings therein are unfit for human habitation; 

         (b)   To administer oaths and affirmations, examine witnesses and receive evidence; 

         (c)   To enter upon premises for the purpose of making examinations, provided such 
entries be made in such manner as to cause the least possible inconvenience to the persons 
in possession; 

         (d)   To appoint and fix the duties of such officers, agents and employees as deemed 
necessary to carry out the purposes of this chapter; and 

         (e)   To delegate any of his functions and powers to such officers and agents as he may 
designate. 

      (3)   Service of complaints or orders; posting and filing copies. Complaints or orders 
issued by the Building Official pursuant to this chapter shall be served upon persons either 
personally or by registered mail, but if the whereabouts of such persons is unknown and 
cannot be ascertained by the Building Official in the exercise of reasonable diligence and 
the Building Official shall make to that effect, then the serving of such complaint or order 
upon such persons may be made by publishing it once each week for two consecutive 
weeks in a newspaper printed and published in the municipality or, in the absence of such 
newspaper, in one printed and published in Charleston County and circulating in the Town 
of James Island.  A copy of such complaint or order shall be posted in a conspicuous place 
on the premises affected by the complaint or order. A copy of such complaint or order shall 
also be filed with the clerk of the Magistrate’s Court in which the dwelling is located and 
such filing of the complaint or order shall have the same force and effect as other lis 
pendens notices provided by law. 

      (4)   Determination of Building Official. 

         (a)   That if, after such notice and hearing, the Building Official determines that the 
dwelling under consideration is unfit for human habitation he shall state in writing his 
findings of fact in support of such determination and shall issue and cause to be served 
upon the owner thereof an order: 

            1.   If the repair, alteration or improvement of the dwelling can be made at a 
reasonable cost in relation to the value of the dwelling (as determined by the Building 
Official), requiring the owner, within the time specified in the order, to repair, alter or 
improve such dwelling to render it fit for human habitation or to vacate and close the 
dwelling as a human habitation; or 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

30 
 

            2.   If the repair, alteration, or improvement of the dwelling cannot be made at a 
reasonable cost in relation to the value of the dwelling (as determined by the Building 
Official), requiring the owner, within the time specified in the order, to remove or demolish 
such dwelling; 

         (b)   That, if the owner fails to comply with an order to repair, alter or improve or to 
vacate and close the dwelling, the Building Official may cause such dwelling to be repaired, 
altered or improved or to be vacated and closed; that the Building Official may cause to be 
posted on the main entrance of any dwelling so closed, a placard with the following words: 
'This building is unfit for human habitation; the use or occupation of this building for 
human habitation is prohibited and unlawful"; 

         (c)   That, if the owner fails to comply with an order to remove or demolish the 
dwelling, the Building Official may cause such dwelling to be removed or demolished; and 

         (d)   That the amount of the cost of such repairs, alterations, or improvements, 
vacating and closing, or removal or demolition by the Building Official shall be a lien 
against the real property upon which such cost was incurred and shall be collectible in the 
same manner as municipal taxes. 

   (C)   Unsafe conditions. 

      (1)   A vacant structure that is not secured against entry is considered an unsafe 
structure. 

      (2)   The building, structure or portion thereof constitutes a fire hazard having received 
damage by fire, flood, earthquake, wind, or other cause to the extent that the structural 
integrity of the building or structure is less than it was prior to the damage and is less than 
the minimum requirement established by this chapter, for new buildings. 

      (3)   Any accessory structure and exterior appendage or portion of the building or 
structure, shall be maintained and kept in good repair and sound structural condition and 
must be securely fastened, attached, or anchored such that it is capable of resisting wind, 
seismic or similar loads must meet the requirements of this chapter. 

      (4)   If for any reason the building, structure or portion thereof is manifestly unsafe or 
unsanitary for the purpose for which it is being used. 

      (5)   The building, structure, or portion thereof as a result of decay, deterioration or 
dilapidation is likely to fully or partially collapse. 

      (6)   The building, structure or portion thereof has been constructed or maintained in 
violation of specific requirements of this chapter. 

      (7)   Any building, structure, or portion thereof that is in such a condition as to 
constitute a public nuisance. 

      (8)   The stress in any material, member, or portion thereof, due to all imposed loads 
including dead load exceeds the stresses allowed in this chapter for new buildings. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

31 
 

      (9)   Any means of egress or portion thereof, such as but not limited to fire doors, closing 
devices and fire resistive ratings, is in disrepair or in a dilapidated or nonworking condition 
such that the means of egress could be rendered unsafe. 

      (10)   Roofs shall be structurally sound and maintained in a safe manner and have no 
defects which might admit rain or cause dampness in the walls or interior portion of the 
building. 

      (11)   Every inside and outside stair, porch and any appurtenance thereof shall be safe 
to use and capable of supporting the load that normal use may cause to be placed thereon, 
shall be kept in sound condition, and good repair. 

   (D)   Minimum standards. 

      (1)   Windows and doors. Every window and door shall be substantially weather-tight, 
watertight and rodent-proof, and shall be kept in sound working condition and good repair. 

      (2)   Wood surfaces and masonry joints. All exterior wood surfaces, other than decay 
resistant woods, shall be protected from the elements and decay by painting or other 
protective covering or treatment. All masonry joints shall be sufficiently tuck pointed to 
insure water and air tightness. 

      (3)   Skirting. Existing skirting shall be maintained free from broken or missing sections, 
pieces or cross members. Skirting shall be securely attached and sized from the ground to 
the lower outside perimeter of the structure. 

      (4)   Floors, walls, and ceilings. Every floor, interior wall and ceiling shall be 
substantially rodent proof, shall be kept in sound condition and good repair and shall be 
safe to use and capable of supporting the load which normal use may cause to be placed 
thereon. 

      (5)   Bathroom. Every bathroom shall comply with the light and ventilation 
requirements for habitable rooms except that no window or skylight shall be required in 
adequately ventilated bathrooms equipped with an approved ventilation system. 

      (6)   Bathroom doors. Privacy of bathrooms shall be afforded by doors complete with 
privacy hardware intended by the manufacturer for that purpose. 

      (7)   Electric lights and outlets. Where there is electric service available to the building 
structure, every habitable room or space shall contain at least two separate and remote 
receptacle outlets. Bedrooms shall have, in addition, at least one wall switch controlled 
lighting outlet, in kitchens, two separate circuits and controlled lighting outlets shall be 
provided (receptacles rendered inaccessible by appliances fastened in place or by 
appliances occupying dedicated space shall not be considered as these required outlets) 
and a wall or ceiling lighting outlet controlled by a wall switch shall be provided. Every hall, 
water closet compartment, bathroom, laundry room or furnace room shall contain at least 
one ceiling-mounted or wall-mounted lighting outlet in every bathroom and laundry room 
there shall be provided at least one receptacle outlet. Any new bathroom receptacle outlet 
shall have ground fault circuit interrupter protection. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

32 
 

      (8)   Light on public halls and stairways. Every electrical outlet and fixture, and all 

electrical wiring and equipment shall be installed, maintained and connected to a source of 

electric power in accordance with the provisions of the electrical code of the Town of James 

Island.  

     (9)   Garbage disposal. Every owner or tenant shall dispose of all his garbage and any 

other organic waste which might provide food for rodents and all rubbish in a clean and 

sanitary manner. 

   (E)   Additional minimum residential standards. 

      (1)   General. No person shall occupy as owner-occupant or let or sublet to another for 
occupancy any dwelling or dwelling unit designed or intended to be used for the purpose of 
living, sleeping, cooking, or eating therein, nor shall any vacant dwelling building be 
permitted to exist which does not comply with the following requirements. 

         (a)   Sanitary facilities. Every dwelling unit shall contain not less than a kitchen sink, 
lavatory, tub or shower, and a water closet all in good working condition and properly 
connected to an approved water and sewer system. Every plumbing fixture and water and 
waste pipe shall be properly installed and maintained in good sanitary working condition 
free from defects, leaks, and obstructions. 

         (b)   Location of sanitary facilities. All required plumbing fixtures shall be located 
within the dwelling unit and be accessible to the occupants of same. The water closet, tub 
or shower and lavatory shall be located in a room affording privacy to the user and such 
room shall have a minimum floor space of 30 square feet (2.8 m) with no dimension less 
than four feet. (1219 mm). Bathrooms shall be accessible from habitable rooms, hallways, 
corridors or other protected or enclosed area. 

         (c)   Hot and cold water supply. Every dwelling unit shall have an adequate supply of 
both cold and hot water connected to the kitchen sink, lavatory and tub or shower. All 
water shall be supplied through an approved distribution system connected to a potable 
water supply. 

         (d)   Water heating facilities. Every dwelling unit shall have water heating facilities 
which are property installed and maintained in a safe and good working condition and are 
capable of heating water to such a temperature as to permit an adequate amount of water 
to be drawn at every required kitchen sink, lavatory basin, bathtub or shower at a 
temperature of not less than 120°F (49°C). Such water heating facilities shall be capable of 
meeting the requirements when the dwelling or dwelling unit heating facilities required 
under the provisions of this chapter are not in operation. Apartment houses may use a 
centralized water heating facility capable of heating an adequate amount of water as 
required by the International Plumbing Code to not less than 120°F (49°C). 

         (e)   Heating facilities. Every dwelling unit shall have permanent heating facilities 
which are properly installed, are maintained in safe and good working conditions, and are 
capable of safely and adequately heating all habitable rooms and bathrooms. Where a 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

33 
 

central heating system is not provided, each dwelling unit shall be provided with facilities 
whereby heating appliances may be connected. 

         (f)   Kitchen facilities. Every dwelling unit shall contain a kitchen equipped with the 
following minimum facilities: 

            1.   Food preparation surfaces impervious to water and free of defects which could 
trap food or liquid. 

            2.   Shelving, cabinets, or drawers for the storage of food and cooking and eating 
utensils, all of which shall be maintained in good repair. 

            3.   Freestanding or permanently installed cook stove. Portable electric cooking 
equipment shall not fulfill this requirement. Portable cooking equipment employing flame 
shall be prohibited. 

            4.   Mechanical refrigeration equipment for the storage of perishable foodstuffs. 
Exception: Nothing herein shall preclude a written agreement between the owner and 
tenant that the tenant will furnish mechanical refrigeration equipment and/or a cook stove 
as required in this section. It shall be an affirmative defense available to an owner charged 
with a violation of this section if such an agreement exists. 

         (g)   Smoke detector and/or carbon monoxide systems. Every dwelling unit shall be 
provided with an approved listed detector, installed in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
recommendations and listing. When activated, the detector shall provide an audible alarm. 
The detector shall be tested in accordance with and meet the requirements of UL 217, 
single and multiple station smoke detectors. 

      (2)   Minimum requirements for light and ventilation. 

         (a)   Windows.  

            1.   Every habitable room shall have at least one window or skylight facing directly to 
the outdoors. The minimum total window area, measured between stops, for every 
habitable room shall be 8% of the floor area of such room. Whenever wall or other portions 
of structures face a window of any such room and such light-obstruction structures are 
located less than three feet (914 mm) from the window and extend to a level above that of 
the ceiling of the room, such a window shall not be deemed to face directly to the required 
minimum total window area. Whenever the only window in a room is a skylight-type 
window in the top of such room, the total window area of such skylight shall equal at least 
15% of the total floor area of such room. 

            2.   Exception: Where adequate artificial light is provided and controlled by a wall 
switch. 

         (b)   Ventilation. The total of openable window area in every habitable space shall 
equal to at least 45% of the minimum window area or shall have other approved, 
equivalent ventilation. Year round mechanically ventilating conditioned air systems may be 
substituted for windows, as required herein, in rooms other than rooms used for sleeping 
purposes. Window type air-conditioning units are not included in this exception. Where 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

34 
 

mechanical year round ventilation is not provided screens over opening must be in good 
working condition. Every habitable room shall have at least one window or skylight which 
can be easily opened or such other device as will adequately ventilate the room. 

      (3)   Minimum dwelling space requirements. 

         (a)   Required space in dwelling unit. Every dwelling unit shall contain at least 150 
square feet (13.9 m2) of floor space for the first occupant thereof and at least an additional 
100 square feet (9.3 m2) of floor area per additional occupant. The floor area shall be 
calculated on the basis of the total area of all habitable rooms. 

         (b)   Required space in sleeping rooms. In every dwelling unit, every room occupied for 
sleeping purposes by one occupant shall contain at least 70 square feet of floor space, and 
every room occupied for sleeping purposes by more than one occupant shall contain at 
least 50 square feet (4.6 m2) of floor space for each occupant thereof. 

         (c)   Minimum ceiling height. Habitable (space) rooms other than kitchens, storage 
rooms and laundry rooms shall have a ceiling height of not less than seven feet (2134 mm). 
Hallways, corridors, bathrooms, water closet rooms and kitchens shall have a ceiling height 
of not less than seven feet (2134 mm) measured to the lowest projection from the ceiling. If 
any room in a building has a sloping ceiling, the prescribed ceiling height for the room is 
required in only one-half the room area. No portion of the room measuring less than five 
feet (1524 mm) from the finished floor to the finished ceiling shall be included in any 
computation of the minimum room area. 

         (d)   Occupancy of dwelling unit below grade. No basement or cellar space shall be 
used as a habitable room or dwelling unit unless: 

            1.   The floor and walls are impervious to leakage of underground and surface runoff 
water and are insulated against dampness; 

            2.   The total window area in each room is equal to at least the minimum window 
area size as required; 

            3.   Such required minimum window area is located entirely above the grade of the 
ground adjoining such window area; and 

            4.   The total of openable window area in each room is equal to at least the minimum 
as required, except where some other device affording adequate ventilation is supplied. 

      (4)   Sanitation requirements. 

         (a)   Sanitation. Every owner of a multiple dwelling shall be responsible for 
maintaining in a clean and sanitary condition the shared or common areas of the dwelling 
and premises thereof. 

         (b)   Cleanliness. Every tenant of a dwelling unit shall keep in a clean and sanitary 
condition that part of the dwelling, dwelling unit and premises thereof which he occupies, 
or which is provided for his particular use. 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

35 
 

         (c)   Extermination. Every owner of a single dwelling building and every owner of a 
building containing two or more dwelling units shall be responsible for the extermination 
of any insects, rodents, wood-destroying organisms, or other pests within the building or 
premises. 

      (5)   Rooming houses. 

         (a)   Compliance exceptions. No person shall operate a rooming house or shall occupy 
or let to another for occupancy any rooming unit in any rooming house, except in 
compliance with the provisions of every section of this chapter. 

         (b)   Water closet, lavatory and bath facilities. At least one flush water closet, lavatory 
basin, and bathtub or shower, properly connected to a water and sewer system and in good 
working condition, shall be supplied for each four rooms within a rooming house wherever 
such facilities are shared. All such facilities shall be located on the floor they serve within 
the dwelling so as to be reasonably accessible from a common hall or passageway to all 
persons sharing such facilities. 

         (c)   Water heater required. Every lavatory basin and bathtub or shower shall be 
supplied with hot water at all times. 

         (d)   Minimum floor area for sleeping purposes. Every room occupied for sleeping 
purposes by one person shall contain at least 70 square feet (6.5 m2) of floor space and 
every room occupied for sleeping purposes by more than one person shall contain at least 
50 square feet (4.6 m2) of floor space for each occupant thereof. 

         (e)   Exit requirements. Every rooming unit shall have safe, unobstructed means of 
egress leading to safe and open space at ground level, as required by the building code. 

         (f)   Sanitary conditions. The operator of every rooming house shall be responsible for 
the sanitary maintenance of all walls, floors, and ceilings, and for maintenance of a sanitary 
condition in every other part of the rooming house, and shall be further responsible for the 
sanitary maintenance of the entire premises where the entire structure or building is 
leased or occupied by the operator. 

            1.   The building shall be ordered repaired in accordance with this chapter or 
demolished in accordance with procedures as established within this chapter. 

            2.   If the building or structure poses an immediate hazard to life or to the safety of 
the public it shall be ordered vacated immediately. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) Penalty, see § 150.99 

 

§ 150.14 BOARD DESIGNATED TO HEAR APPEALS OF DECISIONS MADE BY THE BUILDING 
OFFICIAL.CONSTRUCTION BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT AND APPEALS. 

   (A)   General. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations 
made by the Building Official relative to the licensing and/or application and interpretation 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

36 
 

of this chapter, the Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) shall be the designated board of officials 
appointed by the governing body, as established in Section 153.047 of the Zoning and Land 
Development Ordinance.re shall be and is hereby created a Construction Board of 
Adjustment and Appeals. The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall be 
appointed by the governing body and shall hold office at its pleasure. The Board shall adopt 
rules of procedure for conducting its business. 

      (1) Decision-making authority. The Town of James Island The Charleston County Board 
of Zoning AppealsConstruction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall have final decision-
making authority on the following matters: 

         (a)   Appeals of orders, decision or determination made by the Building Official.; 

         (b)   Appeals of revocation of Llicensing or registration of building contractors; 

         (c)   Adjustments and appeals for stormwater management utility fees; and 

         (d)   Appeals and variances of flood plain management in reference to Chapter 151 of 
the Code of Ordinances of the Town of James Island entitled “Town Regulations Concerning 
Flood Damage Prevention”. 

         (ce)   The Town of James Island Board of Zoning Appeals Charleston County 
Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals (“Board”) does not act in a review or 
recommending capacity. 

      (2)   Officers, rules, meetings and minutes. The composition of the Board, rules, meeting 

and minutes shall be those set forth in Section 153.27 of the Zoning and Land Development 

Regulations Ordinance.  In cases of appeal, the Building Official shall serve as the Town’s 

designee who shall provide a case number, a staff report documenting the facts of the case 

and present  that report and any other pertinent information to the Board. The Charleston 

CountyTown of James Island  Construction Board of Adjustments and Appeals shall elect 

one of its members as Chairperson and another as Vice-Chairperson, both who shall serve 

for one year or until re-election or a successor is elected and qualified. The Charleston 

CountyTown of James Island Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall adopt 

rules and procedures in accordance with the provision of this chapter and shall keep a 

record of its resolutions, findings and determinations, all of which, upon approval, shall be 

filed immediately in the office of Building Official. Such records shall be available for public 

review and inspection during normal business hours. The Building Official shall be a non-

voting member of the Board and shall serve as the Secretary. Meetings of the Board shall be 

at the call of the Chairperson or at such other times as a majority of the Board may 

determine. Public notice of all meetings of the Board shall be provided by at least electronic 

deliver to the major news television stations, the major newspaper of general circulation, 

the major radio communication companies, and several individual town/jurisdiction 

papers. A quorum for the transaction of official business by the Board shall consist of six 

members. The decision of the Board shall be final unless the petitioner appeals the decision 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

37 
 

to the circuit court in Charleston County within 30 days after the date of the decision of the 

Board.  

   (B)   Adjustments and appeals.  

      (1)   The Board of Zoning Appeals  Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall 
hear and decide requests for adjustment and appeals meeting all of the following 
provisions: 

         (a)   Decisions on which an adjustment or appeal is requested shall be those made by 
the Building Official or his designee. 

         (b)   The Board of Zoning Appeals Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals is 
authorized to hear requests for adjustment or appeal to this code and other codes, 
regulations, or ordinances as specifically authorized in the Code of Ordinances, Town of 
James Island, South Carolina. or determined by the Building Official to be within the scope 
of the Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals. 

      (2)   Right to appeal. Appeals of administrative orders, decisions or determinations 
causing the appeal or variance as required may be filed by the owner of the property 
affected by the decision or his or her duly authorized representative, or by any person with 
a substantial interest in a decision of the Building Official. 

      (3)   Application filing; timing. Requests for a hearing for an adjustment or appeal of a 
decision shall be in writing, and shall be received in the office of the Building Official within 
20 calendar days of notice of the decision causing the filing of the adjustment or appeal.  
The case will be added to the next regularly scheduled Board of Zoning Appeals meeting.  
Proper notification requirements and timelines shall be met; if they are not able to be met 
then the case will be scheduled for the next available scheduled meeting date. 

   (C)   Decisions. The decisions of the Board of Zoning Appeals  Construction Board of 
Adjustment and Appeals shall be final unless the applicant appeals the decision to the 
circuit court in Charleston County within 320 days after the date of the decision of the 
Board of Zoning AppealsConstruction Board of Adjustment and Appeals. 

   (D)   Limitations on authority. An application for appeal shall be based on a claim that the 
true intent of this chapter or the rules legally adopted thereunder have been incorrectly 
interpreted, the provisions of this chapter do not fully apply or an equally good or better 
form of construction is proposed. The Board shall have no authority to waive requirements 
of this chapter. 

   (E)   Qualifications. The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall consist of 
members who are qualified by experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to 
building construction and are not employees of the jurisdiction 

. 

   (F)   Composition. The Charleston County Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals 
shall consist of eleven members appointed by Charleston County Council for a term of four 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

38 
 

years each. The term of office shall be staggered so no more than one-third of the Board is 
appointed or replaced in any year. Members shall serve without compensation for the 
county. Any vacancy which may occur on the Board shall be filled by County Council 
appointing a successor to serve out the unexpired term of the vacancy. No member of the 
Board may hold an elected public office in Charleston County. The eleven member Board 
shall consist of the following: 

      (1)   Two must be registered architects; 

      (2)   One must be a registered structural engineer; 

      (3)   One must be a registered mechanical engineer; 

      (4)   Two must be registered civil engineers; 

      (5)   One must be a licensed general contractor; 

      (6)   One must be a mechanical contractor; 

      (7)   One must be a licensed electrical contractor; 

      (8)   One must be a licensed plumbing contractor; and 

      (9)   One licensed residential home builder. 

   (G)   Established; composition. The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals 
appointed by County CouncilTown Council shall consist of 11 appointed members and the 
Building Official shall be a non-voting member of the Board and shall serve as the 
Secretary. All appointments shall be for a term of four years. The terms of office shall be 
staggered so no more then one-third of the Board is appointed or replaced in any year. 
Vacancies shall be filled for an unexpired term in the manner in which original 
appointments are required to be made. Absence of a member in excess of three consecutive 
meetings may render any such member liable to immediate removal from office. 

   (H)   Quorum. Six members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. 

   (I)   Establish rules for the carrying out responsibilities. The Construction Board of 
Adjustment and Appeals shall establish rules, as appropriate, for carrying out these 
assigned responsibilities. 

   (J)   The decisions of the Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall be final 
unless the petitioner appeals the decision to the circuit court in Charleston County within 
20 days after the date of the decision of the Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals. 

   (K)   Additional responsibilities. 

      (1)   Licensing. 

         (a)   Ground for revocation of town license. The Board may revoke the license or 
registration of any building contractor who is found guilty of fraud or deceit in obtaining a 
license, or gross negligence incompetence, or gross misconduct in conducting his business 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

39 
 

as a contractor. Any person who alleges gross negligence, incompetence, or gross 
misconduct against any contractor licensed or registered hereunder shall submit such 
allegation in affidavit form and file the same with the Secretary of the Board. 

         (ab)   Reissuance of revoked license or registration.  The Licensing Official or Building 
Official may revoke a Town Contractor license.  The Board may consider aappeals request 
to reissue the Ttown licenses of any person whose license or registration has been revoked 
six months after the date of revocation, if a majority of the members of the Board vote in 
favor of such reissuance for reasons the Board deems sufficient. If the reissuance is denied, 
the reissuance can be reconsidered at six-month intervals thereafter. 

         (c)   Probation. The Board may place any building contractor on probation for a 
specified period of time in lieu of reissuing a revokeding his or her Ttown license or 
registration when allegations presented do not warrant revocation by the majority of the 
Board for whatever reasons the Board deems sufficient. 

         (d)   Hearing and decision of charges. Grounds detailed in division (K)(1)(a) above, 
unless they are dismissed without hearing by the Board as unfounded or trivial, shall be 
heard based on testimony under oath and a determination shall be made by the Board 
within three months after the date of the hearing. The accused may cross examine 
witnesses against him and produce evidence or witnesses in his or her defense. A written 
record shall be made of the proceedings. If, after such hearing, the Board, by majority, votes 
in favor of finding the accused guilty of any fraud or deceit in obtaining his license or 
registration, or gross negligence, incompetence, or gross misconduct in conducting his 
business as a contractor, his or her town license or registration will be revoked. 

      (2)   Stormwater management. The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall 
hear and decide requests for stormwater management utility adjustment and appeals as 
follows: 

         (a)   The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall hear the petition to 
determine if the annual stormwater management utility fee does not apportion the fee with 
approximate equality, based upon a reasonable basis of classification and with due regard 
to the benefits conferred by providing stormwater management services to the utility 
customer and the requirements of public health, safety or welfare. The determination of the 
annual fee by the Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals is entitled to presumption 
of correctness and the applicant has the burden of rebutting the presumption of 
correctness. 

         (b)   The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall render a written 
decision on each application that is heard, and such written decision shall be issued within 
20 calendar days from the day the Board heard the application. The decision of the 
Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall contain findings of fact and 
conclusions of law and the decision shall be sent to the petitioner by first class mail. 

         (c)   Prior to bringing an action to contest an annual fee, the petitioner shall pay to the 
treasurer not less than the amount of the annual stormwater fee which he admits in good 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

40 
 

faith owes. Payment of the fee shall not be deemed an admission that the annual fee was 
due and shall not prejudice the applicant in bringing an action as provided herein. 

      (3)   Flood plain management. The Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals shall 
hear and decide requests for appeals and variances as referenced in the current ordinance, 
entitled “The Flood Damage Prevention and Protection.” 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 150.15 VIOLATIONS. 

   (A)   Violations. 

      (1)   The violation of any of the codes or regulations adopted pursuant to the provisions 

of this chapter is hereby declared to be a misdemeanor, and any person violating such 

codes or regulations shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall 

be punished in accordance with this section. In case of any violation of or proposed 

violation of the codes or regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter, the Building Official 

or other appropriate authority of the Town, or any adjacent or neighboring property owner 

who would be damaged by such violation may, in addition to other remedies, apply for 

injunctive relief, mandamus or other appropriate proceedings to prevent, correct or abate 

such violation or threatened violation. 

      (2)   Nothing in this chapter or in the codes adopted in this chapter shall be construed to 
affect any suit or proceeding now pending in any court, or any rights acquired or liability 
incurred, or any cause of action accrued or existing under any act or ordinance repealed 
hereby, nor shall any right or remedy of any character be lost, impaired or affected by this 
chapter. 

      (3)   Each day any violation of this chapter or any such ordinance, resolution, rule, 
regulation or order shall continue shall constitute, except where otherwise provided, a 
separate offense. 

   (B)   Service of complaint. Complaints by letter or orders hereunder shall be delivered to 
and/or served upon such persons either personally or by registered mail (return receipt 
requested), but if the whereabouts of such persons are unknown and cannot be ascertained 
in the exercise of reasonable diligence, the Building Official or his designated 
representative(s) shall make an affidavit to that effect, then the serving of such complaint 
or order upon such persons may be made by publishing it once each week for two 
consecutive weeks in a newspaper printed, and published, and in Charleston County and 
circulating in the Town of James Island.  A copy of such complaint or order shall be posted 
in a conspicuous place on the premises affected by the complaint or order. 

   (C)   Rights of persons affected by orders. Any person affected by an order issued by the 
Building Official or his designated representative(s), may within 60 days after the posting 
and service of the order, petition the circuit court for an injunction restraining the Building 



Ordinance #2023-10 EXHIBIT A 

41 
 

Official or his designated representative(s) from carrying out the provisions of the order, 
and the court may, upon such petition, issue a temporary injunction restraining the 
Building Official pending the final disposition of the cause. Hearings shall be had by the 
court on such petitions within 20 days or as soon thereafter as possible and shall be given 
preference over other matters on the court’s calendar as authorized by S.C. Code, § 31-15-
370, as amended. The court shall hear and determine the issues raised and shall enter such 
final order or decree as law and justice may require. In all such proceedings, the findings of 
the Building Official as to the facts, if supported by evidence, shall be conclusive. Costs shall 
be at the discretion of the court. The remedies herein provided shall be exclusive remedies, 
and no person affected by an order of the Building Official shall be entitled to recover any 
damages for action taken pursuant to any order of the Building Official or his designated 
representative(s) or because of compliance by such person with any order of the Building 
Official. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 150.99 PENALTY. 

   Wherever in this chapter or in any ordinance of the Town any act is prohibited or is 
declared to be unlawful or an offense or misdemeanor, or the doing of any act is required, 
or the failure to do any act is declared to be unlawful or an offense or a misdemeanor, and 
no specific penalty is provided for the violation thereof, the violation of any such provision 
of this chapter, or any such ordinance, shall be subject to the maximum penalties 
authorized for the Magistrates' Courts of the State of South Carolina, as from time to time 
provided in S.C. Code, § 22-3-55, as amended, or successor legislation. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 



ORDINANCE #2023-10 

 

AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 151: FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION ORDINANCE OF THE 

TOWN OF JAMES ISLAND CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the Town of James Island to have an updated 

ordinance for the management of the flood hazard areas in the Town; and 

WHEREAS, in order to better serve the residents and property owners in the Town of James Island, the 

Town will no longer request these services be provided by Charleston County Building Inspection 

Services and will instead administer its own floodplain management program; and 

WHEREAS, in recognition of this change, it is essential that the Town takes the time to review and 

update its Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance as needed prior to beginning to offer these services on 

January 1, 2024; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to providing floodplain management services, it is also important that the Town 

is able to continue to provide the opportunity for the citizens of the Town to receive federal flood 

insurance through the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), and to receive discounts thereto as a 

result of participation by the Town of James Island in the Community Rating System; and 

WHEREAS, the James Island Town Council finds it in the best interest and benefit to the general health, 

safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town of James Island to adopt the amendments to the Flood 

Damage Prevention Ordinance attached herein as “EXHIBIT A”. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by majority vote of Town Council, in meeting duly 

assembled January 18, 2024, that Chapter 151 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of James Island, 

South Carolina is hereby amended. 

Effective this 18th Day of January, 2024. 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

Brook Lyon, Mayor 

 

ATTEST 

 

____________________________________ 

Frances Simmons, Town Clerk 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

1 

 

CHAPTER 151: TOWN REGULATIONS CONCERNING FLOOD DAMAGE PREVENTION 

Section 

General Provisions 

   151.01   Statutory authorization 

   151.02   Findings of fact 

   151.03   Statement of purpose 

   151.04   Objectives 

   151.05   Definitions 

   151.06   Lands to which this chapter applies 

   151.07   Basis for establishing areas of special flood hazard 

   151.08   Warning; disclaimer of liability 

   151.09   Provisions cumulative 

   151.10   Severability 

   151.11   Abrogation and greater restrictions 

   151.12   Effective date; application 

Administration 

   151.25   Designation of Building Official 

   151.26   Duties and responsibilities of the Building Official 

   151.27   Duties and responsibilities of the Planning and Zoning Official 

   151.28   Duties and responsibilities of the Public Works Official 

Provisions for Flood Hazard Reduction 

   151.40   General standards 

   151.41   Specific standards in addition to general standards for unnumbered A zones, AE 
zones 

   151.42   Standards for regulatory floodways 

   151.43   Standards for subdivision proposals and other development 

Appeals and Variances 

   151.55   Appeal and variance procedures 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

2 

 

Compliance for Proposed Real Estate Transactions 

   151.70   Provision for inspections 

Nuisances 

   151.85   Nuisances within a special flood hazard area 

  

   151.99   Penalty 

Editor’s note: 

   The regulations set forth in this chapter are those of Charleston County Ordinance 1838, 
adopted by the county on January 20, 2015, which was adopted by the Ttown’s Ordinance 
2016-14 on January 19, 2017, and Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020, and Ord. 2024-XX, 
passed xx.  

 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 

§ 151.01 STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION. 

   The Legislature of the State of South Carolina has in Code of Laws, § 5-7-30,4-9-30(5), 
delegated the responsibility to local governmental units to adopt regulations designed to 
promote the public health, safety, and general welfare of its citizenry. Therefore, the Town 
of James Island, does ordain these flood damage prevention and protection regulations. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.02 FINDINGS OF FACT. 

   (A)   The flood hazard areas of the Town of James Island are subject to periodic 
inundation which results in loss of life and property, health and safety hazards, disruption 
of commerce and governmental services, extraordinary public expenditures for flood 
protection and relief, and impairment of the tax base, all of which adversely affect the 
public health, safety and general welfare. 

   (B)   These flood losses are caused by the cumulative effect of obstructions in floodplains, 
causing increases in flood heights and velocities, and by the occupancy in flood hazard 
areas by uses vulnerable to floods or hazardous to other lands which are inadequately 
elevated, flood proofed, or otherwise unprotected from flood damage. 

   (C)   In order for owners of property located within the Town which is subject to periodic 
inundation to obtain flood damage insurance through the National Flood Insurance 
Program, the United States government, by statute and through regulations promulgated 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

3 

 

by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), requires that the Town enact 
floodplain regulations designed to reduce the amount of potential flood losses. 

   (D)   The Town has previously adopted various ordinances establishing regulations 
related to the prevention of flood damage. 

   (E)   Based on the findings set forth above, the Town finds it is in the public interest and a 
benefit to the general health, safety, and welfare of the residents of the Town, to adopt an 
ordinance revising and amending the Town’s flood damage prevention regulations. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.03 STATEMENT OF PURPOSE. 

   It is the purpose of this chapter to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare 
and to minimize public and private losses due to flood conditions in specific areas by 
provisions designed to: 

   (A)   Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, and property due to 
water or erosion hazards, or which result in damaging increases in erosion or in flood 
heights or velocities; 

   (B)   Require that structures vulnerable to floods, including appurtenant structures, be 
protected against flood damage. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.04 OBJECTIVES. 

   The objectives of this chapter are: 

   (A)   To protect human life and health; 

   (B)   To minimize expenditure of public money for costly flood control projects; 

   (C)   To minimize the need for rescue and relief efforts associated with flooding and 
generally undertaken at the expense of the general public; 

   (D)   To minimize prolonged business interruptions; 

   (E)   To minimize damage to public facilities and utilities such as water and gas mains, 
electric, telephone and sewer lines, street and bridges located in floodplains; 

   (F)   To help maintain a stable tax base by providing for the sound use and development 
of flood prone areas in such a manner as to minimize flood blight areas; 

   (G)   To insure that potential homebuyers are notified that property is in a flood area; 

   (H)   To provide protection to assets and infrastructure against sea level rise; 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

4 

 

   (I)   To build resilience throughout the community to better respond to recurrent burdens 
and sudden disasters; 

   (J)   To increase property protection for all structures during flooding events due to 
hurricane and rainwater flooding; and 

   (K)   To protect the natural floodplain functions and capacity for flooding within the 
community. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.05 DEFINITIONS. 

   For the purpose of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
clearly indicates or requires a different meaning. Unless specifically defined below, words 
or phrases used in this chapter shall be interpreted so as to give them the meaning they 
have in common usage and to give this chapter its most reasonable application in light of its 
stated objectives. Where it states “means” is the literal definition. 

   “A” -ZONE is areas subject to inundation by the 1% annual chance flood event. Because 
detailed hydraulic analyses have not been performed, no Base Flood Elevations (BFEs) or 
flood depths are shown. 

   “AE” ZONE are areas subject to inundation by the 1% annual chance flood event 
determined by detailed methods. BFEs are shown within these zones. 

   ACCESSORY RESIDENTIAL STRUCTURE is a structure on the same parcel of property as 
the principal structure, used for parking of vehicles or typical residential equipment, or for 
limited storage. A SMALL ACCESSORY STRUCTURE is defined as one that has a footprint of 
less than 120 square feet, and a LOW VALUE ACCESSORY STRUCTURE as one that has a 
value of less than $1,000. 

   ADDITION (to an existing building) is an extension or increase in the floor area or height 
of a building or structure. Additions to existing buildings shall comply with the 
requirements for new construction regardless as to whether the addition is a substantial 
improvement or not. Where a firewall or load-bearing wall is provided between the 
addition and the existing building, the addition(s) shall be considered a separate building 
and must comply with the standards for new construction. 

   APPEAL is a request for a review of the building official’s interpretation of any provision 
of the chapter to the Construction Board of Adjustment and AppealBoard of Zoning 
Appeals. 

   APPURTENANT STRUCTURE is a structure which is on the same parcel of property as the 
principal structure, the use of which is incidental to the use of the principal structure in 
light of its stated objectives. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

5 

 

   AREA OF SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD is the land in the floodplain within a community, 
subject to a 1% or greater chance of flooding in any given year. For purposes of these 
regulations, the term “special flood hazard area (SFHA)” is synonymous in meaning with 
the phrase “area of special flood hazard”. 

   BASE FLOOD or 100 YEAR FLOOD means the flood having a 1% chance of being equaled 
or exceeded in any given year. 

   BASEMENT means area of a building having its floor subgrade (below ground level) on all 
sides. 

   BREAKAWAY WALL means a wall that is not part of the structural support of a building 
that is intended through its design and construction to collapse under specific lateral 
loading forces without causing damage to the elevated portion of the building or the 
supporting foundation system. 

   BUILDING - See STRUCTURE. 

   BUILDING OFFICIAL The individual charged with administration and enforcement of the 
building codes and floodplain regulations for the Town of James Island. 

   BUILDING PERMIT includes mechanical, electrical, plumbing, and any other permits 
issued by the Town Building Official. 

   COASTAL “AE” ZONE are areas subject to inundation by at least 1% annual chance flood 
event as determined by detailed methods, and where wave action is expected with wave 
heights between 1.5 and 3.0 feet. COASTAL AE ZONES are landward of the VE Zone up to 
the Limit of Moderate Wave Action (LIMWA) line. This area may also be referred to as a 
Coastal “A” Zone. 

   COASTAL HIGH HAZARD AREA means an area of special flood hazard extending from 
offshore to the inland limit of a primary frontal dune along an open coast and any other 
area subject to flooding and high velocity waters caused by, but not limited to, hurricane 
wave wash. This includes zones V and VE. 

CONDITIONAL LETTER OF MAP REVISION (CLOMR) is a formal review and comment as to 
whether a proposed flood protection project or other project complies with the minimum 
National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) requirements for such projects with respect to 
delineation of special flood hazard areas.  A CLOMR does not revise the effective Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) or Flood Insurance Study (FIS).  Upon submission and approval 
of certified as-built documentation, a Letter of Map Revision (LOMP) may be issued by 
FEMA to revise the effective FIRM.  Building permits and/or flood development permits 
cannot be issued based on a CLOMR, because a CLOMR does not change the NFIP map. 

   CRITICAL FACILITY means a structure or facility that: 

      (1)   Produces, uses, or stores highly volatile, flammable, explosive, toxic and/or water-
reactive materials; or 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

6 

 

      (2)   Is a hospital, nursing home, or housing likely to contain occupants who may not be 
sufficiently mobile to avoid death or injury during a flood; or 

      (3)   Is a police station, fire station, vehicle and equipment storage facility or emergency 
operations center that is needed for flood response activities before, during, or after a 
flood; or 

      (4)   Is a public or private utility facility that is vital to maintaining or restoring normal 
services to flooded areas before, during or after a flood. 

   CRITICAL FEATURE means an integral and readily identifiable part of a flood protection 
system, without which the flood protection provided by the entire system would be 
compromised. 

   CURVILINEAR LINE means the border on either a FHBM or FIRM that delineates the 
special flood, mudslide (i.e., mudflow), and/or flood-related erosion hazard areas and 
consists of a curved or contour line that follows the topography. 

   DATUM Is the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD 29) on FIRMs dated 
November 17, 2004 or before and North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88) on 
FIRMs dated after November 17, 2004. 

   DESIGN FLOOD ELEVATION (DFE) is Base Flood Elevation (BFE) plus freeboard.  

   DEVELOPED AREA means an area of a community that is: 

      (1)   A primarily urbanized, built-up area that is a minimum of 20 contiguous acres, has 
basic urban infrastructure including roads, utilities, communications, and public facilities, 
to sustain industrial, residential, and commercial activities, and 

         (a)   Within which 75% or more of the parcels, tracts, or lots contain commercial, 
industrial, or residential structures or uses; or 

         (b)   A single parcel, tract, or lot in which 75% of the area contains existing commercial 
or industrial structures or uses; or 

         (c)   A subdivision developed at a density of at least two residential structures per acre 
within which 75% or more of the lots contain existing residential structures at the time the 
designation is adopted. 

      (2)   Undeveloped parcel, tract, or lot, the combination of which is less than 20 acres and 
is contiguous on at least three sides to areas meeting the criteria of division (1)(a) above at 
the time the designation is adopted. 

      (3)   A subdivision that is a minimum of 20 contiguous acres that has obtained all 
necessary government approvals, provided that the actual “start of construction” of 
structures has occurred on at least 10% of the lots or remaining lots of a subdivision of 
10% of the maximum building coverage or remaining building coverage allowed for a 
single lot subdivision at the time the designation is adopted and construction of structures 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

7 

 

is underway. Residential subdivisions must meet the density criteria in division (1)(c) 
above of this definition. 

   DEVELOPMENT means any manmade change to improved or unimproved real estate 
including, but not limited to, buildings or other structures, mining, dredging, filling, 
grading, paving, excavating, drilling operations, or storage of equipment or materials or 
comparable activity of operation; any material change in the use or appearance of any 
structure or in the land itself; the division of land into parcels; any change in the intensity 
of use of land (such as an increase in the number of dwelling units in a structure); and 
change from one use of another use; and any activity that alters a river, stream, lake, pond, 
canal, woodland, wetland, endangered species habitat, or other natural resource area. 
DEVELOPMENT does include agriculture and forestry operations. 

   DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS means the director of the Town of James Island 
Department of Public Works. 

   ELEVATED BUILDING is a non-basement building which has its lowest elevated floor 
raised above the ground level by means of fill, solid foundation perimeter walls, pilings, 
columns, piers, or shear walls. 

   EXISTING CONSTRUCTION is, for the purposes of determining rates, any structures for 
which the start of construction commenced before January 1, 1975November 15, 1973. 
EXISTING CONSTRUCTION may also be referred to as “existing structures” or “Pre-FIRM 
Structure”. 

   EXISTING MANUFACTURED HOME PARK OR SUBDIVISION means a manufactured home 
park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which 
the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of 
utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete 
pads) was completed before November 15,1973. 

   EXPANSION TO AN EXISTING MANUFACTURED HOME PARK OR SUBDIVISION means 
the preparation of additional sites by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on 
which the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including the installation of utilities, the 
construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads). 

   FARM STRUCTURE is a structure which is constructed on a farm, other than a residence 
or a structure attached to it, for use on the farm including, but not limited to, barns, sheds 
and poultry houses, but not including public livestock areas. 

   FEMA refers to the Federal Emergency Management Agency. 

   FLOOD or FLOODING means a general and temporary condition of partial or complete 
inundation of normally dry land areas from: 

      (1)   The overflow of inland or tidal waters; and/or 

      (2)   The unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

8 

 

      Note: A flood inundates a floodplain. Most floods fall into three major categories: 
riverine flooding, coastal flooding, and shallow flooding. Structures could fall in the 
floodplain. 

   FLOOD ELEVATION STUDY refers to an examination, evaluation and determination of 
flood hazards and, if appropriate, corresponding water surface elevations, or an 
examination, evaluation and determination of mudslide (i.e., mudflow) and/or flood-
related erosion hazards. 

   FLOOD HAZARD BOUNDARY MAP (FHBM)  is an official map of a community, issued by 
the Federal Insurance Administrator, where the boundaries of the flood, mudslide (i.e., 
mudflow) and related erosion areas having special hazards have been designated. 

   FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP (FIRM) is an official map of a community, on which the 
Federal Insurance Administrator has delineated both the areas of special flood hazard and 
the risk premium zones applicable to the community. A FIRM that has been made available 
digitally is called a Digital Flood Insurance Rate Map (DFIRM). A FIRM may also refer to a 
Flood Insurance Risk Map. 

   FLOOD INSURANCE STUDY see FLOOD ELEVATION STUDY. 

   FLOODPLAIN or FLOOD-PRONE AREA means any land area susceptible to being 
inundated by water from any source. 

   FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT refers to the operation of an overall program of corrective 
and preventive measures for reducing flood damage, including but not limited to, 
emergency preparedness plans, flood control works and floodplain management 
regulations. 

   FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS refers to state or local regulations, in any 
combination thereof, which provide standards for the purpose of flood damage prevention 
and reduction. 

   FLOODPROOFING means any combination of structural and non-structural additions, 
changes, or adjustments to structures which reduce or eliminate flood damage to real 
estate or improved real property, water and sanitary facilities, structures and their 
contents. 

   FLOODWAY see REGULATORY FLOODWAY. 

   FLOODWAY ENCROACHMENT LINES refers to the lines marking the limits of floodways 
on federal, state and local flood plain maps. 

   FREEBOARD is a factor of safety usually expressed in feet above a mandatory base flood 
elevation for purposes of floodplain management. 

   FUNCTIONALLY DEPENDENT USE means a use which cannot perform its intended 
purpose unless it is located or carried out in close proximity to water, such as a docking or 
port facility necessary for the loading and unloading of cargo or passengers,  shipbuilding 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

9 

 

or ship repair. The term does not include long-term storage or related manufacturing 
facilities. 

   HAZARDOUS VELOCITIES Refers to hydrodynamic pressure must be considered in the 
design of any foundation system where velocity waters or the potential for debris flow 
exists. If flood velocities are excessive (greater than five feet per second), foundation 
systems other than solid foundations walls should be considered so that obstructions to 
damaging flood flows are minimized. 

   HIGHEST ADJACENT GRADE means the highest natural elevation of the ground surface, 
prior to construction, next to the proposed walls of a structure. 

   HISTORIC STRUCTURE means any structure that is: 

      (1)   Listed individually on the National Register of Historic Places (a listing maintained 
by the Department of Interior) or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior 
as meeting the requirements or potentially eligible for individual listing on the National 
Register; 

      (2)   Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the Interior as 
contributing to the historical significance of a registered historic district or a district 
preliminarily determined by the Secretary to qualify as a registered historic district; 

      (3)   Individually listed on a state inventory of historic places in states with historic 
preservation programs which have been approved by the Secretary of the Interior; or 

      (4)   Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places that has been certified by 
the South Carolina Department of Archives and History. 

   IMPROVEMENT is any alteration, addition, or structural repair to an existing structure 
where “substantial improvement” or “substantial damage” is not a factor. 

   LAND CHARACTERISTIC is an attribute of land that can be measured or estimated. 

LETTER OF MAP AMENDMENT (LOMA) is an official amendment, by letter, to an effective 
Nation Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) map.  A LOMA establishes a property’s or 
structures location in relation to the especial flood hazard area (SFHA).  LOMAs are usually 
issued because a property or structure has been inadvertently mapped as being in the 
floodplain but is actually on natural high ground above the base flood elevation. 

LETTER OF MAP CHANGE (LOMC) is an official FEMA determination, by letter, to amend or 
revise effective flood insurance rate maps, flood boundary and floodway maps, and flood 
insurance studies.  LOMCs are issued in the following categories: Letter of Map Revision 
(LOMR) and Letter of Map Revision Based On Fill (LOMR-F). 

LETTER OF MAP REVISION (LOMR) refers to FEMA’s modification to an effective flood 
insurance rate map (FIRM) or a flood boundary and floodway map (FBFM) or both.  LOMRs 
are general based on the implementation of physical measures that affect the hydrologic or 
hydraulic characteristics of a flooding source and thus result in the modification of the 
existing regulatory floodway, the effective base flood elevations (BFEs), to the special flood 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

10 

 

hazards area (SFHA).  The LOMR officially revises the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) or 
the Flood Boundary and Floodway Map (FBFM), and sometimes the flood insurance study 
(FIS) report, and when appropriate, includes a description of the modifications.  The LOMR 
is generally accompanied by an annotated copy of the affected portions of the FIRM, FBFM, 
or FIS report. 

LETTER OF MAP REVISION BASED ON FILL (LOMR-F) refers to FEMA’s modification of the 
special flood hazard area (SFHA) shown on the flood insurance rate map (FIRM) based on 
the placement of fill outside the existing regulatory floodway.  The LOMR-F does not 
changes the FIRM, FBFM, or FIS report. 

   LIMIT OF MODERATE WAVE ACTION (LIMWA) is the line shown on FIRMs to indicate the 
inland limit of the area expected to receive one- half foot or greater breaking waves during 
a 1% annual flood event. 

   LIMITED STORAGE Is an area used for storage and intended to be limited to incidental 
items that can withstand exposure to the elements and have low flood damage potential. 
Such an area must be of flood resistant or breakaway material, void of utilities except for 
essential lighting and cannot be temperature controlled. If the area is located below the 
base flood elevation in an A, AE and A1-A30 zone it must meet the requirements of § 
151.41(A)(4). If the area is located below the base flood elevation in a V, VE and V1-V30 
zone it must meet the requirements of § 151.41(C). 

   LOW VALUE STRUCTURE see ACCESSORY STRUCTURE. 

   LOWEST ADJACENT GRADE (LAG) is an elevation of the lowest ground surface that 
touches any deck support, exterior walls of a building or proposed building walls. 

   MANGROVE STAND refers to an assemblage of mangrove trees which is mostly low trees 
noted for a copious development of interlacing adventitious roots above the ground and 
which contain one or more of the following species: Black mangrove (Avicennia nitida); 
Red mangrove (Rhizophora mangle); White mangrove (Longunculariaracemosa); and 
buttonwood (Conocarpus erecta). 

   MANUFACTURED HOME means a structure, transportable in one or more sections, which 
is built on a permanent chassis and is designed to meet HUD standards, for use with or 
without a permanent foundation when attached to the required utilities. The term 
MANUFACTURED HOME does not include a “recreational vehicle”. 

   MANUFACTURED HOME PARK OR SUBDIVISION means a parcel (or contiguous parcels) 
of land divided into two or more manufactured home lots for rent or sale. 

   MANUFACTURED HOME PERMANENT FOUNDATION is a foundation designed by a 
professional engineer registered in South Carolina, with said design subject to the approval 
of the Building Official. A bolt-on/bolt-off foundation system is considered as a permanent 
foundation for mobile homes placed into a manufactured home park. 

   MEAN SEA LEVEL is, for the purpose of this chapter, the National Geodetic Vertical Datum 
(NGVD) of 1929, North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988, or other datum, to which 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

11 

 

the base flood elevations shown on a community’s Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRM) are 
shown. 

   MODULAR BUILDING UNIT is a building or set of building components manufactured off-
site and transported to the point of use for installation or erection, with or without other 
specified components, as a finished building and not designed for ready removal to another 
site, and built in accordance to the Modular Construction Act of the State of South Carolina. 
This term is not to be limited to residential dwellings. 

   NEW CONSTRUCTION is, for flood plain management purposes, structures for which the 
start of construction commenced on or after the effective date of the NFIP community’s a 
fFloodp Plain mManagement oOrdinance adopted  by the NFIP community, November 15, 
1973 and includes subsequent improvements to such structures, also known as Post-FIRM. 
(Exception: An addition to an existing structure (built prior to November 15, 1973) is not 
considered “new construction” unless it is a substantial improvement.) 

   NEW DEVELOPMENT is any of the following actions undertaken by any person, including, 
without limitation, any public or private individual entity: a) division of combination of 
lots, tracts, or parcels of other divisions by plat or deed; b) the construction, installation, or 
alteration of land, a structure, impervious surface or drainage facility; c) clearing, scraping, 
grubbing or otherwise significantly disturbing the soil, vegetation, mud, sand, or rock of a 
site, or changing the physical drainage characteristics of the site; or d) adding, removing, 
exposing, excavating, leveling, grading, digging, burrowing, dumping, piling, dredging, or 
otherwise disturbing the soil, vegetation, mud, sand or rock of a site. The transition from 
native landscapes to a developed condition reduces the infiltration, evapotranspiration, 
and surface roughness onsite, regardless of the amount of green space and BMPs 
implemented into the site design. 

   NEW MANUFACTURED HOME PARK OR SUBDIVISION refers to a manufactured home 
park or subdivision for which the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which 
the manufactured homes are to be affixed (including, at a minimum, the installation of 
utilities, the construction of streets, and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete 
pads) was completed on or after November 15, 1973, also known as Post-FIRM. 

NFIP is the National Flood Insurance Program 

   PLANNING AND ZONING OFFICIAL refers to the individual charged with administration 
and enforcement of planning and zoning for the Town. 

POST-FIRM STRUCTURE is a building for which construction or substantial improvement 
occurred after November 15, 1973.  See NEW CONSTRUCTION. 

   PRIMARY OCEANFRONT SAND DUNE is a continuous or nearly continuous mound or 
ridge of sand with relatively steep seaward and landward slopes immediately landward 
and adjacent to the beach and subject to erosion and overtopping from high tides and 
waves during major coastal storms. The inland limit of the primary frontal dune occurs at 
the point where there is a distinct change from a relatively steep slope to a relatively mild 
slope. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

12 

 

   RECREATIONAL VEHICLE means a vehicle, for flood insurance purposes, which is: 

      (1)   Built on a single chassis; 

      (2)   Four hundred square feet or less when measured at the largest horizontal 
projection; 

      (3)   Designed to be self-propelled or permanently towable by a light duty truck; and 

      (4)   Designed primarily not for use as a permanent dwelling but as temporary living 
quarters for recreational, camping, travel, or seasonal use. 

   REDEVELOPMENT is a development on a previously developed site where the impervious 
surface on the previously developed site is equal to or greater than 20% of the total site or 
where any repair, reconstruction, or improvements, to that site or to any structures located 
on that site such that the cumulative costs of repairs, reconstruction, or improvements, 
over a five-year period equals or exceeds 49% of the fair market value of the property and 
the structures located on that property. The cost of repairs, reconstruction, or 
improvements includes remodeling of existing building interiors, resurfacing of paved 
areas, and exterior building changes. The cost of repairs excludes ordinary maintenance 
activities that do not materially increase or concentrate stormwater runoff, or cause 
additional nonpoint source pollution. 

   REPETITIVE LOSS refers to a building covered by a contract for flood insurance that has 
incurred flood related damages on two occasions during a ten-year period ending on the 
date of the event for which a second claim is made, in which the cost of repairing flood 
damage, on the average, equaled or exceeded 25% of the market value of the building at the 
time of each such flood event. 

   REPETITIVE LOSS AREA is an area with one or more repetitive loss structures and 
includes at-risk properties for flooding who may or may not be in a special flood hazard 
area (SFHA) as well as those who have made a flood insurance claim previously but do not 
qualify as a repetitive loss property. 

   REPETITIVE LOSS PROPERTY is an insurable building for which two or more claims of 
more than $1,000 were paid by the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) within any 
rolling ten-year period, since 1978. A RL PROPERTY may or may not be currently insured 
by the NFIP. 

   RESILIENCE is the ability of a community to respond, adapt, and thrive under changing 
conditions, including, but not limited to, recurrent burdens and sudden disasters. 

   REGULATORY FLOODWAY is the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent 
land areas that must be reserved in order to discharge the base flood without cumulatively 
increasing the water surface elevation more than one-half of one foot. 

   REMEDY A VIOLATION means to bring the structure or other development into 
compliance with state or local floodplain management regulations, or, if this is not 
reasonably possible as provided in the standards for grant of a variance, to reduce the 
impacts of its noncompliance. Ways that impacts may be reduced include protecting the 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

13 

 

structure or other affected development from flood damages, implementing the 
enforcement provisions of the ordinance or otherwise deterring future similar violations, 
or reducing federal, state or local financial exposure with regard to the structure or other 
development. 

   RIVERINE is relating to, formed by, or resembling a river (including tributaries), stream, 
brook, etc. 

   SAND DUNE is a naturally occurring accumulations of sand in ridges or mounds landward 
of the beach. 

   SEA LEVEL RISE is an increase in sea level that is primarily related to climate change: 
added water from melting ice sheets and glaciers and the expansion of seawater as it 
warms. Global sea level has been increasing over the past century, and the rate has 
increased in recent decades. 

   SECTION 1316 OF THE NATIONAL FLOOD INSURANCE ACT OF 1968 is the Act provides 
that no new flood insurance shall be provided for any property found by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency to have been declared by a state or local authority to be in 
violation of state of local ordinances. 

   SEVERE REPETITIVE LOSS PROPERTY is a property with at least four flood insurance 
claims for buildings and/or contents of more than $5,000 or at least two building-only 
payments that cumulatively exceeded the value of the property. 

   SIXTY-YEAR SETBACK is a distance equal to 60 times the average annual long term 
recession rate at a site, measured from the reference feature. 

   SMALL ACCESSORY STRUCTURES see ACCESSORY STRUCTURE. 

   SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA (SFHA) see AREA OF SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD. 

   SPECIAL HAZARD AREA is an area having special flood, mudslide (i.e., mudflow), or flood-
related erosion hazards, and shown on a flood hazard boundary map or flood insurance 
rate map. 

   START OF CONSTRUCTION other than new construction or substantial improvements 
under the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (Pub. L. 97-348), includes substantial 
improvement, and means the date the construction permit was issued, provided the actual 
start of construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition placement, or other 
improvement was within 180 days of the permit date. The actual start means either the 
first placement of permanent construction of a structure on a site, such as the pouring of 
slab or footings, the installation of piles, the construction of columns, or any work beyond 
the stage of excavation; or the placement of a manufactured home on a foundation. 
Permanent construction does not include land preparation, such as clearing, grading and 
filling; nor does it include the installation of streets and/or walkways; nor does it include 
excavation for a basement, footings, piers, or foundations or the erection of temporary 
forms; nor does it include the installation on the property of accessory buildings, such as 
garages or sheds not occupied as dwelling units or not part of the main structure. For a 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

14 

 

substantial improvement, the actual start of construction means the first alteration of any 
wall, ceiling, floor, or other structural part of a building, whether or not that alteration 
affects the external dimensions of the building. 

   STEM WALLS are a solid perimeter foundation wall on a continuous spread footing 
backfilled to the underside of the floor slab. Refer to Flood Elevation Diagram Number 1B. 

   STRUCTURE means, for flood plain management purposes, a walled and roofed building, 
including gas or liquid storage tanks, that is principally above ground, as well as modular 
and manufactured homes. 

   SUBDIVISION is all divisions of a tract or parcel of land into two or more lots, building 
sites, or other divisions for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of sale, lease, or 
building development, and includes all division of land involving a new street or change in 
existing streets, and includes resubdivision which would involve the further division or 
relocation of lot lines of any lot or lots within a subdivision previously made and approved 
or recorded according to law; or, the alteration of any streets or the establishment of any 
new streets within any subdivision previously made and approved or recorded according 
to law, and includes combination of lots of record. (Stormwater and Planning/Zoning) 

   SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE means damage of any origin sustained by a structure whereby 
the cost of restoring the structure to its before-damaged condition would equal or exceed 
4950% of the market value of the structure before the damage occurred as determined by 
the Building Official. Flood plain management requirements for new construction apply to 
substantial damage. 

   SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT means any reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition or 
other improvement of a structure, taking place during any five consecutive years in the life 
of a building, the cumulative cost of which equals or exceeds 4950% of the market value of 
the existing structure at the date of “start of construction” of the improvement as 
determined by the Building Official. This term includes structures which have incurred 
“substantial damage,” regardless of the actual repair work performed. The term does not, 
however, include either: 

      (1)   Any project for improvement of a structure to correct existing violations of state or 
local health, sanitary, or safety code specifications which have been identified by the local 
code enforcement official and which are the minimum necessary to assure safe living 
conditions; or 

      (2)   Any alteration of a historic structure provided that the alteration will not preclude 
the structure’s continued designation as a historic structure. 

   THIRTY-YEAR SETBACK is a distance equal to 30 times the average annual long term 
recession rate at a site, measured from the reference feature. 

   UNNUMBERED A ZONE is a zone without base flood elevations determined. These are still 
considered special flood hazard areas. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

15 

 

   VARIANCE is a grant of relief from the requirements of this chapter which permits 
construction in a manner otherwise prohibited by this chapter where specific enforcement 
would result in exceptional hardship. 

   VE ZONE are high risk areas subject to inundation by at least a 1% annual chance flood 
event as determined by detailed methods, and where wave action is expected with wave 
heights of more than three feet. BFEs or base flood depths are shown within these zones. 

   VIOLATION is the failure of a structure or other development to be fully compliant with 
the Town’s floodplain management regulations. A structure or other development without 
the elevation certificate, other certifications, or other evidence of compliance required in 
this chapter is presumed to be in violation until such time as that documentation is 
provided. 

   WATER SURFACE ELEVATION is the height of floods of various magnitudes and 
frequencies in the floodplains of coastal or riverine areas. 

   WATERSHEDS are areas of land that drain to a single point, bounded by higher elevations 
at the edges. Within a watershed, water travels over land until it reaches a body of water, 
and as the water passes farther downstream, draining a larger area, eventually everything 
leads to the ocean. In coastal areas, wetlands border the land, and many of the local 
streams and creeks enter wetlands border the land, and many of the local streams and 
creeks enter wetlands before discharging to the ocean. Wetlands perform a crucial function 
in the watershed, intercepting pollutants carried downstream and removing them from the 
water in a natural treatment process. Additionally, wetlands slow the water down, acting as 
a buffer for hurricanes and reducing severity of flooding. 

   X ZONE (SHADED) is a moderate risk areas within the 0.2% annual chance floodplain, 
areas of 1% annual chance flooding where the average depths are less than one foot. No 
BFEs or base flood depths are shown within these zones. 

   X ZONE (UNSHADED) are the minimal risk areas outside the 1% and 0.2% annual chance 
floodplains. No BFEs or base flood depths are shown within these zones. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.06 LANDS TO WHICH THIS CHAPTER APPLIES. 

   This chapter shall apply to all areas of special flood hazard within the jurisdiction of the 
Town of James Island. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.07 BASIS FOR ESTABLISHING THE AREAS OF SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD. 

   Charleston County The Town of James Island declares that the Charleston County Flood 
Insurance Study, including the FIRMs, dated January 29, 2021, copies of which are on file in 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

16 

 

the Office of Building Inspection Servicesat Town Hall and online at charlestoncounty.org 
and msc.fema.gov, is hereby adopted and declared to be as fully a part of this chapter as if 
set forth herein. Letters of Map Change (LOMC) to these adopted maps authorized by the 
NFIP shall become effective immediately upon the date established by the NFIP.  Permits of 
any kind from the Town of James Island will only be issued based on the current effective 
data set by the most recent applicable FIRM or LOMC authorized by the National Flood 
Insurance Program/ FEMA. 

   (A)   Lands to which this chapter applies. This chapter shall apply to all areas of special 
flood hazard within the jurisdiction of the Town of James Island. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2018-12, passed 10-18-2018; Ord. 2020-11, passed 
12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.08 WARNING AND DISCLAIMER OF LIABILITY. 

   The degree of flood protection required by this chapter is considered reasonable for 
regulatory purposes and is based on scientific and engineering consideration. Larger floods 
can and will occur on rare occasions. Flood heights may be increased by man-made or 
natural causes. This chapter does not imply that land outside the areas of special flood 
hazard or uses permitted within such areas will be free from flooding or flood damages. 
This chapter shall not create liability on the part of the Town or by any officer or employee 
thereof for any flood damages that result from reliance on this chapter or any 
administrative decision lawfully made thereunder. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.09 PROVISIONS CUMULATIVE. 

   The provisions of this chapter are to be cumulative of all other ordinances or parts of 
ordinances governing or regulating the same subject matter as that covered herein, 
provided, however, that all prior ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with or in 
conflict with any of the provisions of this chapter, including, but not limited to, Ordinance 
No. 1526 and 1349, are hereby expressly repealed to the extent of any such inconsistency 
or conflict. The enactment of this chapter shall not serve to terminate or be cause for the 
termination of the prosecution of any civil or criminal actions under the prior ordinances 
which were pending at the time of the enactment hereof. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.10 SEVERABILITY. 

   If any provision of this chapter or its application to any circumstance is held by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid for any reason, then this holding does not affect other 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

17 

 

provisions or applications of this chapter which can be given effect without the invalid 
provision or application, and, to this end, the provisions of this chapter are severable. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.11 ABROGATION AND GREATER RESTRICTIONS. 

   This chapter shall not in any way impair/remove the necessity of compliance with any 
other applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, etc. Where this chapter imposes a greater 
restriction, the provisions of this chapter shall control. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.12 EFFECTIVE DATE; APPLICATION. 

   This chapter shall be effective immediately for all new permits issued on or after the date 
of ratification. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

§ 151.25 DESIGNATION OF BUILDING OFFICIAL. 

   As designated by the Town Administrator, tThe Town Building Official (“Building 
Official”), and/or his designee, is hereby appointed to administer and implement the 
provisions of this chapter. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.26 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BUILDING OFFICIAL. 

   Duties of the Building Official shall include, but not be limited to: 

   (A)   Review all applications for construction permits to assure that the requirements of 
this chapter have been satisfied, the requirements of 44 CFR, and are adequate to 
determine whether proposed building sites will be reasonably safe from flooding. 

   (B)   Review application for a construction permit on forms furnished by the Building 
Official, prior to authorizing the commencement of any construction activities. The 
following information, as a minimum, is required to be reviewed: 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

18 

 

      (1)   Two A digital set and one hard copy sets of building plans drawn to scale and 
showing, at a minimum, elevations for each exterior wall; floor plan(s); foundation and wall 
sections and details; stair details; and electrical, plumbing and mechanical riser diagrams. 
The plans shall give a full description of proposed construction including a site plan 
identifying area(s) having special flood related hazards as applicable. 

      (2)   Plans shall indicate the BFE and the DFE elevation of the proposed building, 
verification that materials proposed below the design flood elevation (DFE) are flood 
resistant per FEMA Technical Bulletin 2; if applicable, include flood proofing certification 
(non-residential), hydrostatic venting information, breakaway wall details and 
certifications from a registered architect/engineer. 

   (C)   Maintain permanent copy of building permits issued and copies of all required 
certifications for the life of the structure. 

   (D)   Where interpretation is needed as to the exact location and elevation of all areas of 
special flood hazard (for example, where there appears to be a conflict between a mapped 
boundary and actual field conditions), the Building Official shall make the necessary 
interpretation. The person contesting the location of the boundary shall be given a 
reasonable opportunity to appeal the interpretation as provided in this chapter. 

   (E)   Maintain a copy of letter of map changes (LOMC) issued by FEMA in the office of the 
Building Official. 

   (F)   Maintain on file, for public access, flood maps issued by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA). 

   (G)   Review violations that occur during the course of construction. Failure of the 
contractor to make required changes shall be cause for issuance of a stop-work order for 
the project. 

   (H)   When base flood elevation or floodway data have not been provided by the 
applicants, the Building Official shall obtain, review, and reasonably utilize any base flood 
elevation and floodway data available from a federal, state or other source. 

   (I)   Advise owners, no new flood insurance coverage may be provided for any new 
construction of, or substantial improvement to, a structure located within the coastal 
barrier resources system as defined in Section 4 of the Coastal Barrier Resources Act. 

   (J)   Determine the elevation requirement for construction in flood zones. 

   (K)   Review proposed development to assure that all necessary permits have been 
received from those governmental agencies from which approval is required by federal or 
state law, including section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 
1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334 and that no adverse impact occurs during the development process as 
authorized by the 44 CFR 59 and 60. 

   (L)   Notify adjacent communities and the S.C. Natural Resources Department prior to any 
alteration or relocation of a watercourse and submit evidence of such notification to the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

19 

 

   (M)   Ensure that maintenance and inspections are provided within the altered or 
relocated portion of watercourses so that the flood-carrying capacity is not diminished, and 
maintaining records of the same until completion of the project. 

   (N)   Notify all repetitive loss area structures of their risk of flooding and the services 
available to them. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.27 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PLANNING AND ZONING OFFICIAL. 

   Duties and responsibilities of the Planning and Zoning Official shall include, but not be 
limited to: require a zoning permit to be issued in conformance with the provisions of the 
Town of James Island Zoning and Land Development Regulations, as amended, and/or the 
Town of James Island Comprehensive Plan prior to the commencement of any development 
or construction activities. The permit shall give a full description of proposed construction. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.28 DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PUBLIC WORKS OFFICIAL. 

   Duties and responsibilities of the Public Works Official shall include, but not be limited to, 
requiring stormwater permit approval in conformance with the provisions of the Town of 
James Island Public Works Stormwater Utility Fee Ordinance, the Town of James Island 
Stormwater Management Program, and the Town of James Island Stormwater Program 
Standards and Procedures Manual prior to the commencement of any land disturbance or 
development activities and requiring encroachment permit approval in conformance with 
the SCDOT Roadside Access and Management ManualEncroachment Permit Manual prior 
to impacting public right-of-way or easement. The stormwater approval should provide a 
full description of the proposed construction. 

   (A)   To coordinate, implement, and manage the Town of James Island’s drainage systems. 

   (B)   To deny a facility connection to Town of James Island stormwater systems or 
facilities or discharge to waters of the State if town requirements are not met. 

   (C)   To require the submittal of an application for all applicable construction activities 
that cause any land disturbance or alter the storm drainage characteristics of the land. The 
application shall include the information required to control stormwater pollutants and 
other components in accordance with the current versions of the Charleston County 
Stormwater Permitting Standards and Procedures Manual and the  Town of James Island 
Supplemental Stormwater Design Standards.Stormwater Program Standards and 
Procedures Manual. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

20 

 

   (D)   To require the development and enforcement of a stormwater pollution prevention 
plan (SWPPP) for all new and re-development projects, as required by the Charleston 
County Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Program. 

   (E)   To approve construction activities and to require as a condition of such approval 
structural or non-structural controls, practices, devices, operating procedures or other 
mechanisms to protect public and private property from flooding, erosion, pollutants, and 
attain total maximum daily loads (TMDLs) pollutant reductions and water quality 
standards. 

   (F)   To require the submittal of an application for all applicable activities that impact a 
public right-of-way or easement. 

   (G)   To require the removal of an encroachment, if necessary, at the expense of the 
permittee. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

PROVISIONS FOR FLOOD HAZARD REDUCTION 

 

§ 151.40 GENERAL STANDARDS. 

   (A)   All new construction and substantial improvements within the areas of special flood 
hazard shall comply with the following: 

      (1)   Be designed (or modified) and adequately anchored to prevent flotation, collapse, 
or lateral movement of the structure resulting from hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, 
including the effects of buoyancy and debris impact. 

      (2)   Be constructed to meet or exceed the required design flood elevation (DFE), which 
is the base flood elevation plus a two-foot freeboard. 

      (3)   When proposed new construction and substantial improvements are partially 
located in an area of special flood hazard, the entire structure shall meet the standards for 
new construction. 

      (4)   When proposed new construction and substantial improvements are located in 
multiple flood hazard risk zones or in a flood hazard risk zone with multiple base flood 
elevations, the entire structure shall meet the standards for the most hazardous flood 
hazard risk zone and the highest base flood elevation. 

      (5)   Be constructed with Class 4 or 5 materials resistant to flood damage as per FEMA 
Technical Bulletin 2, entitled “Flood-Resistant Materials Requirements for Buildings 
Located in Special Flood Hazard Areas”, incorporated herein by reference, in all areas 
below the design flood elevation, 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

21 

 

      (6)   Be constructed by methods and practices that minimize potential for flood 
damages. 

      (7)   A temporary construction trailer may only be permitted to be on site for fewer than 
180 consecutive calendar days at a time, and must be fully ready for highway use, and shall 
be attached to the site only by quick disconnect type utilities and security devices. 

      (8)   Electrical, ventilation, plumbing, heating and air conditioning equipment (including 
ductwork), and other service facilities shall be designed and/or located so as to prevent 
water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions of the base 
flood plus two feet (freeboard). 

      (9)   Be constructed with methods and practices outlined in ASCE 24 or an at least 
equally stringent standard. 

   (B)   Elevation certificate requirements when a structure is constructed or substantially 
improved in the area of special flood hazard: 

      (1)   A certified under construction elevation certificate is required, after the lowest 
floor is completed and before any further inspections are accepted and vertical 
construction commences. 

      (2)   Floodproofing certificate for non-residential construction including floodproofing 
level is required immediately after the floodproofing is completed. When floodproofing is 
utilized for non-residential structures, said certification shall be prepared by or under the 
direct supervision of a professional engineer or architect and certified by same. 

      (3)   A certified finished construction elevation certificate shall be provided after 
completion of construction including final grading of the site. 

      (4)   Elevation certificates shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of a 
registered land surveyor or professional engineer and certified by same. 

      (5)   Any work undertaken prior to approval of these certifications shall be at the permit 
holder’s risk. The Building Official shall review the above referenced certification data 
submitted. Deficiencies detected by such review shall be corrected by the permit holder 
immediately and prior to further work being allowed to proceed. 

      (6)   Failure to submit certification or failure to make the corrections required hereby 
shall be cause to issue a stop work order for the project and/or the certificate of occupancy 
may be withheld. 

   (C)   New development in the area of special flood hazard shall minimize disruption to 
shorelines, stream channels, stream banks, and the regulatory floodway. 

   (D) (1)   Water supply systems: All new and replacement water supply systems shall be 
designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the system. 

      (2)   Sanitary sewage systems: New and replacement sanitary sewage systems shall be 
designed to minimize or eliminate infiltration of floodwaters into the systems and 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

22 

 

discharges from the systems into floodwaters. On-site waste disposal systems shall be 
located and constructed to avoid impairment to them or contamination from them during 
flooding. 

   (E)   Existing buildings and structures (Pre-FIRM Structures): 

      (1)   Where substantial improvement or substantial damage is not a factor, replacement 
of electrical, heating, plumbing, heating and air conditioning equipment to existing 
structures shall be elevated to at least the existing lowest floor level or to the design flood 
elevation; and replacement ductwork installed below DFE shall be designed so as to 
prevent water from entering or accumulating within during conditions of flooding. 

      (2)   Improvements to a structure where substantial improvement or substantial 
damage is not a factor shall be designed and constructed so as to meet the requirements of 
this chapter, with an exception that the minimum elevation of the lowest floor of an 
improvement may match the existing legally non-conforming structure existing lowest 
floor. 

   (F)   Modular construction shall be consistent with the South Carolina Modular Building 
Construction Act (S.C. Code § 23-43-10 et seq.) as may be amended from time to time, 
which is incorporated herein by reference. 

   (G)   Enclosures below the design flood elevation, shall be the minimum necessary to 
allow for parking of vehicles, limited storage, or entry to the living area. 

   (H)   An exterior door with a landing shall be installed at the top of the stairs that provide 
access to the building. 

   (I)    Accessory residential structure specific standards. New construction or substantial 
improvements to residential accessory structures that contain habitable space shall meet 
the requirements of new construction as contained in this chapter. Small and/or low value 
accessory structures that do not contain habitable space may be exempted from the 
elevation requirements in AE Zones only, provided the following conditions are met: 

      (1)   The building is constructed of flood-resistant materials below the design flood 
elevation. 

      (2)   Exterior perimeter walls are provided with openings to relieve hydrostatic 
pressure and the interior is not partitioned or finished into separate rooms. 

      (3)   Electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, air conditioning, and other service 
facilities are prohibited, except for essential lighting and power circuits. Flood elevation 
certificates may be required to determine the elevation of electric or other utility services 
provided to the accessory structure. Service facilities such as electrical and heating 
equipment shall be elevated or floodproofed to DFE. 

      (4)   Accessory structures shall be constructed and placed on the building site so as to 
offer the minimum resistance to the flow of floodwaters. Accessory structures shall be 
firmly anchored to prevent flotation which may result in damage to other structures. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

23 

 

      (5)   The building is used only for parking of vehicles and/or limited storage of 
equipment used to service the principal building. 

   (J)   Manufactured home additional specification standards. 

      (1)   Permits shall be obtained for placement of manufactured homes or temporary 
construction trailers. 

      (2)   All manufactured homes permitted to be placed shall be installed using methods 
and practices which minimize flood damage, which include but are not limited to elevating 
the lowest floor of the manufactured home on a permanent foundation, as defined herein as 
a MANUFACTURED HOME PERMANENT FOUNDATION, to or above the design flood 
elevation in A or AE zones only. 

         (a)   For the purposes of this requirement, manufactured homes must be elevated and 
anchored to resist flotation, collapse, or lateral movement. 

         (b)   Methods of anchoring may include, but are not limited to, use of over-the-top or 
frame ties to ground anchors. 

         (c)   This requirement is in addition to applicable state and local anchoring 
requirements for resisting wind forces. 

         (d)   Designs for manufactured home permanent foundations are subject to approval of 
the Building Official. 

   (K)   Recreational vehicles additional specific standards. All recreational vehicles, other 
than those parked at another permanent structure temporarily while not in use, place or 
sited within special flood hazard areas must: 

      (1)   Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive calendar days, and 

      (2)   Be fully registered and ready for highway use. A recreational vehicle is ready for 
highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick 
disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has no permanently attached additions. 

      (3)   If the vehicle is to remain in an A or AE zone, it must be elevated in accordance with 
requirements for manufactured homes as provided in § 151.41. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2018-12, passed 10-18-2018; Ord. 2020-11, passed 
12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.41 SPECIFIC STANDARDS IN ADDITION TO GENERAL STANDARDS FOR 
UNNUMBERED A ZONES, AE ZONES. 

   (A)   (1)   All new construction and substantial improvements of residential structures 
shall be elevated so that the top of the lowest floor level (including basement) is elevated to 
or above the design flood elevation. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

24 

 

      (2)   All new construction and substantial improvements of non-residential structures 
within Zone AE on the community FIRM may be floodproofed below DFE if they are 
designed so that below the design flood elevation the structure is watertight with walls 
substantially impermeable to the passage of water and with structural components having 
the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loads and effects of buoyancy 
including attendant utilities and sanitary facilities. 

      (3)   Where a non-residential structure is intended to be made watertight below the 
base flood level: 

         (a)   A registered professional engineer or architect licensed in the state shall develop 
and/or review structural design, specifications, and plans for the construction, and shall 
certify that the design and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted 
standards of practice for meeting the applicable provisions of this chapter, including but 
not limited to Floodproofing Non-Residential Buildings (FEMA P-936) as published by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency incorporated herein by reference; and 

         (b)   A record of such certificates which includes the specific elevation (in relation to 
mean sea level) to which such structures are flood proofed shall be maintained with the 
Building Official. 

      (4)   Enclosed areas below the design flood elevation, including foundation crawl space 
areas, shall be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic and hydrodynamic flood 
forces on exterior walls by allowing for the entry and exit of floodwaters. Designs for 
meeting this requirement must either be certified by a registered professional engineer or 
architect licensed in the state or meet or exceed the following minimum criteria: 

         (a)   A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square 
inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided. 

         (b)   The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade. 

         (c)   Only the portions of openings that are below the base flood elevation (BFE) can be 
counted towards the required net open area. 

         (d)   Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or other coverings or 
devices provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of flood waters. 

         (e)   The area of the opening is the net clear opening calculated as the open area 
(excluding area of screening or other coverings that prohibit the free flow of water through 
the opening). 

         (f)   Fill placed around foundation walls must be grated so that the grade inside the 
enclosed area is equal to or higher than the adjacent grade outside the building on at least 
one side of the building. 

      (5)   In special flood hazard areas without base flood elevation data, new construction or 
substantial improvements of structures shall be elevated to at least two feet above the 
anticipated flood elevation during a base flood, as determined through an engineering 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

25 

 

analysis meeting the Federal Emergency Management Agency guidelines for flood 
insurance studies with the floodway to be established with no more than one-half foot rise. 

   (B)   Specific standards in addition to general standards for VE and Coastal A zones. VE 
zones and Coastal A zones are areas designated as coastal high hazard areas. These areas 
have special flood hazards associated with wave wash, and therefore, the following 
provisions shall apply: 

      (1)   All new construction and buildings that are substantially damaged or improved 
within VE and Coastal A zones are to be located landward of the reach of mean high tide. 

      (2)   Provide that all new construction and substantial improvements in zone VE and 
Coastal A Zone, on the Charleston County FIRM, are elevated on pilings or columns so that: 

         (a)   The bottom of the lowest horizontal structural member of the lowest floor 
(excluding the pilings or columns) is elevated to or above the design flood elevation; and 

         (b)   The pile or column foundation and structure attached thereto is anchored to 
resist flotation, collapse and lateral movement due to the effects of wind and water loads 
acting simultaneously on all building components. Water loading values used shall be those 
associated with the base flood. Wind loading values used shall be those required by the 
International Building Code or International Residential Code as adopted and periodically 
amended by the state. 

         (c)   A registered professional engineer or architect licensed in the state shall develop 
and/or review the structural design, specifications and plans for construction, and shall 
certify that the design and methods of construction are in accordance with accepted 
standards of practice for meeting the applicable provisions. 

      (3)   New construction and substantial improvements shall have the space below the 
lowest floor either free of obstruction or constructed with non-supporting breakaway 
walls, open wood latticework, or insect screening intended to collapse under wind and 
water loads without causing collapse, displacement, or other structural damage to the 
elevated portion of the building or supporting foundation system. A breakaway wall shall 
be permitted only if a registered professional engineer or architect licensed in the state 
certifies that the designs proposed meet the following conditions: 

         (a)   Breakaway wall collapse shall result from a water load less than that which would 
occur during the base flood; and 

         (b)   The elevated portion of the building and supporting foundations system shall not 
be subject to collapse, displacement, or other structural damage due to the effects of wind 
and water loads acting simultaneously on all building components (structural and non-
structural). Water loading values used shall be those associated with the base flood. Wind 
loading values used shall be those required by applicable state or local building standards. 

         (c)   Electrical, mechanical and plumbing system components are not to be mounted on 
or penetrate through walls that are designed to break away under flood loads. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

26 

 

      (4)   There shall be no fill used as structural support. Non-compacted fill may be used 
around the perimeter of a building for landscaping/aesthetic purposes provided the fill will 
wash out from storm surge, thereby rendering the building free of obstruction prior to 
generating excessive loading forces, ramping effects, or wave deflection. The Building 
Official shall approve design plans for landscaping/aesthetic fill only after the applicant has 
provided an analysis by an engineer, architect, and/or soil scientist licensed in the state 
which demonstrates that the following factors have been fully considered: 

         (a)   Particle composition of fill material does not have a tendency for excessive natural 
compaction; 

         (b)   Volume and distribution of fill will not cause wave deflection to adjacent 
properties; and 

         (c)   Slope of fill will not cause wave run-up or ramping. 

      (5)   Man-made alteration of sand dunes and mangrove stands within zone VE and 
Coastal A Zones which would increase potential flood damage shall be prohibited. 

      (6)   Pre-construction and as-built design and breakaway wall certifications, where 
applicable, shall be provided by registered professional engineers and/or architects 
licensed in the state for new and substantially improved structures in VE and Coastal A 
flood zones on the Charleston County FIRM. These certificates shall also be provided for all 
lateral additions to structures in the VE and Coastal A flood zones. 

      (7)   Enclosed areas below the lowest floor shall be the minimum necessary to allow for 
parking of vehicles, limited storage, and access to the primary occupancy. 

      (8)   Walls intended to break away under flood loads as specified shall have flood 
openings that meet the criteria in the general standards section for enclosed space below 
design flood elevation. 

      (9)   Appurtenant features, defined as swimming pools, decks, gazebos, fences, and other 
features as determined by the Building Official as potentially causing an obstruction in the 
coastal high hazard area, must comply with the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) Technical Bulletin 5, Free of Obstruction Requirements, or any revisions thereto, 
incorporated herein by reference. 

      (10)   Any and all other obstructions located in the VE Zone shall meet all applicable 
requirements of this chapter. 

   (C)   Manufactured home and recreational vehicles additional specification standards in 
VE and Coastal A Zones. 

      (1)   New or replacement manufactured homes (e.g., those designed to meet HUD 
standards) shall not be placed within property located in VE and Coastal A Zones. 

      (2)   Existing manufactured homes in VE and Coastal A Zones may be permitted to 
remain as long as the structure complies with minimum health and safety standards and is 
anchored to resist flotation, collapse, lateral movement or debris impacts. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

27 

 

      (3)   The placement of a permanent recreational vehicle is prohibited in VE and Coastal 
A Zones. 

   (D)   In Coastal A Zones, stem wall foundations supporting a floor system above and 
backfilled with soil or gravel to the underside of the floor system shall be permitted 
provided that the foundations are designed to account for wave action, debris impact, 
erosion and local scour. Where soils are susceptible to erosion and local scour, stem wall 
foundations shall have deep footings to account for the loss of soil. Stem walls are to be 
limited to a height of two feet above existing grade. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.42 STANDARDS FOR REGULATORY FLOODWAYS. 

   Areas of special flood hazard established as regulatory floodways in the Charleston 
County Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) and/or the Charleston County Flood Insurance 
Study, are the Charleston County designated floodways. Since the floodway is an extremely 
hazardous area due to the velocity of flood waters which carry debris, potential projectiles 
and has erosion potential, the following provisions shall apply: 

   (A)   Prohibition of encroachments, including fill, new construction, substantial 
improvements and other development within the adopted regulatory floodway unless it 
has been demonstrated through hydrologic and hydraulic analyses performed in 
accordance with standard engineering practice in accordance with the Charleston County 
Flood Insurance Study or as otherwise deemed appropriate by FEMA or the Building 
Official, certified by a state licensed engineer, that the proposed encroachment would not 
result in any increase in flood levels within the community during the occurrence of the 
base flood discharges. 

   (B)   (1)   Encroachments may be permitted within the adopted regulatory floodway that 
would result in an increase in base flood elevations, provided that the town first applies for 
a conditional FIRM and floodway revision, fulfills the requirements for such revisions as 
established under the provisions of § 65.12 of 44 CFR and receives the approval of the 
federal insurance administrator.’ 

      (2)   (a)   Standards for streams with established base flood elevations but without 
floodways along rivers and streams where base flood elevation data is provided but no 
floodway is identified for a Special Flood Area on the FIRM or in the FIS. The following 
provisions apply within such areas: 

         (b)   No encroachments, including fill material, new construction, or substantial 
improvement shall be permitted unless certification with supporting technical data by a 
registered professional engineer is provided demonstrating that the cumulative effect of 
the proposed development, when combined with all other existing and anticipated 
development, will not increase the water surface elevation of the base flood at any point. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

28 

 

   (C)   The area chosen for the regulatory floodway must be designed to carry the waters of 
the base flood, without increasing the water surface elevation of that flood more than one-
half foot at any point. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

§ 151.43 STANDARDS FOR SUBDIVISION PROPOSALS AND OTHER DEVELOPMENT. 

   Standards for subdivision proposals shall meet or exceed the following minimum criteria: 

   (A)   All subdivision proposals shall be consistent with the need to minimize flood 
damage; 

   (B)   All subdivision proposals shall have public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, 
electrical and water systems located and constructed to minimize flood damage; 

   (C)   All subdivision proposals shall have adequate drainage provided to reduce exposure 
to flood hazards, and; 

   (D)   Base flood elevation data shall be provided for all subdivision proposals (including 
manufactured home parks and subdivisions). 

   (E)   In all areas of special flood hazard where base flood elevation data is not available, 
the applicant shall provide a hydrologic and hydraulic engineering analysis that generates 
base flood elevations for all subdivision proposals and other proposed developments. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017; Ord. 2020-11, passed 12-17-2020) 

 

APPEALS AND VARIANCES 

 

§ 151.55 APPEAL AND VARIANCE PROCEDURE. 

   (A)   General. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations 
made by the Building Official relative to the application and interpretation of this chapter, 
the Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) shall be the designated board of officials appointed by 
the governing body, as established in Section 153.047 of the Zoning and Land Development 
Ordinance.The Charleston County Construction Board of Adjustment and Appeals as 
established by the County Council shall hear and decide appeals and requests for variance 
meeting the following provisions from the requirements of this chapter: 

      (1)   Public notice of all meeting of the Board shall be provided by at least electronic 
delivery to the news television stations, the newspaper of general circulation, the radio 
communication companies, and several individual town/jurisdictional distribution papers. 

      (1)   Decisions on which a variance or appeal is requested shall be those made by the 
Building Official or his designee. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

29 

 

      (2)   Requests for a hearing for a variance or appeal of a decision shall be in writing, and 
shall be received in the office of the Building Official within 30 calendar days of notice to 
the appellant of the decision. 

      (3)   The appellant shall be the owner of the property affected by the decision or his or 
her duly authorized representative. 

   (B)   This Board shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged there is an error in any 
requirement, decision, or determination made by the Building or the Planning and Zoning 
Official in the enforcement or administration of this chapter. 

   (C)   Any person aggrieved by the decision of this Board or any taxpayer may appeal such 
decision, as provided in § 6-29-8004-9-30 of the S.C. Code of Laws. 

   (D)   Variances may be issued for the repair or rehabilitation of historic structures upon a 
determination that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure’s 
continued designation as a historic structure and the variance is the minimum to preserve 
the historic character and design of the structure. 

   (E)   Variances may be issued for a new construction and substantial improvements and 
for other development necessary for the conduct of a functionally dependent use provided 
that requirements of this section are met and the structure or other development is 
protected by methods that minimize flood damages during the base flood and create no 
additional threats to public safety. 

   (F)   Variances may be issued to wet flood proof an expansion to an existing farm 
structure in accordance with Technical Bulletin 7, Wet Flood Proofing Requirements for 
Structures Located in Special Flood Hazard Areas in accordance with the National Flood 
Insurance Program available from the Federal Emergency Management Agency. The 
structure must meet all of the conditions and considerations for variances otherwise 
established within this chapter. In addition, the following standards shall apply: 

      (1)   Use of the structure must be limited to agricultural purposes such as pole frame 
buildings with open or closed sides used exclusively for the storage of farm machinery and 
equipment; steel grain bins and steel frame corn cribs; and general purpose barns for 
temporary feeding of livestock; 

      (2)   The expansion to an existing farm structure must be built or rebuilt, in the case of 
an existing building which is substantially damaged, with flood resistant materials for 
building elements below the base flood elevation; 

      (3)   The expansion to an existing farm structure must be adequately anchored to 
prevent flotation, collapse or lateral movement. All of the structure’s components must be 
capable of resisting specific flood-related forces including hydrostatic, buoyancy, 
hydrodynamic and debris impact forces; 

      (4)   The expansion to an existing farm structure shall meet the requirements for 
hydrostatic venting requirements of this chapter; 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

30 

 

      (5)   Electrical, mechanical or other utility equipment must be located at or above the 
design flood elevation, or must be maintained in a flood proofed enclosure complying with 
this chapter which is capable of resisting damage during flood conditions; 

      (6)   The expansion to an existing farm structure must comply with floodway 
encroachment provisions of this chapter; and 

      (7)   Major equipment or machinery must be protected from damage by flooding, which 
may include safely removing the contents of an expansion to an existing farm structure to a 
specified site out of the flood plain upon notification of potential flooding event. 

   (G)   In passing upon such applications, this Board shall consider all staff reports and 
technical evaluations, all relevant factors and all standards specified in other sections of 
this chapter, and: 

      (1)   The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others; 

      (2)   The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage; 

      (3)   The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the 
effect of such damage on the individual owner; 

      (4)   The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community; 

      (5)   The necessity of the facility to a waterfront location, in the case of a functionally 
dependent usage; 

      (6)   The availability of alternative locations, not subject to flooding or erosion damage, 
for the proposed use; 

      (7)   The conformance of the proposed use to the Town Comprehensive Plan and the 
Town of James Island Zoning and Land Development Regulations; 

      (8)   The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency 
vehicles; 

      (9)   The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise and sediment transport of the 
flood waters and the effects of wave action, if applicable, expected at the site during a base 
flood event; and 

      (10)   The costs of providing governmental services to the site during and after flood 
conditions, including maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, 
gas, electrical and water systems, and streets and bridges. 

   (H)   The Board may attach such reasonable conditions to the granting of variances as it 
deems necessary to further the purpose of this chapter. 

   (I)   Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood 
levels during the base flood discharge would result, nor shall a variance be based on 
financial hardship alone; nor solely due to existing or as-built elevation deficiencies that 
will cause extreme hardship. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

31 

 

   (J)   Conditions for variances. 

      (1)   Variances shall be issued only on a determination that the variance is the minimum 
necessary needed to afford relief considering the flood hazard; and in the instance of an 
historical building, a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary so as not to 
destroy the historic character and design of the building; 

      (2)   Variances shall be issued only upon: 

         (a)   A showing of good and sufficient cause; 

         (b)   A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional 
hardship; and 

         (c)   A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood 
heights, additional threats to public safety, extraordinary public expense, creation of a 
nuisance, fraud on or victimization of the public, or conflict with other existing laws or 
ordinances. 

      (3)   Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice 
specifying the differences between the base flood elevation and the elevation of which the 
building is to be built and a statement that the cost of flood insurance will be 
commensurate with the increased risk resulting from the reduced lowest floor elevation. 

      (4)   The Building Official shall maintain the records of all appeal actions and report any 
variances granted to the Federal Emergency Management Agency upon request. 

      (5)   Variances may not be issued when the variance will make the structure in violation 
of other federal, state or local laws, regulations or ordinances. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

COMPLIANCE FOR PROPOSED REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS 

 

§ 151.70 PROVISION FOR INSPECTIONS. 

   (A)   For the purpose of establishing pre-existing conditions which may not be in 
compliance with the Town of James Island Flood Damage Prevention and Protection 
Ordinance, it is hereby established that the Building Official or designee Building Services 
Department is authorized to conduct inspections of existing structures at the request or 
with the consent of the owner of the structure or his agent for compliance with the Town of 
James Island Flood Damage Prevention and Protection Ordinance when requested for a 
proposed real estate transaction or insurance policy issue. 

   (B)   The Building Official may promulgate regulations for the implementation of this 
program, consistent with the intent hereof and with the terms of the remainder of Chapter 
151 of the Code of Ordinances of the Town of James Island. 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

32 

 

   (C)   These inspections are to be conducted at a convenient time for the property owner 
or his agent and during the normal operating hours of the Building Services Department. 

   (D)   Reports generated as a result of these inspections are to be considered public 
records and are to be maintained in the Office of the Building Official in accordance with 
the Town’s records retention schedule. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

NUISANCES 

 

§ 151.85 NUISANCES WITHIN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA. 

   (A)   Certain nuisances defined. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the 
Code of Ordinances, Town of James Island, the following activities occurring within a 
special flood hazard area constitute a danger to the health, safety, and welfare of the 
residents of the Town, are hereby defined as public nuisances and are prohibited within 
any special flood hazard area. 

      (1)   The manufacture, processing, blending, mixing or refining of the following products 
as defined in the International Fire Code as adopted by the Town of James Island: 

         (a)   Explosives; 

         (b)   Blasting agents; 

      (2)   Storage of the products listed in division (A)(1) above, except that the retail sale of 
packages products off-the-shelf at properly licensed and otherwise authorized retail sales 
outlets, is allowed. 

   (B)   Defense - prior use of property. It shall be a defense to prosecution pursuant to 
division (A) above if: 

      (1)   Property located within a special flood hazard zone was being used for a purpose 
defined as a nuisance in division (A)(1) above,  before August 3, 1971, has been 
continuously used for such purpose thereafter, and such use: 

         (a)   Was a permitted use pursuant to the county zoning ordinance as of August 
3,1971; or 

         (ab)   Constituted a lawful non-conforming use under the countyTown Zoning and 
Land Development Regulations Ordinance’s zoning ordinance on August 3,1971; and 

      (2)   Property which becomes located within a special flood hazard area as the result of 
an amendment to the county’s FIRM was being used for a purpose defined as a nuisance in 
division (A)(1) above, before the effective date of the amended FIRM, has been 
continuously used for such purpose thereafter, and such use: 



Ordinance #2023-11 EXHIBIT A 

33 

 

         (a)   Was a permitted use pursuant to the Town Zoning and Land Development 
Regulations Ordinance ’s zoning ordinance as of the effective date of the FIRM; or 

         (b)   Constituted a lawful non-conforming use under the town’s zoning ordinanceTown 
Zoning and Land Development Regulations Ordinance on the effective date of the FIRM. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 

 

§ 151.99 PENALTY. 

   (A)   Criminal penalties. Violation of the provisions of this chapter or failure to comply 
with any of its requirements, including violation of conditions and safeguards established 
in connection with grants of variance or special exceptions, shall constitute a misdemeanor. 
Any person who violates this chapter or fails to comply with any of its requirements shall, 
upon conviction thereof, be fined not more than $500 or imprisoned for not more than 30 
days, or both, and in addition, shall pay all costs and expenses involved in the case. Each 
day such violation continues shall be considered a separate offense. Nothing herein 
contained shall prevent the town from taking such other lawful actions as are necessary to 
prevent or remedy any violation. 

   (B)   Civil remedies. In addition to any other criminal or civil remedies that may be 
available to the town, the town may seek and obtain an injunction against the owner or 
owner's representative with control over the property in accordance with applicable laws 
and procedures. 

(Ord. 2016-14, passed 1-19-2017) 


	December 21 TC Agenda
	James Island Mayor and Town Council letter.heidihartwig
	Proclamation Garrett Milliken
	Summary of Ordinance Amendments 2023
	TC November 16 2023 Minutes
	Town Meeting Schedule 2024
	Town Holiday Schedule 2024
	Copy of Budget Report November 2023-24
	Nov 2023 TA Report
	OMNIA Proposal #25-SC-231046 - Town of James Island - Art Center
	Change Order No 1 - TH Add Services
	Proclamation Interfaith Harmony Month
	Poet Laureate
	RESOLUTION 2023-11 Committees of Council
	2023 Council Committee Priority Results
	2023 Council Committees
	Summary of Ordinance Amendments 2023
	Ordinance 2023-09 (Building, Flood BZA)
	Building Ordinance for TC 122123 final Ordinance 2023-10 Exhibit A
	CH 151 FP Managment Ord Amendments 2024
	CH 151 FP Managment Ord Amendments 2024
	Flood Ordinance for TC122123 final Ordinance 2023-11 Exhibit A

